


P I R S A  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 0 7 - 0 8 2

©Primary Industries and Resources South Australia (PIRSA) 2008
This work is copyright.  Apart from any use as permitted under the Copyright  Act 1968 (Cwlth), no part may be 
reproduced by any process without prior written permission from Primary Industries and Resources SA. Requests 
and inquiries concerning reproduction and rights should be addressed to the General Manager, Communications 
and Marketing, PIRSA, GPO Box 1671, Adelaide SA 5001.

The information in this publication can be provided in an alternative format or another
language on request. Please contact David Primer on (08) 8226 0539.

Distribution
This report is available online at this website www.pir.sa.gov.au.

Comments about this report are welcome and should be directed to:

Communications Offi cer, Communications and Marketing
PIRSA
Level 17, 25 Grenfell St, Adelaide
GPO Box 1671, Adelaide SA 5001
Phone National  (08) 8226 0539
 International +61 8 8226 0539

Fax National  (08) 8226 0027
 International +61 8 8226 0027

Email primer.david@saugov.sa.gov.au  

ISSN 0 7590 1386 1 (Online)
Compiled by Communications and Marketing, PIRSA



P I R S A  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 0 7 - 0 8 3

Hon. Rory McEwen MP
Minister for Agriculture Food and Fisheries
Minister for Forests
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Dear Ministers,
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Chief Executive’s Overview
Fostering sustainable and internationally competitive industries to achieve targets in South Australia’s Strategic Plan 
remains the focus for the Department of Primary Industries and Resources SA (PIRSA).

PIRSA played an important role in one of the biggest emergency responses efforts seen in many years with the 
outbreak of equine infl uenza in Queensland and New South Wales.

The major incident brought together a number of PIRSA divisions and was a major demonstration of the State’s 
preparedness and ability to mobilise.

That South  Australia remained free of the disease is a testament to our commitment to training and preparing staff 
for emergencies such as this.

Biosecurity and the need to keep South Australia free of pests and diseases is a role that PIRSA takes very seriously 
and is critical to achieving the SA Strategic Plan export targets for food.

Continuing drought and historic low infl ows to the Murray Darling Basin have had a huge impact on food and wine 
production across the state.

PIRSA has lead the government’s drought initiatives for farming communities with assistance with business planning, 
fi nancial assistance and support for regional communities.

The agency has also played a very active role in coordinating action across government to help those primary 
producers who depend on the River Murray for irrigating crops.

A number of divisions within the agency are collaborating on drought efforts from SARDI’s leading edge research 
into improved water use, to Rural Solutions SA’s provision of risk management and business planning and the 
Corporate division’s involvement with administration of fi nancial support.

Our focus on drought and water management issues saw the establishment of the Riverland Response Centre in 
Berri to further enhance drought response services in the Riverland.

A similar facility was set up in Murray Bridge in February with sponsorship support from PIRSA, to service the 
Murraylands community.

Whilst these challenging issues tested our resources in 2007/08, results of PIRSA’s mineral exploration strategy, 
known as PACE, have greatly exceeded the SA Strategic Plan targets.

In the year to June 2008, mineral exploration expenditure reached a record level of $355.2 million, well in excess of 
the $100 million target. 

Geothermal projects have enormous potential to provide long-term sustainable base-load energy for the State.

During the fi nancial year, 25 companies applied for 249 Geothermal Exploration Licences, capturing the lion’s share 
of national investment in geothermal energy.

Economic development remains the key focus for PIRSA.

A Commercial Forestry Development Plan  Amendment for the Mount Lofty Ranges was prepared during the year, 
enhancing the development of plantation forestry.

Following a major review of the planning system, Planning SA commenced implementation of the most 
comprehensive suite of planning reforms ever seen in South Australia, providing the state with the most competitive 
and effi cient planning system in Australia.
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Facilitating major developments is the focus of the newly merged Commercial Investment division and its focus 
spans the whole breadth of industry across PIRSA, from livestock production facilities, water projects to new mining 
projects.

Widely recognised as the leading jurisdiction in Australia for investment in aquaculture, South Australia continues 
to gain signifi cant opportunities to build exports.  An historic agreement between the State Government, Marine 
Finfi sh Farmers Association and European chefs association, Euro-toques International, was reached during the year, 
providing opportunities to showcase South Australian seafood products and increase export sales into the lucrative 
European market.

Tougher penalties for fi sheries offences is one of the major changes that will fl ow on from proclamation of the 
Fisheries Management Act 2007. The co-management approach continues under this Act with the establishment of a 
Fisheries Council to provide strategic advice to the Minister on the management of fi sheries, across the State, 
spanning commercial, recreational and Aboriginal traditional fi shing.

Increasing voter turnout at local elections is a task which the Offi ce of State/Local Government Relations is putting 
signifi cant effort into. During the year the Offi ce completed a wide-ranging independent review of Local 
Government elections in an effort to meet the Strategic Plan target.

PIRSA aims to be an employer of choice within our industry segments extending our existing range of innovative 
approaches. During the year we have established an  Aboriginal Reconciliation Reference Group to increase cultural 
awareness and help make PIRSA an employer of choice for Indigenous Australians. 

I am excited at the challenges that confront us and the opportunities for continued success that lie ahead in 
2008-09.

PIRSA continues to work closely with its industry partners and stakeholders to provide South Australians with 
internationally competitive and environmentally sustainable industries now and into the future.

Geoff Knight
Chief Executive
Primary Industries and Resources SA
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Organisation Chart
At 30 June 2008
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Highlights
PIRSA highlights for 2007-08 are provided below.

AGRICULTURE, FOOD AND WINE
• Continued to coordinate the whole-of-government drought-response program,

• Established the Riverland Response Centre in Berri to further integrate the delivery of drought-response 
 services in the Riverland and contributed to the establishment of a similar centre in Murray Bridge,

• Contributed to the successful eradication of equine infl uenza (EI) from Australia by mounting a major 
 emergency response-campaign to establish the absence of EI in SA and then maintaining measures to keep 
 EI from gaining access,

• Managed Exercise Stuffed Goose, a multi-agency emergency response and recovery exercise located at the
 Monarto Zoo, Murray Bridge and Mt Barker.  More than 60 PIRSA staff and more than 590 people from other
 agencies, Local Government and the community participated in the week-long exercise,

• Successfully eradicated an outbreak of Mediterranean fruit fl y in Ceduna and mounted a continuing response
 to an extended outbreak at Daw Park,

• Completed the integration of Food SA into the Agriculture and Wine Division to develop the Agriculture, 
 Food and Wine Division,

• Commenced implementation of the South Australian Food Plan 2007-2010 pillars of market development,
 industry and business capability development, innovation and product development,

• Together with the Department of Trade & Economic Development, the Centre for Innovation and TAFE, 
 established the South Australian Food Centre at the Regency International Centre, Regency TAFE, 

• Conducted the PIRSA-led multi-agency Riverland Futures project. The project, which has strong links to 
 SA’s Murray Futures project, developed an agreed long-term vision for the Riverland and commenced a review
 of current policies to support the vision,

• Promulgated the Genetically Modifi ed Crops Management Regulations 2008, which extend the prohibition on
 the cultivation of genetically modifi ed food crops in SA, and

• Received a $7 million red tape reduction dividend for its part in liberalising trade measurement regulations 
 in line with the World Wine Trade Group’s Agreement on Requirements for Wine Labelling. The wine industry
 estimates that the move will save the South Australian sector about $14 million a year. 

AQUACULTURE
• Commenced an amendment Bill proposing improvements to the Aquaculture Act 2001,

• Completed Aquaculture Zone policies for Coffi n Bay, Anxious Bay, Smoky Bay and an amendment for 
 Lower Eyre,

• Commenced scientifi c investigation and research into the development of new Aquaculture Zones,

• Developed a program to address aquaculture-associated biosecurity risks,

• Designed a licensing framework for ornamental fi sh breeders and wholesalers, and

• Signed an agreement between the South Australian Government, Marine Finfi sh Farmers Association and
 Euro-toques International (association of European chefs), providing an opportunity to showcase South 
 Australian products and increase export sales to Europe.

COMMERCIAL INVESTMENT
The Commercial Projects and Industry Development & Ministerial Liaison Divisions merged on 1 January 2008 to form the 
Commercial Investment Division. 
• Assisted completion of Edinburgh Park’s poultry processing facility and hatchery and assisted site selection for
 a new feed mill,
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• Facilitated numerous drought response measures including emergency dredging,

• Supported a proposed Far West Coast mineral sand mine through the identifi cation of transport linkages to
 the proposed mine,

• Facilitated the start of upgrade works of the Eyre Peninsula Grain Export Rail Infrastructure,

• Facilitated formation of the Wine Innovation Cluster to boost the competitiveness and sustainability of the
 Australian wine industry, and

• Facilitated formation of the SA Natural Resource Management Alliance to maximise the accessibility and value
 of NRM knowledge and research.

COMMERCIAL PROJECTS
• Supported arrangements to secure temporary alternative slaughtering facilities and meat value-adding 
 following the Primo Abattoir fi re.

INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT & MINISTERIAL LIAISON
• Provided case-management support to the increased capacity $1.5 billion Penola Pulp Mill project through
 development of the Penola Pulp Mill Authorisation Act 2007.

FISHERIES
• Proclaimed the Fisheries Management Act 2007, 

• Established the new Fisheries Council,

• Proclaimed the new Coobowie Bay Aquatic Reserve, 

• Attained quality certifi cation to AS/NZS 9001:2000 Quality Management Systems requirements for the entire
 PIRSA Fisheries Division, 

• Installed Marine Innovation South Australia’s programs on seafood quality and value-adding, and biosecurity to
 deal with invasive species and fi sh diseases, 

• Implemented a new prosecution management system (E-Brief),

• Implemented mobile computing technology for Fisheries Offi cers in South Australia, facilitating access to
 PIIMS, E-Brief data, maps and global positioning system (GPS) functionality, 

• Built programs to include compliance measures listed in Fishery Management Plans, 

• Completed a review of the Fisheries Offi cer Special Determination to better refl ect business and staffi ng needs,

• Implemented quota management arrangements for the Goolwa pipi fi shery, 

• Integrated video surveillance and electronic scale technology into the compliance program for the Southern
 Zone Rock Lobster Fishery,

• Continued with implementation of the national system for the management of introduced marine pests, and

• Maintained an effective control program for Caulerpa taxifolia in the Port River. 

PIRSA FORESTRY
• Commenced implementation of the State Forest Industry Strategy,

• Increased the level of investment in forestry through implementation of the Forest Property Act 2000 
 Amendments,

• Prepared the Commercial Forestry Development Plan Amendment for the Mount Lofty Ranges to support the
 development of plantation forestry,

• Produced a new edition of Forestry Matters!, a major educational resource for schools and the community,

• Managed Community Service Obligation programs, including forest research, the management of native 
 vegetation, and visitors to the state’s forest reserves, and

• More than 21,000 hours were contributed by volunteers and community program participants to improve the
 biodiversity and heritage values of the state’s forest reserves.
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MINERALS AND ENERGY
Minerals
In the 12 months to March 2008, exploration expenditure by mining companies in SA reached a record high of $344.1 million, 
up from $233.2 million the previous year - a 48% increase.

SA’s share of national mineral exploration expenditure increased by more than 2% to 15.4%.

Based on combined minerals and petroleum exploration fi gures for the year to March 2008, SA is second with $549.7 million 
and Queensland third with $514.8 million.

The Fraser Institute of Canada 2007-08 survey of mining companies shows SA has continued to perform very well in the 
Mineral Potential Index, maintaining fourth place in an expanded survey of 68 companies. SA is the only Australian state in the 
top 10 in this category and is the national leader in another seven categories.

• Coordinated the public consultation, whole-of-government technical assessment and fi nal conditions for fi ve new
 mining lease approvals, including Iluka Resources’ Jacinth/Ambrosia heavy minerals mine, Polymetals/Exco 
 Resources’ White Dam gold mine, IMX Resources’ Cairn Hill iron/copper/gold mine, Western Plains Minerals’
 Peculiar Knob iron ore mine and Uranium One’s Honeymoon uranium mine. These new mining developments
 are expected to represent a capital expenditure investment of approximately $1 billion,

• Ongoing involvement with the assessment of BHP Billiton’s Olympic Dam expansion, 

• Approved a record 349 mineral exploration work programs in 2007, including the approval of a record 1,080,877
 drilling metres,

• The Plan for Accelerating Exploration (PACE) initiative received the inaugural Premier’s Award for Growing 
 Prospectivity,

• Managed 964 mineral exploration licences in 2007-08 (more than 50% increase on the previous year), 
 representing a total coverage of 498,431sq km of the state. The PACE initiative, in particular the collaborative
 drilling project, has been a major driver in achieving this result. Over the fi ve rounds 337 proposals were 
 received and 168 shared in omore than $10 million in PACE funding. The Northern Olympic Domain Gravity
 Survey was completed. This was the largest regional gravity survey conducted in SA in over 40 years in regional
 geophysics covering 20,000 km2,

• The PACE-funded Centre for Mineral Exploration Under Cover at the University of Adelaide is now operational.
 The centre aims to develop new methodologies to explore for economic mineral deposits and address the skills
 shortage in the mining industry, 

• PIRSA is also actively involved in the Resources and Engineering Skills Alliance and the Resources Infrastructure
 Council, and

• Approved 10 exploration licences for negotiation by the Anangu Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara (APY) Executive in
 2007, taking the number of exploration licence from three to 13 and companies operating in the APY Lands from
 two to fi ve.

Petroleum and Geothermal
• Facilitated SA’s comparative advantages in hot rock geothermal resources and attracted 25 companies to apply
 for 249 geothermal exploration licences (GELs) with work programs in the term 2002-12 worth more than   
 $695 million,  

• Provided a $250,000 grant to the University of Adelaide to foster the creation of a national hub for geothermal
 research tied to industry grants,

• Regulated and accelerated the amount of company exploration activity by new explorers in SA’s Cooper Basin. 
 From January 2002 through to the end of June 2008 has included 160 wells, with 47% technical success rate and
 42% commercial success rate. In the same period, the Santos joint venture drilled 294 new wells in petroleum
 production licences, with commercial success rates of 49% for exploration and 92% for appraisal and 
 development. In the same period, 22 deep geothermal and six shallow reach wells were drilled,
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• Promoted SA petroleum and geothermal opportunities nationally and internationally. Held discussions with major
 investment houses in the US in January 2008 for investment opportunities in geothermal industry,

• Approved circulation testing of Geodynamic’s Habanero geothermal fi eld, as a precedent to being the fi rst 
 Australian company to move into the demonstration phase of electricity generation from hot rock resources,

• Approved seismic exploration in the frontier Offi cer and Arckaringa basins, following successful Indigenous 
 negotiations in land access agreements, and

• Approved construction of Santos’s Jackson to Moomba oil pipeline and Epic Energy’s Ballera to Moomba gas 
 pipeline.

PLANNING SA
• Expanded metropolitan Adelaide’s urban boundary in response to the need for more land to accommodate 
 population growth, and updated two volumes of the State Government’s Planning Strategy to refl ect the new
 urban boundary,

• Completed the Yorke Peninsula Regional Land Use Framework and progressed collaborative development of
 frameworks for the Far North, Mid-North, Murray and Mallee, and Kangaroo Island,

• Completed a new Greater Mount Gambier Master Plan and commenced development of Master Plans for
  Whyalla, Port Augusta and Port Pirie,

• Implemented legislative reforms passed by Parliament during 2006-07 to improve development application and
 assessment and rezoning processes,

• Published updated population projections for the state and its various statistical regions,

• Developed innovative online tools/products to assist planning, including the Ageing Atlas; Population Projections
 Enquiry System; SA’s Heritage Places Database; Bushfi re Risk Search Tool; and 2007 Retail Database,

• Finalised three Ministerial Development Plan Amendments, including updated bushfi re mapping for the Mount
 Lofty Ranges region, and progressed seven others,

• Continued ongoing conversion of Development Plans to the simpler, clearer Better Development Plans format,

• Assisted the State Planning and Development Review and commenced implementation of the State Government’s
 Response to the Review (Planning Reform 2008 package), and

• Issued the Draft SA Residential Development Code for consultation and testing.

RURAL SOLUTIONS SA
• Continued to provide environmental management services to pastoralists in conjunction with Curtin University, 
 WA, to improve rangeland sustainability,

• Played a major role in the delivery of business plans in the Planning for Recovery drought program and provided
 high level policy and program management capabilities,

• Provided technical expertise to the Department of Water, Land and Biosecurity Conservation (DWLBC), Natural
 Resource Management Boards and other government and commercial customers in aspects of natural resource
 management,

• Increased capacity to deliver Indigenous organisational governance programs, primarily for Indigenous Business
  Australia,

• Secured international farming systems and market chain development projects in Eritrea, India, Indonesia and West
  Timor, and

• Increased capability to respond to climate change requirements.

SARDI
• Developed a computer-based mathematical model that will help maintain a low risk of contamination by specifi c
 strains of E. coli in beef trim,

• Identifi ed the impacts of warming trends on the maturity of major grape varieties to assist the viticulture industry
 to adapt,
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• Further developed resources for the Marine Innovation SA initiative, expanding scientifi c capabilities in eight 
 designated disciplines across educational and research sectors,

•  Deployed components of the $6.4 million Southern Australian Integrated Marine Observing System to provide
  insights into the linkages between climate, ocean currents and ecosystems underpinning fi sheries, 

• Completed research and development to support a ‘proof of concept’ evaluation of semi-intensive saline 
 aquaculture production systems in the Riverland - establishing the potential for the culture of mulloway and its
 strong consumer acceptance,

•  Released new products in license arrangements with commercial entities. The products are:

 • Angel medic, which will help revitalise pasture production after cropping,

 • A SARDI fan to spray crops more effectively and effi ciently,

 • A User-friendly spray drift and evaluation kit aimed at reducing environmental impacts while improving spray, 

 • Lentil varieties – Nipper red lentil and Boomer green lentil, and

 • Oat varieties - Tungoo, a medium-to-late season oaten hay and Yallara, an oat milling variety,

• Established international research trials to develop effective options to minimise the negative economic and social
 impacts of exotic pathogens on the viticulture industry, through the new Cooperative Research Centre for 
 National Plant Biosecurity, and

• Delivered a comprehensive surveillance and spatial risk assessment program for the management of the aquatic
 invasive species, Caulerpa taxifolia.

OFFICE FOR STATE/LOCAL GOVERNMENT RELATIONS
• Completed the wide-ranging independent review of Local Government elections, which included 
 recommendations to increase voter turnout to 50% or more by 2014, and improve local government 
 representation and the election process,

• Progressed measures to strengthen the framework for independent external audit of the fi nancial management
 and governance of Local Government,

• Reviewed the role and governance arrangements of the Outback Areas Community Development Trust,

• Supported the Minister for State/Local Government Relations in negotiating a long-term funding agreement worth
 $35 million over nine years with the Local Government Association for the installation of new community 
 wastewater management systems in SA,

• Progressed major infrastructure issues considered by the Minister’s Local Government Forum. The State 
 Government and the Local Government Association (LGA) succeeded in a bid for $20 million of Commonwealth
 funds for upgrading community waste management systems,

• Supported the formation of a working group for women in Local Government to examine issues and to identify
 strategies and projects to improve women’s participation, both as elected members and senior managers, and

• Developed a community engagement showcase and handbook for use by councils across SA.  

OFFICE FOR SOUTHERN SUBURBS
• Provided advice and assistance to the Southern Adelaide Economic Development Board  regarding the board’s
 strategic framework,

• Provided advice and fi nancial support to the Medical Devices Partnering Program (led by Flinders University),

• Continued to foster working links with the Centre for Innovation’s Southern node, including sponsorship of an
 Innovation Forum and case-based activities, and

• Established and provided strategic direction to the Southern Suburbs Co-ordination Group.
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AGENCY SUPPORT
• Finalised preparation for the smooth transition of accounts payable, accounts receivable and payroll services to the
 newly created Shared Services SA,

• Undertook a series of Cross-Cultural Awareness training workshops for all Corporate staff to increase their 
 understanding of diversity in the workforce and community,

• Delivered strategic and coordinated communications responses to the equine infl uenza threat to South Australia
 and two fruit fl y outbreaks,

• Completed rate limiter analysis across the Agriculture, Food and Fisheries, and Forestry portfolios,

• Secured Professor Andrew Fearne as Adelaide Thinker in Residence,

• Established a web-based standard invoicing system that improves controls and processes for accounts receivable
 transactions,

• Partnered divisions in the development and implementation of Performance Management and Development 
 Action Plans, and

• Completed transition to new whole-of-government information and communication contracts for the transfer of
 CDMA mobile phones to NextG services and electronic messaging services to Telstra, 

GENERAL
PIRSA Executive continued to meet regularly in country regions, which provided opportunities to see the results of 
policies or projects and gain feedback from PIRSA staff, industry and community leaders, primary producers, local 
government bodies and other key stakeholders.
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The Year Ahead
Some important projects and challenges in 2008-09.

AGRICULTURE, FOOD AND WINE
• Implement the new national Ovine Johne’s Disease program to provide farmers with the appropriate biosecurity
 knowledge when buying new stock anywhere in Australia,

• Establish Food Safety Scheme regulations under the Primary Produce (Food Safety Schemes) Act 2004 for the egg
 and seed sprout industries,

• Work with the SA Wine Industry Council and the wine industry to undertake a review of Wine: A Partnership
 2005-2010,

• Commission the Wine Innovation Cluster to provide best practice research, development, extension and 
 education services for the wine industry,

• Develop a dairy industry adjustment program in response to continuing irrigation water shortages in the Murray
 River and Lower Lakes,

• Collaborate with Meat and Livestock Australia and Professor Andrew Fearne, Adelaide Thinker in Residence, to
 identify opportunities for the development of red meat value chains,

• Launch a regional promotion platform for SA food products with a locally based retailer,

• Host the World Food Exchange 2008, showcasing SA’s sustainable food and wine cultures to position the state as a
 culinary tourism destination,

• Develop regulations and implement new cost recovery and administrative arrangements under the proposed Plant
 Health Act 2008,

• Prepare a planning guide on buffers between agriculture and urban land for the use by developers and local 
 councils when preparing and assessing applications for planning approvals where there is potential for confl ict, and

• Develop and release an Action Plan for Workforce Development in the agri-food industry in collaboration with
 the Department of Further Education, Employment, Science and Technology, the Department of Trade and 
 Economic Development, Industry Skills Boards and industry sectors.

AQUACULTURE
• Complete Aquaculture Zone policies for Port Neill, Rivoli Bay, Fitzgerald Bay Amendment and Eastern Spencer
 Gulf Amendment,

• Finalise a program to address aquaculture-associated biosecurity risks,

• Design an implementation strategy for ornamental fi sh breeders and wholesalers,

• Continue scientifi c investigation and research into the development of new Aquaculture Zones, and

• Complete Amendment Bills proposing improvements to the Aquaculture Act 2001 and supporting regulations.

COMMERCIAL INVESTMENT
The Commercial Projects and Industry Development & Ministerial Liaison Divisions merged on 1 January 2008 to form the 
Commercial Investment Division. Targets for the new division follow.

• Facilitate the delivery of alternative irrigation water for Langhorne Creek and the Currency Creek wine region,

• Assist in the identifi cation of market opportunities for the development of Port Bonython to support mining
 exports,

• Case manage the $1.5 billion Penola Pulp Mill project through the fi nal stages required for the proponent to
 achieve fi nancial closure,

• Facilitate the expression of interest for the $2 billion Buckland Park residential development,

• Facilitate ongoing drought response measures including emergency dredging,
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• Complete the sector review of the Australian wine industry under the Primary Industries Research, Development
 and Extension Framework.

FISHERIES
• Completion of the South Australian Recreational Fishing Survey,

• Review export approvals for all major fi sheries under the Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation
  Act 1999 (Cwlth),

• Advance a co-management framework with major commercial fi shing industry groups,

• Review operations of fi sheries compliance services,

• Extend export approval for major commercial fi sheries under the EPBC Act 1999 (Cwlth),

• Develop the fi rst indigenous Fisheries Management Plan from a negotiated Indigenous Land Use Agreement
 (ILUA),

• Implement a demerit point system for all fi sheries, 

• Implement possession limits for selected recreational fi shing species, and

• Develop management plans in accordance with the timetable established by the Fisheries Council.

PIRSA FORESTRY
• Facilitate the forestry industry’s role in addressing climate change initiatives,  

• Develop a statistical economic scorecard for the forestry industry,

• Review Community Service Obligation arrangements with ForestrySA,

• Support workforce development initiatives, and

• Develop better forestry industry knowledge.

MINERALS AND ENERGY

Minerals
• Maintain exploration expenditure levels above SA’s Strategic Plan Target T1.17 of $100 million,

• Continue to increase SA’s share of national exploration expenditure to levels surpassed only by Western Australia,

• Continue to increase SA’s world ranking for mineral potential and maintain our position as a national leader,

• Grant additional exploration licences in the Anangu Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara (APY) Lands, and

• Facilitate at least two mining developments to achieve fi nal approvals and move into construction.

Petroleum and Geothermal
• Entice exploration investment to under-explored South Australian basins, particularly the Offi cer and Arckaringa
 basins,

• Maintain the lead in national geothermal exploration investment by:

 • Attracting, leading and facilitating Australia’s investment in geothermal energy exploration, proof-of-concept
  and demonstration projects,

 • Negotiating with Commonwealth agencies to lift funding contributions through the Renewable Energy 
  Development Initiative, Low Emission Technology Development Fund and other grant initiatives, and

 • Identifying opportunities to advance geothermal energy by forming national geothermal energy technical
  interest groups, 

• Provide best-practice regulation of the upstream petroleum and geothermal industries.
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PLANNING SA
Planning SA became a separate department in its own right on 1 July 2008 and is no longer part of PIRSA.

• Develop the legislative and regulatory changes required to achieve faster approvals for residential development, 
 including through the introduction of a new Residential Development Code,

• Develop detailed Regional Plans for all areas of the state, including targets for population and land supply for both
 housing and employment in each Region. The plans will include: 

 • A 30-year plan for Adelaide, covering the Greater Adelaide area, and

 • Five Regional Plans for country SA, including Master Plans for major regional cities and towns,

• Expand and update the Metropolitan Development Program to cover Greater Adelaide and include industrial as
 well as residential land,

• Make Development Plans more user-friendly by:

 • Further accelerating the take-up of the Better Development Plans process,

 • Further consolidating zones, reducing the number from 40 to about 25, and

 • Encouraging faster rezoning processes,

• Develop a new policy for signifi cant development, providing greater pathway certainty,

• Delegate further types of development assessment to the Development Assessment Commission,

• Establish a working group to examine extending energy and water effi ciency requirements in the Building Code, 
 and

• Establish Planning SA as a stand-alone State Government department.

RURAL SOLUTIONS SA
• Deliver a wide range of services to the fi eld crop, livestock, horticulture, fi sheries and aquaculture industries with
 the aim of improving the competitiveness of SA industry value chains on behalf of PIRSA and commercial 
 customers,

• Deliver a wide range of environmental management services, including revegetation; animal and plant control; soil, 
 land and water management; and rangeland assessment, in support of integrated environmental solutions on behalf
 of DWLBC and commercial customers, and

• Develop services supporting structural change in regional communities; social research and stakeholder 
 engagement; planning for communities, industries and businesses; training and change management. 

SARDI
• Optimise profi tability and productivity in the fi nished food sector by strengthening science capability to deliver
 technical solutions through the co-location of food nutrition and processing facilities at the SA Food Centre at
 Regency TAFE,

• Form an alliance between PIRSA, SARDI Aquatic Sciences and the Victorian Department of Primary Industries to
 maximise the performance and delivery aquatic sciences in both states,

• Advance research to assist the permanent horticulture industry to be more resilient in droughts, tracking the 
 success of current strategies that restore crops post-drought for future production,

• Maintain supplies of premium food products to export markets and domestic consumers through research aimed
 at improving crop and livestock industries and protecting them against pests and diseases, and

• Contribute to the Primary Industries Standing Committee National R&D Framework, which seeks to address the
 national focus on industries and capability by forming strategic alliances and centres of core competency.
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OFFICE FOR STATE/LOCAL GOVERNMENT RELATIONS
• Introduce legislation to establish a new governance framework for the Outback Areas Community Development
  Trust,

• Introduce reforms to strengthen the framework for Local Government fi nancial management, including the 
 introduction of legislation to set standards for Local Government audit,

• Introduce legislation to establish a new mechanism for setting the allowances of Local Government elected 
 members,

• Assess and implement, where appropriate, the recommendations of the independent review of Local Government
 elections, including the introduction of legislation to improve representation and the election process, and

• Continue to support improvements in Local Government fi nancial management planning, including the 
 requirement to develop long-term fi nancial plans, and infrastructure and asset management plans by November
 2008.

OFFICE FOR THE SOUTHERN SUBURBS
• Work with Local Government, the Southern Adelaide Economic Development Board and other State 
 Government agencies to develop, and assist in the implementation of regional strategies to address economic, 
 social, workforce and environmental priorities for Southern Adelaide, and

• Increase the capacity for such partnership working through strengthening and developing governance mechanisms, 
 e.g. the Southern Suburbs Co-ordination Group.

AGENCY SUPPORT
• Ensure services that have transitioned from PIRSA to Shared Services SA are working effectively and prepare for
 future transitions,

• Provide policy and economics advice to the Water Security Council and the Olympic Dam Task Force,

• Assist the Chief Executive and Corporate Executive to develop proposals that will meet the savings targets 
 announced in the 2008-09 State Budget,

• Run development opportunities for each phase of the Leadership Development Strategy 2008–2010,

• Commence a project to provide all agency licences and registrations online by the end of 2010, in accordance 
 with the government ‘Ask Just Once’ strategy, and

• Develop a fraud and corruption training program for internal use.

GENERAL
PIRSA will continue to place strong emphasis on industry and community partnerships and on cementing sustainable 
development as one of its core values.
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PIRSA’s Role

ORGANISATION
Primary Industries and Resources SA (PIRSA) is a key economic development agency of the South Australian 
Government.

PIRSA plays an important role in contributing to the sustainable planning and development of South Australia’s natural, 
industrial and community assets. PIRSA works with industry to manage resources sustainably and enhance value chains. 
PIRSA also works with communities to improve the amenity and sustainability of built environments.

South Australia’s Strategic Plan targets form the basis of PIRSA’s role in fostering environmentally sustainable and 
internationally competitive industries. These targets include increasing exports to $25 billion by 2013, lifting mining 
exploration investment to $100 million a year by 2007 (which has been surpassed) and boosting annual mineral 
production and processing to $4 billion by 2014. Other targets are to better align State and Local Government 
strategic plans and build sustainable communities.

PIRSA’s business activities are provided throughout South Australia and include:

• Agricultural and horticultural industry and policy development,

• Fisheries and aquaculture management and industry development,

• Minerals and petroleum exploration and development,

• Sustainable resources management, including soil, landcare and productive use of water,

• Development planning,

• Delivering rural and remote community support services,

• State/Local Government relations,

• Facilitating priorities for the use of land and planning optimal community development,

• Facilitating the application of new technologies, services, products and knowledge through its strong partnerships
 with industry sectors, market intelligence, science and regional communities, and

• Providing research and development capability, delivering innovation to the food, fi bre and bioscience industries
 and ecosystem sector.

PIRSA’S VALUES
In undertaking our role we value:

Commitment - we are committed to responsible and sustainable industry and community development,

Collaboration - we collaborate through alliances and partnerships that encourage shared success,

Customer orientation - our customer needs are met with a professional, fl exible, responsive and timely approach,

Achievement - our environment and culture is results focused; fosters trust and mutual respect; and provides a safe 
working environment,

Innovation - we build our capabilities, new approaches, innovation and ideas, and continually strive for knowledge, 
understanding and smart use of new technologies,

People - we value the capabilities, experience and diversity that each of us bring to the organisation,

Empowerment and accountability - our individuals and work teams are empowered and accountable, provide 
leadership and accept calculated risk,

Integrity - we are committed to honesty, integrity and the highest standards.
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Performance Summary 

AGRICULTURE, FOOD AND WINE

South Australia’s Strategic Plan Targets

OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY

• ECONOMIC GROWTH (T1.1)
• COMPETITIVE BUSINESS CLIMATE (T1.2)
• PERFORMANCE IN THE PUBLIC SECTOR (T1.7, T1.8, T1.9)
• JOBS (T1.10)
• EMPLOYMENT PARTICIPATION (T1.12)
• TOTAL EXPORTS (T1.14)
• STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE (T1.21)

OBJECTIVE 2 – IMPROVING WELLBEING

• HEALTHY SOUTH AUSTRALIANS (T2.4)

OBJECTIVE 3 – ATTAINING SUSTAINABILITY

• SOIL PROTECTION (T3.3)
• GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS REDUCTION (T3.5)
• ECOLOGICAL FOOTPRINT (T3.7)
• SUSTAINABLE WATER SUPPLY (T3.9)

OBJECTIVE 4 – FOSTERING CREATIVITY

• BUSINESS INNOVATION (T4.7)

OBJECTIVE 5 – BUILDING COMMUNITIES

• BOARDS AND COMMITTEES (T5.1 ,T5.2)
• VOLUNTEERING (T5.6)
• REGIONAL POPULATION LEVELS (T5.9)

The Agriculture, Food and Wine Division develops and implements policies, legislation, regulatory frameworks and programs 
to promote an optimal business, natural and social environment within which primary industries can grow and prosper.

Key objectives are to:
• Maintain and improve agricultural industry response and capacity to safeguard export and domestic markets and the
 industry base in SA, with particular emphasis on preparedness and response to animal and plant disease incursions,

• Maximise the investment in education, training and other innovative capacity-building initiatives,

• Contribute to multi-agency development of the integrated Natural Resources Management framework to deliver
 effective programs to repair, restore and enhance the state’s natural assets,

• Increase the number and value of value-added products and processes in the food and fi bre industries, and

• Facilitate the development of internationally competitive export services.

Animal Health
Field activities focused on improving the ability to detect an exotic disease incursion as well as controlling the prevalence 
of endemic diseases.

The agency also emphasised training in all facets of managing emergency responses, including the implementation of new 
database software with integrated mapping facilities, internal and external audiences.
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National acceptance of the Dairy Score, which underpins the trading confi dence in the Dairy ManaJD program for 
Bovine Johne’s Disease (BJD), was gained. This allows SA dairy farmers to make well-informed biosecurity decisions 
when purchasing stock from anywhere in Australia.

The endemic disease control programs continued to perform exceptionally well. Highlights include:

• Bovine Johnes Disease (BJD) – 96% of the state’s dairy herds are enrolled in Dairy ManaJD, and 72% of these have
 tested negative.  This group enjoys signifi cant fi nancial benefi t, as its resultant high Dairy Score stock is sought after
 in SA and interstate,

• Ovine Johne’s Disease (OJD) – 783,486 mature sheep from more than 4,000 properties were screened through
 the abattoirs, with only three positive properties being found. The overall mainland state property prevalence is now
 estimated at or below 0.2%, and the Kangaroo Island prevalence is now 3%, down from 13% fi ve years ago,

• Sheep lice and footrot detections remain at low levels compared to previous years, and

• Disease surveillance through the abattoirs and targeted programs continues to fi nd low rates of a range of endemic
 diseases. Feedback to producers of affected stock allows timely intervention.

South Australia’s implementation of the National Livestock Identifi cation Scheme for sheep and cattle was tested in a 
series of national exercises. The state performed at or above the standard set in all other jurisdictions – indicating strong 
producer compliance rates.

Animal Health contributed to the successful eradication of equine infl uenza from Australia by sending staff to assist New 
South Wales and Queensland in their eradication programs.

Animal Health also contributed to the development of new national livestock Transport standards, which will become 
an important point of reference in animal welfare codes in all jurisdictions, and a new emergency disease database 
(BioSIRT), which will be used nationally in all emergency responses. 

Emergency Management Coordination
PIRSA undertakes a series of response and recovery exercises to enhance the State Government’s capability in 
combating emergency animal, plant and aquatic pests and diseases. The program is supported by comprehensive 
documentation of response and recovery plans. Five biosecurity emergency response exercises were conducted in 
2007-08.  

Food and Plant Standards
• Maintained freedom from fruit fl y. The Riverland’s fruit fl y-free status provides the horticultural sector with 
 signifi cant cold disinfestation cost savings and gets product to market sooner,

• Developed and implemented a Food Safety Incident Response Operational Plan,

• Developed and distributed to industry a 10-point plan outlining essential food safety advice for egg producers,

• Undertook microbiological assessments of the potential hazards along the egg and poultry supply chain, including   
 stockfeed, egg wash, on farm and farm clean-outs,

• The SA Shellfi sh Quality Assurance Program instigated a shellfi sh food safety surveillance plan to verify compliance  
 with Primary Produce (Food Safety Schemes) (Seafood) Regulations 2006,

• Food safety auditing staff achieved national accreditation for high risk processes, and

• Approved food safety auditor arrangements were endorsed for third-party auditors.
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Food Regulation Policy
• Amended the Food Safety Scheme regulations under the Primary Produce (Food Safety Schemes) Act 2004 to
 adopt national standards for seafood, pet meat and ready-to-eat meat,

• Supported promotion of food innovation and growth through the development of policy initiatives and the review
 of Food Standards by the Australia and New Zealand Food Regulation Ministerial Council,

• Continued to maintain and enhance Food Safety Schemes to support the excellent reputation of SA’s primary
 production and processing industries, and

• Held Exercise Polka Dot Goose as part of a review process that resulted in an amended and updated PIRSA Food
 Safety Incident Response Plan.

Food and  Wine Secretariat
Restructured the Premier’s Food Council to help the government and industry partnership achieve its objectives under 
the Food Plan. 

Grape and Wine 

• Continued a whole-of-government approach to addressing wine industry development and implementing the 
 Partnering Strategy, through the SA Wine Industry Council, Industry Task Groups and Interagency Issues groups,

• In conjunction with the Adelaide Thinker in Residence, Professor Andrew Fearne, initiated a Vine to Dine - Wine
 Industry Sustainable Value Chain Case Study,

• Supported development and implementation of the Regional Heroes United Kingdom/Ireland Pilot Program - a
 promotion of ‘regionally distinct and fi ne wine’ from Australia in one of SA’s key export markets,

• Representatives of the SA Wine Industry Association and the Wine Grape Council of SA joined the Premier at the
 London Wine Fair in May 2008 to sign the Wine Sector Agreement on Climate Change. The agreement commits   
 SA’s wine industry to reducing its carbon footprint in the manufacture of wines, thereby ensuring that local wineries  
 are not left behind in the highly competitive global wine export market,

• Funds provided to the SA grape and wine industry for development activities doubled over the past year, with the   
 establishment of the following funds: 

 • SA Grape Growers Industry Fund,

 • Barossa Wine Industry Fund, and

 • Clare Wine Industry Fund.

The following wine industry funds were renewed until 2012:

 • Langhorne Creek Wine Industry Fund,

 • McLaren Vale Wine Industry Fund,

 • Adelaide Hills Wine Industry Fund, and

 • Riverland Wine Industry Fund.

• Worked with industry and other government stakeholders to complete the South Australian Wine Industry 
 Employment Strategy. 

Horticulture
• Developed a horticulture sector strategic plan to drive PIRSA investment in industry development, while the 
 Horticulture Industry Development Board was reappointed,

• Provided support to SA Health to implement and expand the Go for 2&5® program to increase consumption of
 fruit and vegetables, which contributes to both economic prosperity and healthy weight targets,

• Established the Adelaide Plains Horticulture Blueprint Steering Group to consider future development 
 opportunities for the horticulture industry on the Adelaide Plains. The steering group representatives from State
 and Local Governments and the horticulture industry. Development of the blueprint will contribute to sustainable
 use of soil and water resources, and

• Assisted Olives SA to prepare a consultation strategy for the development of an Olive Industry Fund under the
 Primary Industry Funding Schemes Act 1998.
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Livestock
• Reappointed the Industry Development Boards for the beef, dairy, pork and sheep industries,

• In conjunction with the respective Industry Development Boards, reviewed the industry development plans for the
 beef, dairy, pork and sheep industries,

• Supported major expansion in the chicken meat industry about $150 million) with the commissioning of new 
 secondary processing and hatchery facilities, as well as major farm development,

• Established dairy industry development and extension services in SA in conjunction with Dairy Australia, DairySA, 
 SARDI and Victoria’s Department of Primary Industries through the appointment of two staff linked to the 
 Victorian network,

• Completed a three-year benchmarking study to look at the competitiveness of SA’s dairy industry,

• Investigated desalination options for the supply of suitable water for intensive livestock industries,

• Worked with the pork industry to improve the effi ciency of water use in piggeries,

• Developed guidelines for separation distances for piggeries from housing to meet Environment Protection 
 Authority and industry expectations,

• Investigated sites with appropriate infrastructure suitable for the development of chicken meat farms,

• Promoted the national Meat and Livestock Australia programs, ‘More beef from pastures’ and ‘Making more from
 sheep’ by developing a provider network for the programs,

• Established the economic impact of the chicken meat industry on the state’s economy,

• Case-managed signifi cant projects associated with the development of the beef, sheep and chicken meat industries,

• Worked with the SA Lamb Development Team to develop and establish the ‘Young Guns’ project to support the
 development of effective networks, skills and capabilities of young sheep producers,

• Implemented workforce development programs in the meat processing industry through a close working 
 relationship with the Department of Further Education, Employment, Science and Technology, and Regional 
 Development Boards, and

• Continued to provide executive support for the Livestock Industry Development Boards.

Food and Business Innovation 
• Implemented a capability development program focusing on strong growth through market-focused innovation, 
 strategic planning and best practice, 

• Revamped the Industry Development Offi cer program, with two metropolitan and three regional offi cers now in
 place,

• Established an innovation program, which included appointing two food technologists to assist industry with new
 product development and technical issues,

• Engaged with more than 100 food businesses on issues including strategic planning, new product development, 
 innovation and skills development,

• Conducted fi ve marketing skills, innovation and business workshops to support businesses seeking to grow and
 develop new markets,

• Established a Graduate Access Program to facilitate new projects and encourage skills translation into the food
 sector.

Market Development
• Hosted the 10th annual Premier’s Food Awards, which celebrate and recognise excellence in SA’s food industry, 

• Established a Market Intelligence Unit to identify international market opportunities and trends,  

• Achieved the highest participation of SA food companies at an international trade event, with 30 companies 
 participating in Food and Hotel Asia in Singapore,
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• Led the development of an extensive consultation program and awareness of value chain thinking with  Adelaide
 Thinker in Residence, Professor Andrew Fearne, and industry,

• Implemented a market development program in conjunction with the Department of Trade & Economic 
 Development. Flavour SA was appointed to deliver an Interstate Market Development program; Food Adelaide 
 was appointed to deliver key components of an international market development program; and the Council for
 International Trade & Commerce SA Inc was appointed to deliver key aspects of an outward bound mission 
 program, and

• Resumed quarterly publication of Food Talk magazine which achieved its highest recorded readership.

Plant Health Policy
• Completed stakeholder consultation on the draft Plant Health Bill 2008, 

• Continued to contribute to national consideration of, and responses to, incursions of emergency plant pests, and

• Provided executive support, together with DWLBC and the Department for Environment and Heritage (DEH), for
 the development of the proposed SA Biosecurity Strategy.

Rural Chemicals
• Continued to investigate reports of chemical trespass and instances of residue detections in produce,

• Contributed to national policy development for pesticides and veterinary medicines,

• Worked with training and quality assurance providers to improve the effectiveness of chemical risk management
 components,

• Provided support to local communities to raise awareness of chemical trespass issues in their respective areas,

• Signifi cantly improved collaboration with Victorian authorities on managing chemical risks in agriculture following a
 joint conference to discuss legislation, compliance, education strategies and technical elements of chemicals 
 regulation, and

• Conducted an audit of the effectiveness of the implementation of recommendations arising from the Australian
 Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority’s herbicide 2,4 - D review.

Sustainable Systems 2007-08
• Undertook a survey of primary producers in partnership with the Commonwealth Government and the South
 Australian Farmers’ Federation to identify farmer grain marketing capacity, in light of evidence that some farmers
 made losses as a result of their decisions in 2007-08. Following the recommendations of this research, a risk
 management publication for primary producers was developed for inclusion in the Stock Journal and The Grower
 in July 2008,

• The fi nal phase of the development of the Community Capacity Assessment Tool was completed and 16 facilitators
 trained in its use.  A facilitators’ reference kit was also completed,

• Signifi cant contributions were made to the development of national approaches to climate change adaptation and
 emissions management in agriculture. At the state level, Climate Change in Agriculture presentations were made to
 a wide range of industry, professional, research, government, community and educational institutions, 

• The FarmBis program committed $4,063,000 to fund 6,644 enrolments in training programs to build the 
 management skills of primary producers and land managers. In addition, FarmBis funded a Computers for Drought
 program that subsidised the provision of ex-government computers and four hours of one-to-one training for 160
 recipients of Exceptional Circumstances Interest Rate Subsidies,  

• Finalised PIRSA’s natural resources management priorities and commitments to the state Natural Resources 
 Management Plan,

• More than 850 producers accessed the South Australian Government’s Planning for Recovery drought response
 initiative, with positive feedback received from both consultants and participants, 

• Conducted the ninth South Australian Rural Leadership Program with 16 graduates, and

• Helped the Renmark Irrigation Trust Board obtain project funding under the Commonwealth Irrigation 
 Modernisation Planning Assistance program.  
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Workforce Development
A Program Manager, Workforce Development was appointed to coordinate PIRSA activity across the agri-food sector, 
including aquaculture and wine.

TARGETS FOR 2008-09
• Implement a new phase of the Dairy ManaJD program, with signifi cantly greater industry ownership and fi nancial
 input,  

• Conduct a statewide survey for pestivirus in cattle, which has emerged as the leading infectious cause of 
 production losses in the industry in SA,

• Instigate compliance arrangements for implementing regulations under the Primary Produce (Food Safety Schemes)  
 Act 2004 that adopt national standards for seafood, pet meat and ready-to-eat meat,

• Develop and implement a salmonella surveillance program throughout the egg industry,

• Validate compliance with new national food safety guidelines for the production of packaged ready-to-eat meats,

• Maintain SA’s fruit fl y-free status,

• Support expansion of Wine Australia’s Regional Heroes wine export program to China, Canada, USA and Japan,

• Complete the Vine to Dine - Wine Industry Sustainable Value Chain Case Study and communicate fi ndings through
 the SA Wine Industry and other relevant agri-food industries,

• Implement recommendations arising from the South Australian Wine Industry Employment Strategy,

• Work with the Winemakers Federation of Australia to introduce, at a national level, the internationally recognised   
 system for measuring the fi ll of packaged goods,

• Manage an SA wine industry trade development delegation to Canada in September 2008 as a follow up to work   
 done in Canada in 2007,

• Investigate scenarios for the development of new areas in the Murraylands region for chicken meat production,

• Review opportunities to ensure domestic feed security for intensive livestock industries,

• Publish market intelligence reports on key agri-business sectors highlighting trade patterns and trends, and 
 comparative market positions in the top global markets,

• Update the SA Food Centre website,

• Facilitate preparation, by the Adelaide Plains Horticulture Blueprint Steering Group, of strategies for the 
 development of the horticulture industry on the Adelaide Plains, including planning for infrastructure needs and
 greater utilisation of recycled water,

• Conduct a review of the operation of the Citrus Industry Act 2005,

• Establish an Olive Industry Fund under the Primary Industry Funding Schemes Act 1998,

• Conduct a second Drought Youth Leadership Program offering capacity-building opportunities for 20 young 
 primary producers to develop skills in leadership, communication, succession planning in communities, and health,

• Work with Regional Drought Taskforces to assess current Exceptional Circumstances declared regions and provide  
 advice to the Commonwealth Government,

• Work with the Renmark Irrigation Trust to bring its Irrigation Modernisation Planning project to a successful 
 conclusion. The objective is a district-wide infrastructure plan that will provide the basis for the sustainable 
 development of irrigation of the Renmark district for the next 50 years,

• Support SA’s food and primary industries in planning for future workforce needs in a tight labour market and with  
 increasing environmental pressures,

• Implement a new food innovation program that links market opportunity, best practice and new product 
 development, and

• Implement a business growth program, in conjunction with Food Centre partners, to enable food businesses to
 access expertise needed for sustained growth.
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AQUACULTURE

South Australia’s Strategic Plan Targets

OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY

• ECONOMIC GROWTH (T1.1)

• BUSINESS INVESTMENTS (T1.5)

• JOBS (T1.10)

• EXPORTS (T1.12)

OBJECTIVE 4 – FOSTERING CREATIVITY AND INNOVATION

• BUSINESS EXPENDITURE (T4.11)

OBJECTIVE 5 – BUILDING COMMUNITIES

• REGIONAL POPULATION LEVELS (T5.9) 

The Aquaculture division is responsible for ensuring the sustainable development of SA’s aquaculture industry. It has a 
statutory and regulatory responsibility for the planning and management of aquaculture. These responsibilities are met 
through development zoning and granting of licences and leases under the Aquaculture Act 2001.

During 2007-08
• Commenced an amendment Bill proposing improvements to the Aquaculture Act 2001,

• Completed Aquaculture Zone policies for Coffi n Bay, Anxious Bay, Smoky Bay and an amendment for Lower Eyre,

• Commenced scientifi c investigation and research into the development of new Aquaculture Zones,

• Developed a program to address aquaculture-associated biosecurity risks,

• Designed a licensing framework for ornamental fi sh breeders and wholesalers, and

• Signed an agreement between South Australian Government, Marine Finfi sh Farmers Association and Euro-toques
 International (association of European chefs), providing an opportunity to showcase South Australian products and  
 increase export sales to Europe.

TARGETS FOR 2008-09
• Complete Aquaculture Zone policies for Port Neill, Rivoli Bay, Fitzgerald Bay Amendment and Eastern Spencer Gulf  
 Amendment,

• Finalise a program to address aquaculture-associated biosecurity risks,

• Design an implementation strategy for ornamental fi sh breeders and wholesalers,

• Continue scientifi c investigation and research into the development of new Aquaculture Zones, and

• Complete amendment Bills proposing improvements to the Aquaculture Act 2001 and supporting regulations.
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COMMERCIAL INVESTMENT DIVISION

South Australia’s Strategic Plan Targets

OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY 

• ECONOMIC GROWTH (T1.1)

• TOTAL EXPORTS (T1.14)

• STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE (T1.21)

The Commercial Projects and Industry Development & Ministerial Liaison Divisions merged on 1 January 2008 to form the 
Commercial Investment Division.

The Commercial Investment Division has the primary case management role in PIRSA for creating, leading and 
facilitating major investment opportunities that generate signifi cant commercial outcomes for primary industries and 
resources consistent with South Australia’s Strategic Plan objectives. Specifi c objectives encompass:

• Increasing exports and improving value-adding;

• Promoting sustainable enterprises that expand regional employment opportunities;

• Removing structural impediments to growth;

• Seeking better utilisation of existing infrastructure and, where necessary, augmentation with fi t-for-purpose 
 innovative infrastructure solutions; and

• Promoting industry growth by linking with other core government initiatives.

During 2007-08
• Assisted completion of a chicken meat processing facility at Edinburgh Park, a hatchery at Monarto and assisted   
 site selection for a new feed mill. Plans are also in place for a second stage at Edinburgh Park. Total capital 
 expenditure will be more than $200 million. The project will also generate considerable economic benefi t for SA,   
 with increased demand in areas such as building and transport,

• Ongoing drought conditions have required maintenance of the government’s emergency dredging procedures. The  
 division has overseen the process across government to ensure procedures remained responsive in spite of 
 emerging issues such as acid sulphate soil management. Agreements with Aboriginal communities to streamline
 monitoring processes were also maintained and managed,

• Facilitated a proposed Far West Coast mineral sand mine in passing the required development approval phases for
 a road transport linkage to the proposed site,

• Facilitated the commencement of upgrade works of the Eyre Peninsula grain export rail infrastructure,

• Facilitated formation of the Wine Innovation Cluster to boost the competitiveness and sustainability of the 
 Australian wine industry, and

• Facilitated formation of the SA Natural Resource Management Alliance to maximise the accessibility and value of 
 NRM knowledge and research. 

TARGETS FOR 2008-09
• Facilitating the delivery of alternative irrigation water for Langhorne Creek and the Currency Creek wine regions
 including funding, development approvals, engineering design and building construction,

• Identify market opportunities for development of Port Bonython via an expression of interest (EOI) process that
 began in May 2008, led by the Department of Transport, Energy and Infrastructure in consultation with the 
 Commercial Investment Division, 

• Case managing the $1.5 billion Penola Pulp Mill project through the fi nal stages required for the proponent to
 achieve fi nancial approval to construct a chemi-thermo mechanical pulp mill at Penola. This will include facilitating
 Commonwealth Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation (EPBC) approval for works associated
 with the railway and road upgrades into the site,
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• Facilitating the consultation with relevant government agencies on specifi c elements of the Environmental Impact   
 Statement (EIS) for the $2 billion Buckland Park residential township development,

• Ongoing drought conditions will require the Commercial Investment Division to maintain its organization of, and   
 rapid response to, emergency dredging requests. Support also covers work related to a possible temporary weir   
 and the Lake Albert blocking bank, and

• Completing the sector review of the Australian wine industry under the Primary Industries Research, 
 Development and Extension (RD&E) framework up to the capability analysis stage and monitor the SA leadership
 with the Fisheries and Aquaculture, Pork and Poultry sector reviews provided by SARDI.

COMMERCIAL PROJECTS
The Commercial Projects and Industry Development & Ministerial Liaison Divisions merged on 1 January 2008 to form the Com-
mercial Investment Division.

Commercial Projects is responsible for identifying and facilitating strategic industry-wide initiatives that boost gross state 
product, value-adding and export opportunities in primary industries and resources sectors to.

Most of this work is commercial-in-confi dence due to the sharing of intellectual property and confi dential business 
plans/fi nancial data. For this reason some work will be reported at a later date.

During 2007-08
• Supported arrangements to secure temporary alternative slaughtering capacity and meat value-adding after the
 Primo Abattoir fi re and facilitated the re-building of the facility. Primo advised that all employees temporarily 
 located at Murray Bridge returned to Primo by June 2008. 

INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT AND MINISTERIAL LIAISON
The Commercial Projects and Industry Development & Ministerial Liaison Divisions merged on 1 January 2008 to form the 
Commercial Investment Division.

The Industry Development & Ministerial Liaison Division facilitates and progresses national and statewide projects in the 
primary industries and resources sectors. 

The division provides strategic advice for these complex projects by:

• Developing national and state agreements and partnerships that enhance the capacity of primary industries to
 compete successfully in the global marketplace,

• Fostering whole-of-State Government and whole-of-value-chain approaches to policy and program delivery across,  
 and 

• Providing strategic thinking, planning and advice to PIRSA and its business groups on future services and product
 development. 

During 2007-08
• Provided case-management support to the $1.5 billion Penola Pulp Mill project through the development of the
 Penola Pulp Mill Authorisation Act 2007. Assisted the proponents in achieving fi nancial approvals on the project. 
 This has included road and rail upgrades and elements supporting the fi nalisation of the engineering procurement
 construction contract.
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FISHERIES

South Australia’s Strategic Plan Targets

OBJECTIVE 1 - GROWING PROSPERITY

• EXPORTS (T1.12)

• ECOLOGICAL FOOTPRINT (T3.7)

The Fisheries Division provides specialist services and advice to support the sustainable development of the state’s 
aquatic resources.

Fisheries is responsible for the management and administration of the living marine and freshwater resources of South 
Australia, as required under the Fisheries Management Act 2007. This includes the development and implementation of 
appropriate management plans for commercial, recreational, charter and Aboriginal traditional fi shing; development of 
government policy for sustainable resource access and allocation; and the administration of licensing and compliance 
services. 

During 2007–08
• Proclaimed the Fisheries Management Act 2007, 

• Established the new Fisheries Council,

• Proclaimed the new Coobowie Bay Aquatic Reserve,

• Attained quality certifi cation to AS/NZS 9001:2000 Quality Management Systems requirements for the entire   
 PIRSA Fisheries Division,

• Installed Marine Innovation South Australia’s programs on seafood quality and value-adding, and biosecurity to deal  
 with invasive species and fi sh diseases, 

• Implemented a new prosecution management system (E-Brief),

• Implemented mobile computing technology for Fisheries Offi cers in South Australia facilitating access to PIIMS, E-  
 Brief data, maps and global positioning system (GPS) functionality, 

• Built programs to include compliance measures listed in Fishery Management Plans, 

• Completed a review of the Fisheries Offi cer Special Determination to better refl ect business and staffi ng needs, 

• Implemented quota management arrangements for the Goolwa pipi fi shery,

• Integrated video surveillance and electronic scale technology into the compliance program for the Southern Zone  
 Rock Lobster Fishery, 

• Continued with implementation of the national system for the management of introduced marine pests, and

• Maintained an effective control program for Caulerpa taxifolia in the Port River. 

TARGETS 2008-09
• Completion of the South Australian Recreational Fishing Survey,

• Review export approvals for all major fi sheries under the EPBC Act 1999 (Cwlth),

• Advance a co-management framework with major commercial fi shing industry groups,

• Review operations of fi sheries compliance services,

• Extend export approval for major commercial fi sheries under the EPBC Act 1999 (Cwlth),

• Develop the fi rst traditional Fisheries Management Plan from a negotiated Indigenous Land Use Agreement (ILUA),

• Implement a demerit point system for all fi sheries, 

• Implement possession limits for selected recreational fi shing species, and

• Develop management plans in accordance with the timetable established by the Fisheries Council.
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PIRSA FORESTRY

South Australia’s Strategic Plan Targets

OBJECTIVE 1 - GROWING PROSPERITY

• BUSINESS INVESTMENT (T1.5)

PIRSA Forestry supports the sustainable development of an internationally competitive forest industry, regional 
development and the provision of services from State Government Forest Reserves.

This role includes:

• Policy advice to the Minister and State Government in relation to forestry, forest industries and associated 
 environmental matters,

• Programs to support forest industry development; farm forestry; and pest, disease and fi re protection for the
 state’s forestry industries, and

• Programs that facilitate community benefi ts from forestry activities, including public activities and biodiversity 
 management in the state’s forest reserves.

These responsibilities refl ect commitments that the government has made to support the economic development of 
forest-based industries and meet a range of community and environmental expectations.

During 2007-08
• Provided service and advice to support forest industry development in South Australia for public and private 
 enterprises, including farm-based production for commercial diversifi cation and environmental benefi ts,

• Provided policy and legislation advice for forestry and natural resource management, 

• Produced a new edition of Forestry Matters!, a major educational resource for schools and the community,

• Managed Community Service Obligation programs, including forest research, the management of native vegetation,
  and visitors to the state’s forest reserves, and

• More than 21,000 hours were contributed by volunteers and community program participants to improve the
 biodiversity and heritage values of the state’s forest reserves.

TARGETS FOR 2008–09 
• Facilitate the forest industry’s role in addressing climate change initiatives (T3.2, T3.5), and

• Develop a statistical economic scorecard for the forest industry (T1.8).
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MINERALS AND ENERGY

South Australia’s Strategic Plan Targets

OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY

• ECONOMIC GROWTH (T1.1)

• COMPETITIVE BUSINESS CLIMATE (T1.2)

• BUSINESS INVESTMENT (T1.5)

• PERFORMANCE IN THE PUBLIC SECTOR (T1.7, T1.8, T1.9)

• JOBS (T1.10)

• MINERALS EXPLORATION (T1.17)

• STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE (T1.21)

OBJECTIVE 3 – ATTAINING SUSTAINABILITY

• NO SPECIES LOSS (T3.1)

• MARINE BIODIVERSITY (T3.4)

• GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS REDUCTION (T3.5)

• ECOLOGICAL FOOTPRINT (T3.7)

• ZERO WASTE (T3.8)

• RENEWABLE ENERGY (T3.12)

• ABORIGINAL LANDS (T3.15)

OBJECTIVE 4 – FOSTERING CREATIVITY

• CREATIVE INDUSTRIES (T4.1)

• BUSINESS INNOVATION (T4.7)

• AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT EXPENDITURE (T4.10)

• BUSINESS EXPENDITURE (T4.11)

OBJECTIVE 6 – EXPANDING OPPORTUNITIES

• HIGHER EDUCATION (T6.20)

Mineral Resources
The Mineral Resources Group manages the state’s mineral resources on behalf of all South Australians by:

• Regulating mining operations,

• Implementing signifi cant exploration initiatives,

• Providing comprehensive, high quality geoscientifi c data and advice,

• Developing sustainable practices for exploration and mining,

• Facilitating mineral resource projects through approval processes,

• Developing an effective and effi cient policy and legislative framework, and

• Collecting mineral royalties and fees. 

The Mineral Resources Group’s vision is to make South Australia favoured for private mineral investment with explora-
tion expenditure to be maintained at more than $100 million per annum by 2010, and mineral production and process-
ing to reach $4 billion by 2020.  

The Mineral Resources Group is the lead agency facilitating ecologically sustainable mineral exploration production and 
development in South Australia.
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Mineral Exploration Activity

During 2007-08
• Mineral exploration expenditure for the year to March 2008 reached a state record of $344.1 million, or 15.4% of  
 the national total. This signifi cantly exceeds the SA Strategic Plan (SASP) Target of maintaining expenditure above   
 $100 million a year,

• These fi gures place SA equal with Queensland ($351.1 million) and behind Western Australia ($1130.3 million). 
 However on combined Australian Bureau of Statistics exploration fi gures for minerals and petroleum exploration
 expenditure, SA ($549.7 million) is a clear second, ahead of Queensland ($514.8 million),

• Global confi dence in SA’s mineral potential resulted in the state being ranked fourth in the world in the 2007-08
 Fraser Institute (Canada) scorecard for mining jurisdictions. SA is the only Australian state ranked in the top 10,

• The PACE initiative, in particular the collaborative drilling project, has been a major driver of the mining boom in
 SA. Successes to date include the Carrapateena (copper-gold), Gullivers (heavy mineral sands) and 4 Mile (uranium)
 prospects. Round four drilling attracted 75 proposals, of which 32 were funded. The majority were IOCG (iron
 oxide copper gold) projects in the Gawler Craton,

• Prospectivity research in collaboration with academic, industry and CRC partners has continued, and

• Targeted promotion of SA’s mineral prospectivity continued nationally and internationally.  

TARGETS FOR 2008-09
• Assist at least two signifi cant mining developments to achieve fi nal approvals and  move into construction, 

• Maintain SA’s share of national exploration expenditure, including geothermal, 

• Continue updates to the Minerals section of PIRSA’s website and complete Phase 1: (Scope and Requirements) 
 of the redevelopment of the South Australian Resources Information Geoserver (SARIG),

• Implement work programs associated with PACE’s fi fth year, and

• Maintain leadership in nationally signifi cant native title agreements in the minerals and petroleum sectors.

PACE Initiative 

During 2007-08
• Work programs for years one to four have been successful. The fi fth round of collaborative drilling funding was 
announced on 8 February 2008, with grants totalling $2.3 million awarded to 29 resource exploration projects from 66 
high quality proposals.  These projects will be completed in the 2008-09 fi nancial year. 

• PACE was awarded the Premier’s Award for Growing Prospectivity.

TARGETS FOR 2008-09
Theme 1  Final submission of the report of the Conservation-Mineral Prospectivity pilot evaluation project to
   assess the economic and biodiversity signifi cance of areas in SA parks and reserves.

Theme 2    Successful completion of round 5 of the PACE collaborative drilling program.

Theme 3  Continue the development of exploration methods for economic mineral deposits under cover. 
   Continue the increase in student enrolments in geological studies at the University of Adelaide, 
   maintaining fi rst-year enrolments above 200. Increase research funding and industry collaborations
   attached to the Centre for Mineral Exploration Under Cover.
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Theme 5  Continue to work with, and support the APY Executive in the approval of mineral exploration 
   licences in the APY Lands. Continue training and skills development for the Anangu people for 
   employment in the mineral exploration and mining industry. 

Theme 6  Deployment of an AuScope Hylogger unit in the Thebarton core storage facility. Finalise the location
   for the development of a new world-class core storage facility. 

Theme 7  Improve access and availability of open fi le pre-competitive data to company clients. Incorporate 
   recommendations of the Spatial Data Delivery review into Phase 1 SARIG Redevelopment Project. 
   Finalise the TMS/SARIG data join.

• Continue to increase SA’s share of national exploration expenditure to levels surpassed only by Western Australia,

• Continue to increase SA’s world ranking for mineral potential while maintaining our position as a national leader,

• Implement PACE year fi ve work programs, and

• Recapture PIRSA’s world number one ranking for the delivery of geoscientifi c information.

Petroleum and Geothermal
The Petroleum and Geothermal Group (PGG) manages SA’s upstream petroleum and geothermal resources. It is the 
state’s lead agency in ensuring ecologically sustainable petroleum and geothermal exploration and development. The 
group:

• Regulates operations, and provides comprehensive, high quality geoscientifi c data and advice,

• Establishes a framework for sustainable practices for exploration and development,

• Supports projects through approval processes,

• Develops an effective and effi cient policy and legislative framework, and

• Collects royalties and fees.

During 2007-08
• Following successful negotiations for the Yandruwandha Yawarrawarrka ILUA in the Cooper Basin in 2007, 
 discussions have been held with the Attorney-General’s Department, Aboriginal Legal Rights Movement, and 
 industry representatives supported by the SA Chamber of Mines and Energy (SACoME), for other claimant groups
 in the Cooper Basin,

• As Chair of the Australian Geothermal Energy Group and representing South Australia, the Director Petroleum
 and Geothermal delivered presentations during 2008 to European funds managers in London. Similar presentations   
 were also made in April to international energy professionals and investors at the American Association of Petroleum  
 Geologists annual conference in Texas, and to Google in California. Subsequent discussions have led Google to look   
 at fostering widespread understanding that Australia has excellent prospects for the development of hot rock power  
 as a facet of its Renewables Cheaper than Coal initiative,

• Following extensive public consultation on amendments to the Petroleum Act 2000, a Bill has been drafted. It is
  expected that this will be presented to Parliament late in 2008. The annual compliance report for 2007 was 
 presented to Parliament and is published on the PIRSA website at: 
 http://www.pir.sa.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_fi le/0008/68354/compliance_07.pdf, 
 The report aims to improve the operation of the Act and maintain its reputation as a best practice regulatory regime,  
 and

• Continued its compliance monitoring role for exploration, drilling and production, including a detailed validation
 process, of the Moomba, Katnook Gas Plant, Caroline CO2 Plant and SEA Gas Pipeline fi tness for purpose reports. 
 Audits of the Group’s royalty and revenue function, and offshore designated authority function were also undertaken. 
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TARGETS FOR 2008-09
• Entice exploration investment to under-explored South Australian basins, particularly the Offi cer and Arckaringa
 basins,

• Maintain the lead in national geothermal exploration investment by:

 • Attracting, leading and facilitating Australia’s investment in geothermal energy exploration, proof-of-concept and
  demonstration projects,

 • Negotiating with Commonwealth agencies to lift funding contributions through the Renewable Energy 
  Development Initiative, Low Emission Technology Development Fund, and other grant initiatives, and

 • Identifying opportunities to advance geothermal energy by forming national geothermal energy technical 
  interest groups.

• Provide best-practice regulation of the upstream petroleum and geothermal industries.
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STATE/LOCAL GOVERNMENT RELATIONS
The Offi ce for State/Local Government Relations provides policy and other advice to the State Government on the 
constructive relationship between the government and councils and other associated Local Government representative 
groups; whole of government policy and legislative frameworks as they affect Local Government; and the constitution 
and operation of the Local Government system, including the statutory authorities for which the Minister for State/
Local Government Relations is responsible.

During 2007-08
• Completed the wide-ranging independent review of Local Government elections, which included 
 recommendations to increase voter turnout to 50% or more by 2014, improve Local Government representation, 
 and improve the election process,

• Progressed measures to strengthen the framework for independent external audit of the fi nancial management and
 governance of Local Government,

• Reviewed the role and governance arrangements of the Outback Areas Community Development Trust,

• Supported the Minister for State/Local Government Relations in negotions with the Local Government Association
 on a nine-year funding agreement worth $35 million, for the installation of new community wastewater 
 management systems in SA,

• Progressed major infrastructure issues considered by the Minister’s Local Government Forum. The State  
 Government and the LGA succeeded in a bid for $20 million of Commonwealth funds for an upgrade of existing
 community waste management systems,

• Supported the formation of a working group for women in Local Government to examine issues and identify 
 strategies and projects to improve women’s participation, both as elected members and senior managers,

• Developed a community engagement showcase and handbook for use by councils across SA,  

• Updated the set of Model Financial Statements for Local Government. The Model Financial Statements and notes
 are consistent with Australian Accounting Standards and incorporate the best practice of other Local Government
 jurisdictions in Australia,

• Continued support for the State/Local Government Relations Agreement that deals with issues of mutual 
 importance and reinforces the relationship between the LGA and the State Government, including the 
 development of a new schedule of priorities for 2007-08,

• Responded to Local Government bodies, through the Local Government Disaster Fund, with support for the
 remediation of damages caused by natural disasters or other major uninsurable events, and

• Supported the Kangaroo Island Council with a study to assess the impediments to, and strategies for its long-term
 fi nancial sustainability.

TARGETS FOR 2008-09
• Introduce legislation to establish a new governance framework for the Outback Areas Community Development
 Trust,

• Introduce reforms to strengthen the framework for Local Government fi nancial management, including the 
 introduction of legislation to set standards for Local Government audit, 

• Introduce legislation to establish a new mechanism for setting the allowances of Local Government elected members,

• Assess and implement, where appropriate, the recommendations of the independent review of Local Government
 elections, including the introduction of legislation to improve Local Government representation and the election
 process,

• Continue to support improvements in Local Government fi nancial management planning, including the requirement
 to develop long-term fi nancial plans, and infrastructure and asset management plans by November 2008,

• Provide support and guidance to councils in the areas of administrative and fi nancial governance,

• Further develop regional collaboration initiatives in Local Government, particularly in the areas of asset 
 management and planning reform, and

• Continue to support the Minister’s State/Local Government Forum that deals with strategic issues of mutual
 importance and reinforces the relationship between the LGA and the State Government. In particular to assist 
 Local Government in implementing the Planning Review.
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OFFICE FOR THE SOUTHERN SUBURBS
The Offi ce for the Southern Suburbs coordinates the development of the Southern Adelaide metropolitan region. 

This involves supporting an integrated approach to economic, social and environmental priorities; encouraging partner-
ships between organisations; and providing a whole-of-government focus.

During 2007-08
• Provided advice and assistance to the Southern Adelaide Economic Development Board on the board’s strategic
 framework,

• Provided advice and fi nancial support to the Medical Devices Partnering Program (led by Flinders University),

• Continued to foster working links with the Centre for Innovation’s Southern node, including sponsorship of an 
 Innovation Forum and case-based activities,

• Established and provided strategic direction to the Southern Suburbs Co-ordination Group,

• Provided advice and fi nancial support to the Noarlunga Transit Orientated Development Project,

• Provided advice through membership of a range of reference groups focusing on workforce development, export
 opportunities, social impacts and education of young people at risk, and

• Commenced the development of a regional social and economic data project.

TARGETS FOR 2008-09
• Work with Local Government, the Southern Adelaide Economic Development Board and other State Government
 agencies to develop and assist in the implementation of regional strategies to address economic, social, workforce
 and environmental priorities for Southern Adelaide,

• Assist the Medical Devices Partnering Program with investment attraction initiatives, aligned with the broad 
 directions of the Southern Suburbs Co-ordination Group and the Southern Adelaide Economic Development
 Board,

• Strengthen and develop governance mechanisms to assist suchpartnerships, e.g. the Southern Suburbs 
 Co-ordination Group, and

• Engage with the Southern metropolitan councils on changes to the planning framework.
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PLANNING SA

South Australia’s Strategic Plan Targets

OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY

• ECONOMIC GROWTH (T1.1) 

• COMPETITIVE BUSINESS CLIMATE (T1.2) 

• PERFORMANCE IN THE PUBLIC SECTOR - GOVERNMENT DECISION-MAKING (T1.8) 

• TOTAL POPULATION (T1.22) 

OBJECTIVE 2 – IMPROVING WELLBEING

• SPORT AND RECREATION (T2.3) 

• WORK–LIFE BALANCE (T2.12) 

OBJECTIVE 3 – ATTAINING SUSTAINABILITY

• LAND BIODIVERSITY (T3.2) 

• GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS REDUCTION (T3.5) 

• USE OF PUBLIC TRANSPORT (T3.6) 

• ECOLOGICAL FOOTPRINT (T3.7) 

• RENEWABLE ENERGY (T3.12) 

• ENERGY EFFICIENCY – GOVERNMENT BUILDINGS (T3.13) 

• ENERGY EFFICIENCY – DWELLINGS (T3.14) 

OBJECTIVE 5 – BUILDING COMMUNITIES

• REGIONAL POPULATION LEVELS (T5.9) 

OBJECTIVE 6 – EXPANDING OPPORTUNITY

• AFFORDABLE HOUSING (T6.7) 

• HOUSING STRESS (T6.8) 

• HOUSING FOR PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES (T6.10) 

Planning SA is the State Government’s principal adviser on land-use planning, building policy, urban design and develop-
ment strategies. It administers the South Australian planning and development system. Planning SA contributes to the 
state’s sustainable economic development by developing strategic spatial policies to accommodate population growth 
and demographic change, facilitate industrial and commercial expansion, and meet demand for housing growth and 
diversity.

During 2007-08

Planning Reform package
• Provided research and other assistance to the State Planning and Development Review Steering Committee, and

• Commenced implementation of the Government Response to the Report of the Review (Planning Reform 2008
  package) including: 

 • Issuing a Draft SA Residential Development Code for consultation and testing as part of a suite of measures to  
  cut red tape and achieve faster residential approvals,

 • Identifying land for potential residential rezoning in the urban boundary,
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 • Identifying land for investigation for possible future inclusion in the urban boundary,

 • Identifying the carrying capacity and potential for development of future transit-oriented development and
  other urban redevelopment site options, and

 • Undertaking preparation for developing a new long-term plan for Greater Adelaide.

Legislative Reform
• Implemented new pre-lodgement provisions of section 37AA of the Development Act, to facilitate agreement   
 between developers and referral agencies prior to assessment of applications, and

• Introduced new processes for amending Development Plans, including three options regarding timelines and 
 consultation procedures (Development Plans Amendment Act 2006).

Strategic focus
Planning SA developed its strategic land-use planning focus during 2007-08 through a wide range of initiatives, including:

• A proposal to expand Adelaide’s urban boundary was released for public exhibition in July 2007, with the fi nal 
 decision on a new boundary made in December 2007. Two updated volumes of the Planning Strategy (Planning
 Strategy for Metropolitan Adelaide and the Planning Strategy for the Outer Metropolitan Adelaide Region) were
 adopted to refl ect the new urban boundary,

• A new volume of the Planning Strategy for the Yorke Peninsula Region (Yorke Peninsula Regional Land Use 
 Framework) was adopted in December 2007 following public consultation,

• Development of new draft volumes of the Planning Strategy for other regional areas (Far North, Mid-North, 
 Murray-Mallee, Kangaroo Island), continued with public consultation scheduled,

• A master planning project was completed for the Mount Gambier region, with the Greater Mount Gambier Master
 Plan adopted in February 2008 following public consultation. Public consultation was conducted on a Master Plan
 for the South Coast Region, and development started on a Barossa Regional Framework, and

• Commenced development of Master Plans for Whyalla, Port Augusta and Port Pirie.

Development Assessment
During 2007-08, Planning SA has been involved with the various stages of the assessment of 14 proposals declared as 
Major Developments by the Minister under the Development Act 1993.

These development proposals are for:

• A desalination plant at Port Stanvac, 

• Jurlique to expand its operations at Mylor,

• The Ceduna Keys Marina & Community Centre (Amended EIS),

• A residential/retail complex for the Highway Inn site at North Plympton,

• A residential/retail complex for the former Le Cornu site at North Adelaide,

• Wakefi eld Waters residential/marina complex at Port Wakefi eld,

• A retail complex near Victor Harbor (Encounter Bay Centre), 

• Stansbury Marina,

• An upgrade of AAMI Stadium lights,

• Buckland Park country township,

• Foundry expansion by Bradken Resources Pty Ltd at Kilburn,

• Narnu Waterways Canal Estate project at Hindmarsh Island,

• Olympic Dam Expansion,

• Mannum Marina on the River Murray.

In addition, Planning SA assisted the Development Assessment Commission in the determination of 1,094 development 
applications.
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Policy improvement – planning and building
• Introduced new regulations to improve public safety regarding potential brush fence fi res,

• Authorised 23 Statements of Intent for Development Plans to be converted to the simpler, clearer Better 
 Development Plans format. Seven other conversions were fi nalised and a further 10 councils are preparing 
 Statements of Intent,

• Released version three of the State Planning Policy Library (used to update Development Plans with leading 
 practice policy), with version four scheduled for release in August 2008,

• Finalised three Ministerial Development Plan Amendments (DPAs), including updated bushfi re mapping for the
 Mount Lofty Ranges region, and progressed seven others. DPAs included:

 • Golden Grove Residential and Light Industry DPA,

 • Mount Gambier Northern Gateway DPA,

 • Commercial Forestry DPA,

 • Penfi eld Intermodal Rail Freight Facility DPA,

 • Caravan Parks DPA,

 • Cheltenham Park Racecourse DPA,

 • Land Not Within a Council Area PAR,

 • Bushfi re Management PAR - Part 3 (complete),

 • Roxby Downs Town Centre PAR (complete),

 • Techport Boundary PAR (complete)

• Developed innovative online tools/products to assist planning including, the Ageing Atlas, Population Projections   
 Enquiry System, South Australia’s Heritage Places Database, Bushfi re Risk Search Tool, and 2007 Retail Database.

Urban design and open space grants
• In 2007-08, the Minister for Urban Development and Planning provided $15.12 million from the Planning and
 Development Fund towards open space and civic enhancement projects throughout the state. The funds were
 made available through the Places for People and the Open Space Grant Funding programs,

• Provided $3.69 million to councils through the Places for People program. Grants included $750,000 towards the
 Christies Beach Redevelopment and $730,000 towards the development of the Mitcham Cultural Village Hub, and 

• Provided $11.43 million towards open space projects, including $2.61 million towards the continued development
 of Coast Park, a government initiative to establish a linear park along the entire Adelaide metropolitan coastline, 
 and $850,000 towards safety improvements to the River Torrens Linear Park. Other open space grants include
 $990,000 towards the redevelopment of Stebonheath Park in Andrews Farm and $514,868 towards developing the
 Hutt River Linear Park in Clare. 

TARGETS FOR 2008-09
• Develop legislative and regulatory changes required to achieve faster approvals for residential development through
 a four-pronged approach: 

 • Expanding exempt development (matters which require no development assessment or approval),

 • Creating a new ‘Building Consent only’ list for minor home improvements,

 • Introducing a new Residential Development Code to speed planning approvals for major alterations and 
  additions to existing homes, and for new dwellings that meet the code’s requirements, and

 • Speeding assessment processes for merit approval.

• Develop detailed Regional Plans for all areas of the state, including targets for population and land supply for both   
 housing and employment in each region. The plans will include: 

 • A 30-year plan for the Greater Adelaide area, from Victor Harbor in the south, to the Barossa and Mallala in
  the north, and east to Murray Bridge. The plan will be developed collaboratively with local government and
  industry and will cover seven State Government Planning Regions. The main points are:
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   • Overall increased densities

   • Greater emphasis on concentrating future growth along major transport corridors,

   • Identifying a series of growth precincts including medium and high density transit oriented
    developments,

   • Structure-planned fringe growth integrated with transport corridors, and

   • A rolling 25-year supply of broadacre land identifi ed for both residential and employment
    purposes, with 15 years to be zoned for use at any time. To achieve the 25-year supply, new
    areas will be identifi ed to be assessed for potential future growth, based on the following
    principles:

    - Proximity to existing transport corridors, particularly rail,

    - Minimal impact on high-value agricultural lands and high-conservation value native
      vegetation, and

    - Proximity to major employment lands.

 • Five Regional Plans for country SA, including Master Plans for major regional cities and towns. The regions are:

   • Eyre and Western,

   • Far North,

   • Limestone Coast, 

   • Murray and Mallee, and

   • Yorke and Mid North.

• Expanding and updating the Metropolitan Development Program to cover Greater Adelaide     
 and include industrial as well as residential land,

• Making Development Plans more user-friendly by:

 • Further accelerating the take-up of the Better Development Plans process,

 • Further consolidating zones, reducing the number from 40 to about 25, and,

 • Encouraging faster rezoning processes, aiming to reduce the median rezoning time for council DPAs from 22   
  months to less than 12 months.

• Developing a new policy for signifi cant development, defi ning pathway certainty,

• Reviewing the types of development assessed by the Development Assessment Commission, and

• Establishing a working group to examine extending energy and water effi ciency requirements in the Building Code.
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RURAL SOLUTIONS SOUTH  AUSTRALIA

South Australia’s Strategic Plan Targets

OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY

• EXPORTS (T1.14)

• MINERALS PRODUCTION (T1.18)

• LAND BIODIVERSITY (T3.2)

• REGIONAL POPULATION LEVELS (T5.9)

Rural Solutions South Australia delivers cost-effective and customer-focussed services aimed at:

• Increasing the competitiveness of primary industry value chains (focus on food value chains and minerals sectors),

• Integrating environmental solutions (focus on water-use effi ciency, climate change, carbon trading and natural
 resource management  services), and

• Supporting regional communities in managing change (building on capacity assessments, risk management and 
 governance services).

During 2007-08
• Provided a diverse range of services to DWLBC; NRM bodies; other government customers; agricultural industry
 development organizations; food, wine, forestry,  and resource companies; regional bodies; primary producers and
 community groups,

• Delivered a range of services on behalf of PIRSA and commercial customers in the areas of fi eld crops, livestock, 
 horticulture, fi sheries and aquaculture which were aimed at improving the competitiveness of industry value chains. 
 Key projects included intensive apple orchard production systems with Horticulture Australia and commercial pig
 production in Nusa Tenggara Timur in Indonesia,

• Continued to fulfi l a key role in responding to emergency situations in SA, including delivery of key aspects of the
 Planning for Recovery drought program,

• Provided technical and program support services to NRM Boards,

• Supported SA’s minerals targets through projects assisting mine operators to meet their regulatory obligations, as
 well as conducting community consultation, environmental impact assessments, rehabilitation and monitoring,

• Established a new Food Chain Innovations team to improve primary industries’ value chains. This team is focusing
 on delivering sustainable business solutions for companies and their value chain partners and allies, industry 
 associations and their networks, and State and Commonwealth Government agencies, and 

• Delivered other key projects including Adelaide Blue Gums, support to the Upper South East program, Lower Eyre
 Peninsula Bushfi re Re-establishment program, SA Water’s Mt Bold/Scott Creek Revegetation project, Regional
 NRM Liaison Offi cers. The division has also provided technical support to land and water management planning
 and deep drainage investigations in Riverland priority areas.

TARGETS FOR 2008-09
• Deliver services to the fi eld crop, livestock, horticulture, fi sheries and aquaculture industries aimed at improving
 the competitiveness of SA industry value chains on behalf of PIRSA and commercial customers,

• Deliver environmental management services including revegetation; animal and plant control; soil, land and water 
 management; and rangeland assessment on behalf of DWLBC and commercial customers, and

• Develop services supporting structural change in regional communities; social research and stakeholder 
 engagement; planning for communities, industries and businesses; training and change management. 
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT INSTITUTE 

SARDI

South Australia’s Strategic Plan Targets

OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY

• ECONOMIC GROWTH (T1.1) 

• TOTAL EXPORTS (T1.14) 

OBJECTIVE 2 -  IMPROVING WELL-BEING

OBJECTIVE 3 -  ATTAINING SUSTAINABILITY

OBJECTIVE 4 -  FOSTERING CREATIVITY

• COMMERCIALISATION OF RESEARCH (T4.6)

• PUBLIC EXPENDITURE (T4.9)

• AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT RESOURCES (T4.10)

The South Australian Research and Development Institute (SARDI) delivers robust scientifi c solutions to support 
internationally competitive, sustainable primary industries. Scientifi c programs create opportunities for market growth 
while increasing the productivity, sustainability and adaptability of food, fi bre and emerging eco-industries.

SARDI’s scientifi c outcomes contribute to South Australia’s Strategic Plan particularly in the areas of the economy, 
environment and science innovation. Programs are specifi cally aligned to the State Government’s Science Plan (STI10) to:

• Meet specifi c industry priorities,

• Increase industry productivity and economic performance,

• Pursue innovation in environmental issues, and

• Attract investment and develop critical infrastructure.

During 2007-08
• Maintained access to the US beef export market by developing a computer-based mathematical model that will
 help maintain a low risk of food poisoning linked to specifi c strains of E. coli in beef trim. The model assesses and
 predicts the potential risk for contamination at each step of the food value chain, allowing the merits of different
 interventions to be assessed,  

• Underpinned premium prices and market access for the southern bluefi n tuna industry by publishing a book of
 2005 and 2006 residues data in English, Japanese, simplifi ed Chinese and traditional Chinese,

• Identifi ed combinations of synthetic fungicides permitted for the control of sour rot, a common decay pathogen of
 citrus, and provided recommendations to industry for their use on exported citrus,

• Verifi ed that SA oysters are at low risk of carrying strains of Vibrio sp pathogens. This could boost sales potential in
 overseas markets,  

• Identifi ed that warming trends in the past two decades are linked to the accelerated maturity of shiraz, cabernet
 sauvignon and chardonnay grapes in all growing regions of Australia. Technological improvements have mitigated
 these effects so vintage quality has improved, with only a few exceptions, 

• Further developed resources for the Marine Innovation SA initiative, expanding scientifi c capabilities across 
 educational and research sectors in physical and biological oceanography; seafood physiology; ecosystem modelling; 
 marine botany; aquatic animal health and nutrition; and pelagic and benthic ecology,

• Completed research and development to support the ‘proof of concept’ evaluation of semi-intensive saline
 aquaculture production systems near Waikerie in the Riverland. The project assessed the quality of the water, and
 the feasibility of culturing mulloway and its consumer acceptance. It also identifi ed yellowtail kingfi sh as another
 species with potential, and
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• Deployed technically advanced systems of the Southern Australian Integrated Marine Observing System to provide
 data on climate and the ocean circulation of our southern shelves, which will help understanding of the 
 ecosystems underpinning our fi sheries. It consists of underwater moorings, programmable marine gliders, acoustic
 curtains for tagged fi sh, autonomous underwater vehicles and HF Ocean RADAR, which provide information on
 surface waves, currents and the ocean environment.

Aquatic Sciences
• Recruited expertise in aquatic animal health to address production issues in the yellowtail kingfi sh industry linked
 to parasite infection and prepare for biosecurity issues that could impact on the abalone industry, such as abalone
 viral ganglioneuritis,

• Developed a new model for the appraisal of abalone selective breeding that takes into account genetics, production
 systems and benefi t cost parameters,

• Developed a new stress indicator for optimising commercial mollusc farm husbandry practices. It has been used to
 assess the effects of different grading systems on oyster stress,

• Provided advice on the implications of increasing stocking density within fi nfi sh aquaculture industries,

• Developed, in collaboration with CSIRO, an integrated hydrodynamic, sediment and biogeochemical model of the
 tuna farming zone off Port Lincoln, as well as nearby inshore areas. The model describes the fate of nutrient inputs
 to the system and their potential biological impacts, as well as the consequences of other activities for both 
 aquaculture and the environment,

• Provided research in the River Murray Channel, Chowilla, Coorong, Lower Lakes and Murray Mouth sites to assist
 policy formulation for the Murray Darling Basin Commission’s Living Murray program and Native Fish Strategy
 program, 

• Delivered a comprehensive surveillance and spatial risk assessment program for the invasive aquatic plant, Caulerpa
 taxifolia, based on observations, a variety of habitat characteristics and environmental data,

• Received national and international acclaim for valuable research to support the Lake Hume to the Sea Fishway
 Program. It aims to provide passage for migratory fi sh along 2,200 km of the River Murray from Lake Hume to its
 mouth,

• Rated the extent of degradation in reef ecosystems close to urban developments as a result of human impacts, and

• Completed a risk assessment on the implications of bycatch of Australian sea lions and New Zealand fur seals in
 the South Australian Southern Rock Lobster Fishery and the gillnet sector of the Southern and Eastern Scalefi sh
 and Shark Fishery (SESSF). It identifi ed the extreme vulnerability of Australian sea lion populations to even low
 levels of fi shery bycatch, and has resulted in funding for a major project to mitigate bycatch of this threatened 
 species.

Innovative Food and Plant, and Sustainable Systems
• Identifi ed post-harvest storage and handling constraints and developed practical processes to improve quality of
 vegetables and fruit during transport to remote Indigenous communities of north-western SA,

• Established that suboptimal cooking temperatures may partly explain the occurrence of ‘mushy fl esh’ in blue 
 swimmer crabs. This discovery will help the fl edgling industry consistently deliver fl esh quality,

• Improved commercial packaging practices for live bivalves, linking transport methods and packaging to shelf-life and
 consumer acceptance,

• Launched Angel, a breakthrough pasture variety that promises to revitalise Australia’s pasture industry. It is the
 world’s fi rst medic that can tolerate minute residues from herbicides normally linked to poor pastures after 
 cropping,

• Launched two inventions aimed at helping horticultural industries spray their crops more effectively to better
 control disease and reduce spray drift: 

 • A new spray fan for fi eld crops, vegetables and small orchard crops which has strong export potential, and
 • A user-friendly spray drift and evaluation kit, which combines a special pigment, torch and spray comparison
  chart to identify where sprays have landed.  
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• Contributed to the successful release of the disease-resistant red lentil variety, Nipper, and the large-seeded green
 lentil Boomer. Bred for Australian conditions, they should bring greater stability to the country’s $100 million lentil
 industry, 

• Commercialised the milling oat variety, Yallara, and the export-oaten hay variety, Tungoo,

• Established international research trials through the new Cooperative Research Centre for National Plant 
 Biosecurity, aimed at minimising the negative impacts of exotic pathogens on the viticulture industry,

• Identifi ed a gene involved in boosting the tolerance of medics to soil residues of a class of SU-herbicides used 
 during crop production,

• Characterised a gene form in wheat that is linked to favourable baking qualities,

• Identifi ed reproductive frost-tolerant genes in pulses to create germplasm for further new variety development,

• Validated and refi ned a disease projection model for peas, giving growers fl exibility with their sowing times to 
 optimise yields. The online model, predicts when sowing will result in high initial infection of blackspot,

• Verifi ed that diamond black moth, a pest of Brassica, canola and vegetable crops, is likely to develop resistance to
 common chemicals soon, and instigated a pre-emptive research program,   

• Developed in collaboration with the University of Kentucky, a new model of seed size plasticity that accounts for
 genetic and environmental interactions in cereals, oilseeds and grain legumes,

• Launched two major publications on climate change for business: A Guide to Climate Change and Adaptation in
  Agriculture and Managing Frost: A Guide for Southern Australian Grains,

• Designed seasonal forecasting and risk management tools to inform regional communities of their adaptive capacity
 to climate variability,

• Produced an educational DVD, The Reality of Resistance, on insecticide tolerance. It was supplied to chemical
 stores around Australia, and   

• Provided key research data for a new website that captures national herbicide tolerance trial results to help 
 growers reduce crop losses.

Livestock systems
• Measured differences in the expression of genes between two distinct meat muscle types at various growth stages
 in sheep. New molecular techniques will follow, that aid the development of DNA tests, helping to improve the
 genetic potential of fl ock,

• Developed a new software application, in conjunction with the University of Adelaide, to chart gene families in both
 sheep and beef, 

• Boosted recognition for the genetic merit of elite dairy breeding genes, with unborn calves from SARDI’s herd 
 attracting premium prices at International Dairy Week in Tatura, Victoria,

• Launched a unique poultry research facility in the Solomon Islands, to assist remote communities achieving food 
 security and restoring income following civil unrest. The facility will help boost egg and poultry production, mainly
 through improving formulations of local feeds. The knowledge gained is benefi ting poultry organisations in Australia,
 particularly those interested in organic production,

• Completed gene expression profi ling studies in wool follicle development. Genes of signifi cance have been 
 submitted to the sheep genome database,

• Catalogued genetic material of sheep displaying problematic skin, fi bre and fl eece phenotypes. Unfavourable wool
 qualities caused by random genetic mistakes offer scientists one of the most effi cient ways to locate genes that are
 critical to wool follicle formation and synthesis, and

• Proved the mortality of twin lambs can be reduced by supplementing ewes feed during lambing. 
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TARGETS FOR 2008-09
• Commission Lincoln Marine Science Centre as the focus for Marine Innovation South Australia research and 
 education programs,

• Establish projects to advance the application of molecular tools to manage pests in broadacre and irrigated crops,

• Develop solutions for water limitations in perennial horticulture,

• Develop management practices to improve the resilience of cereal and wine grape industries through water-use
 effi ciencies and heat tolerance,

• Commence food research programs at the SA Food Centre at Regency TAFE in partnership with PIRSA, and the
 Departments of Further Education, Employment, Science and Technology, and Trade and Economic Development, 
 and

• Commission the National Collaborative Research Infrastructure Strategy (NCRIS) photobioreactor facility for pilot
 scale development and demonstration of microalgae biomass culture for biodiesel production. 
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Practising Sustainability

PIRSA’s sustainability focus is on the fi nancial, social and environmental aspects of the agency and its service delivery. This 
highlights PIRSA’s triple-bottom-line approach to environmental performance, an internationally recognised method of 
demonstrating sustainability.

PIRSA’s Corporate Executive team is committed to the Greening of Government Operations (GoGO) Framework, 
Green PIRSA Implementation Plan and PIRSA Environmental Policy. By committing to these policies, PIRSA ensures 
sustainability applies equally to external industry development and internal performance. It also helps PIRSA support 
whole-of-government environmentally sustainable and eco-effi cient practices.

Greening of Government Operations (GoGO) Framework
PIRSA is continuing to progress well against the milestones of the GoGO Action Plan, as set out below:

MILESTONE 1:  ESTABLISH CHIEF EXECUTIVE ‘STATEMENT OF COMMITMENT TO 
GREENING OF AGENCY OPERATIONS’
• PIRSA’s Environmental Policy was endorsed by Corporate Executive in April 2006. 

 

MILESTONE 2:  ALLOCATED RESOURCES TO SET UP GOVERNANCE AND INITIATE 
INTERNAL REVIEW
• The Green PIRSA Reference group, has been operating since 2005. 

 

MILESTONE 3:  COMPLETED INITIAL REVIEW OF ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS, AND 
DETERMINED PRIORITIES AND ALLOCATED RESOURCES
• The review of environmental impacts is under way and regular reports are made to Corporate Executive.

 

MILESTONE 4:  SET PERFORMANCE GOALS/INTERNAL TARGETS (INFORMED BY SA’S 
STRATEGIC PLAN TARGETS AND/OR OTHER TARGETS AGREED BY GOVERNMENT)
• Eight outline documents, based on the eight priority areas of the GoGO Framework, have been developed and
 endorsed by Corporate Executive. These are the guiding principles of how PIRSA will approach its operations in
 each area, 

• Agency targets have been set for travel, fl eet and energy management,

• Increase use of environmentally friendly fuels to 50% of the total fl eet by 2010, 

• Reduce energy use by the agency to 25% by 2014 from 2000–01 levels, and 

• Reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 15% by 2010. 

 

MILESTONE 5:   APPROVED AGENCY IMPLEMENTATION PLAN AND 
COMMUNICATION PLAN
• PIRSA’s Green Implementation Plan was developed and endorsed in April 2006, 

• Nine divisional Green Implementation Plans were endorsed in June 2007 to underpin the overall plan, and

• Communication plan developed in 2005 is due for review and renewal. 

 

MILESTONE 6:  REPORTED ON STATUS/PROGRESS IN REACHING PERFORMANCE 
GOALS/TARGETS
• Monitoring and reporting is under way to determine PIRSA’s progress towards recently set internal targets. 
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MILESTONE 7:  INITIATED AGENCY IMPLEMENTATION PLAN
• PIRSA’s Green Implementation Plan, which has been in operation for 12 months, will be reviewed. 

 

MILESTONE 8:  UNDERTAKING ONGOING MEASURING, MONITORING, REPORTING 
AND CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT OF PERFORMANCE
• Reporting is under way on the priority area of energy management, with work continuing on measures for other 
priority areas including travel and fl eet management, and water and wastewater conservation. 

 

PIRSA’s ongoing commitment to greening its operations is demonstrated by the following initiatives:

• The MobileMuster program recycled 130 kg of mobile phone handsets and accessories in 2006–07.  The program
  was undertaken again in 2007-08 and results will be published in next years report,

• Endorsement of guidelines for the recycling of used toner cartridges through Cartridges 4 Planet Ark, and

• Endorsement of guidelines for the installation of worm farms for recycling organic waste. 

The agency will continue to investigate opportunities to reduce its environmental footprint.

ENERGY EFFICIENCY ACTION PLAN REPORT

Performance against annual energy use targets
The table below summarises PIRSA’s energy expenditure, consumption and greenhouse gas emissions for 2007-08 
against the base year of 2000-01 and portfolio targets.

Energy consumption in buildings 
(leased/owned)

2000-2001 (Base Year) a

2000-2001 (Base Year) 
Business measures

2007-08 b

2007-2008 (Base Year) 
Business measures

Final Portfolio target (2014)

Expenditure 
($)

1,616,794

181 $/fte
20 $/m2

2,015,381

26.6
$/m2

Energy Use 
(GJ)

94,980

58 GJ/fte
0.9 GJ/m2

83,086

0.71
GJ/m2

71,235

GHG Emissions
(tonnes of CO2)

18,183

11 GHG/fte
0.19 GHG/m2

12,061

0.19
GHG/m2

 a. Base year fi gures and portfolio targets refl ect changes in portfolio structures from 1 July 2005.

 b. Due to billing cycles for different sites and availability of information, consumption at some sites has been 
  estimated using the previous year’s consumption.

 c. Business measures are based on square metres. Base year business measures are based on information from
   occupied sites.

 d. The portfolio target (2014) meets the government’s commitment to a 25% reduction in energy use in 
  government buildings by 2014.

Signifi cant energy management achievements
An energy audit of PIRSA sites consuming more than 150,000kwh a year was completed in 2007-08. Energy reduction 
plans will be developed for each site.



P I R S A  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 0 7 - 0 8 47

Agency Support

OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY

• EXPORTS (T1.15)

• MINERALS AND EXPLORATION (T1.15)

• COST-EFFECTIVENESS OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES (T1.18)

• TIMELY AND TRANSPARENT GOVERNMENT DECISION-MAKING (T1.19)

The Corporate Division provides governance functions and support services to the business divisions of PIRSA and 
some external clients. The services are diverse and wide-ranging, including communications and marketing; corporate 
strategy and policy; fi nance and business services; human resource management; information management; and risk man-
agement and audit. Legal services are also available through an arrangement with the Crown Solicitor’s Offi ce. 

The Corporate Division also provides services to a range of external clients including Defence SA, the Motor Accident 
Commission and the Department of Trade and Economic Development.  It is also provides the South Australian Motor 
Sport Board with information technology support for key events such as the Clipsal 500.

A signifi cant challenge for the Corporate Division is to respond to the government’s reform of the delivery of busi-
ness support functions that will result in them being consolidated into a shared services environment. During 2007-08, 
preparation work was fi nalised to support the smooth transition of accounts payable/receivable and payroll services to 
the newly created Shared Services SA. Staff and services transferred early in the new fi nancial year. The challenge will 
continue in 2008-09 to ensure these services are working effectively and to prepare for further services to transition in 
the future.

The division also implemented several important initiatives, including:

• Introducing several workforce strategies to improve the agency’s ability to attract and retain employees. These
 include an Aboriginal employee program, a PIRSA internship and additional family-friendly initiatives such as a 
 workplace family room and school holiday programs, 

• Holding a series of cross cultural awareness training workshops for all Corporate staff to increase their 
 understanding of diversity in the workforce and community,

• Providing training to raise awareness of the symptoms, causes and treatment of depression in the workforce and   
 community, and

• Providing puppy education for a Royal Society for the Blind guide dog in the Communications and Marketing Unit, 
 as part of PIRSA’s commitment to volunteering and community service, as well as attuning staff to interacting with
 assistance dogs.

Major achievements in 2007-08 and targets for 2008-09 for each of the Corporate Division functional units follows.

COMMUNICATIONS AND MARKETING
During 2007-08
• Delivered strategic and coordinated communications responses to the equine infl uenza threat to SA and two fruit
 fl y outbreaks,

• Delivered several high-level communications plans and products and advised the  agency’s business divisions on
 issues such as drought response and the Fruit Fly Community Awareness Strategy,

• Participated in the national emergency response system, the National Communications Network,

• Produced Primetime each quarter, PIRSA’s fl agship internal magazine promoting staff innovation and achievements,
  and

• Integrated video into the production of media articles and presentations.
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CORPORATE STRATEGY AND POLICY

During 2007-08
• Completed rate limiter analysis across the Agriculture, Food and Fisheries, and Forestry portfolios,

• Implemented a web-based agency-wide performance reporting system (PIR.formance) for reporting against agency
 targets,

• Produced 2006–07 State ScoreCards for the agri-food, wine and minerals areas and implemented the Food ‘on-line’
 ScoreCard Database,

• Completed an analysis of the investment drivers in horticulture,

• Completed an economic impact analysis of the potential Olympic Dam expansion,

• Completed an economic analyses of potential wetland closures, weir pool development and southeast drainage
 projects,

• Secured Professor Andrew Fearne as Adelaide Thinker in Residence,

TARGETS FOR 2008-09
• Support the fi nalisation of the Adelaide Thinkers in Residence visit of Professor Fearne and draft the agency 
 response to his fi nal report,

• Produce 2007–08 State ScoreCards for the agri-food, wine and minerals areas,

• Provide policy and economics advice to the Water Security Council and the Olympic Dam Task Force, and

• Support PIRSA and South Australia in progressing the Coalition of Australian Governments national reform processes.

Finance and Business Services

During 2007-08
• Facilitated the agency’s approach to implementing the Financial Management Compliance Program,

• Established a web-based standard invoicing system that improves controls and processes for accounts receivable
 transactions,

• Revised policies and procedures for accounts receivable and purchase card processes,

• Approved 3,490 grants and loans worth a total of $69,834,894 under various schemes such as Exceptional 
 Circumstances and Planning for Recovery programs which provide drought support,

• Reviewed the security requirements for PIRSA’s two Grenfell Street premises and implemented new procedures.
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* Includes grants and loans approved as a commitment during 2007-08 and will vary from actual payments

TARGETS FOR 2008-2009
• Assist the Chief Executive and Corporate Executive to develop proposals that will meet the savings targets in the
 2008-09 State Budget,

• Implement revised accounting arrangements associated with the creation of Planning SA as a separate government
 agency, and

• Start an infrastructure review of assets to maximise effective use and sustainment.

HUMAN RESOURCES

During 2007-08
• Partnered with divisions in the development and implementation of Performance Management and Development
  Action Plans,

• Provided awareness sessions, workshops and online resources to build understanding and capability in 
 implementing performance conversations,

• Developed the PIRSA Leadership Development Strategy 2008–2010,

• Developed and endorsed an Art of Managing Program for building management capacity, and

• Established an Aboriginal Reconciliation Reference Group on behalf of PIRSA.

TARGETS FOR 2008-2009
• Complete the development and implementation of Performance Management and Development Action Plans with
 divisions,

• Develop targeted capability development sessions for managers,

• Run development opportunities for each phase of the Leadership Development Strategy 2008 – 2010,

• Develop Leadership Development Action Plans with at least three divisions,

Scheme 

FarmBis

Exceptional Circumstances

Loans to Cooperatives

Planning for Recovery

Rural Industry Adjustment & Development 

Community Support Grants

Rural Financial Counselling

Regional Communities Drought

Farm Debt Mediation

DWLBC & ILC schemes
Branched Broomrape

South East Confi ned Aquifer Well Rehabilitation

Indigenous Land Corporation Training Grants

TOTAL

No of applications approved

506

1734

1

796

5

54

1

8

3

359

7

16

3490

Amount approved ($) *

4,063,288

51,520,663

740,000

11,094,000

684,000

201,271

260,000

399,800

2,500

624,545

180,200

64,627

69,834,894
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• Run Art of Managing modules in priority areas, including recruitment and selection, ethics, delegations, and cultural
 awareness, and 

• Develop and launch a communication skills online training module consistent with the whole-of-government 
 Disability Awareness and Discrimination Training Framework. 

INFORMATION MANAGEMENT

During 2007-08
• Completed transition to new whole-of-government information and communication contracts for the transfer of
 CDMA mobile phones to NextG services and electronic messaging services to Telstra,

• Completed investigations and made recommendations to address disaster recovery requirements,

• Installed electronic document and records management software for more than 1000 staff and implemented 
 workfl ow processes to facilitate correspondence in the Offi ce of Minister McEwen,

• Provided spatial and mapping products to support the drought response, the reform of industries in the Riverland, 
 and the Designated Primary Production Areas project,

• Provided spatial and mapping expertise to the equine infl uenza response, including posting several staff to Queensland,

• Completed a project to map and redefi ne the boundaries of all zones defi ned in the Fisheries Management 
 Regulations 2008,

• Made key ICT upgrades including improving data communication bandwidth to regional offi ces, data storage and
 increased server capacity,

• Further developed the Primary Industries Information Management Systems (PIIMS) to provide an improved 
 payment system. Reporting processes were also improved, with increased access to real-time information in the
 fi eld via mobile devices, 

• Completed implementation of processes for the provision of Opal Tenements applications and renewals from the
 Customer Services front counter, and

• Completed a review into the provision of publishing type services in the agency and implemented a devolved
 model of service provision. 

TARGETS FOR 2008-09
• Start a project to make all agency licences and registrations available online by end of 2010, in accordance with the
 State Government’s Ask Just Once strategy,

• Complete the transition of the remaining telecommunication services, including data, fi xed and mobile GSM voice, 
 to new whole-of government contracts, and

• Complete implementation of automated workfl ow processes for ministerial correspondence in the Offi ce of 
 Minister Holloway, as well as other key cross-divisional processes.

RISK MANAGEMENT & AUDIT

During 2007-08
• Implemented the Enterprise Risk Workgroup,

• Coordinated risk workshops using the PIRRISK system to develop risk profi les. PIRSA divisions continue to update
 their risk profi le on a rolling 18-month cycle,

• Coordinated internal audits to ensure that adequate controls were implemented to achieve planned goals within
 acceptable risk tolerances, and

• Assisted PIRSA Corporate Executive to fulfi l its governance responsibilities through the PIRSA Risk and Audit 
 Committee. 

TARGETS FOR 2008-09
• Develop a fraud and corruption training program for internal use, and

• Upgrade PIRRISK to ensure it is compliant with ISO 31000.
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Management of Human Resources
Employee numbers, gender and status

Salary Bracket

$0 - $46,399

$46,400 - $58,999

$59,000 - $75,499

$75,500 - $94,999

$95,000+

TOTAL

Male

139

247

341

224

34

985

Female

202

261

229

65

7

764

Total

341

508

570

289

41

1749

Total Number of Employees

Persons

FTEs

1749

1613.3

PERSONS

Male
Female
TOTAL

Ongoing

587
451
1038

Short-Term 
Contract

69
95
164

Long-Term 
Contract

291
175
466

Other (Casual)

38
43
81

Total

985
764
1749

FTEs

Male
Female
TOTAL

Ongoing

580.5
410.1
990.6

Short-Term 
Contract

63.3
85.1
148.4

Long-Term 
Contract

284.2
156.3
440.5

Other (Casual)

18
15.8
33.8

Total

946.0
667.3
1613.3

Status of employees in current position

Number of employees by salary bracket

Gender

Male

Female

% Persons

56.3

43.7

% FTEs

58.6

41.4

Number of Persons During the 07-08 Financial Year

Separated from the agency

Recruited to the agency

261

379

Number of Persons at 30 June 2007

On Leave without Pay 56
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EXECUTIVES BY GENDER, CLASSIFICATION AND STATUS

Salary Bracket

$0 - $46,399

$46,400 - $58,999

$59,000 - $75,499

$75,500 - $94,999

$95,000+

TOTAL

Aboriginal staff

7

2

1

0

0

10

Total staff

341

508

570

289

41

1749

Percentage of agency

2.1%

0.4%

0.2%

0%

0%

0.6%

Strategic plan benchmark*

2%

2%

2%

2%

2%

2%

* Target to be achieved by 2010 from South Australia’s Strategic Plan

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander employees

Leave Type

Sick Leave

Family Carer’s Leave

Miscellaneous Special Leave

2004-05

4.9

0.5

0.6

2005-06

5.2

0.5

0.6

2006-07

5.7

0.6

0.4

2007-08

6.0

0.8

0.4

LEAVE MANAGEMENT
Average days leave per full-time equivalent employee

Classifi cation

EXEC0A

EXEC0B

EXEC0C

EXEC0F

SAES1

SAES2

Total

Male

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Female

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Male

4

0

0

0

0

0

4

Female

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Male

6

3

4

1

15

6

35

Female

3

0

0

0

2

0

5

Male

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Female

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Male

10

3

4

1

15

6

39

Female

3

0

0

0

2

0

5

Ongoing Contract 
tenured

Contract 
untenured

Other 
(casual)

Total
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Age bracket

15-19

20-24

25-29

30-34

35-39

40-44

45-49

50-54

55-59

60-64

65+

TOTAL

Number of employees by age bracket and gender

Male

5

32

88

99

105

112

137

172

153

64

18

985

Female

5

59

123

129

93

86

92

104

50

14

9

764

Total

10

91

211

228

198

198

229

276

203

78

27

1749

% of total

0.6

5.2

12.1

13.0

11.3

11.3

13.1

15.8

11.6

4.5

1.5

100.0

Workforce benchmark*

6.7

10.5

10.2

9.9

11.2

11.9

12.3

11.3

8.6

5.0

2.4

100.0

* Source:  Australian Bureau of Statistics Australian Demographic Statistics, Labour Force Status (ST LM8) by sex, age, state, marital 
status – employed – total from Feb78 Supertable, South Australia at March 2007

Age bracket

Number of employees born overseas

Number of employees who speak 
language(s) other than English at home

Cultural and linguistic diversity

Male

103

26

Female

89

19

Total

192

45

% Agency

11.0

2.6

% of SA Community*

20.3

15.5

* Benchmarks from ABS Publication Basic Community Profi le (SA) Cat No. 2001.0

Male

Number of employees with disabilities (according to Commonwealth DDA defi nition)

Female Total

77

% of Agency

4.6%

Disability

Physical

Intellectual

Sensory

Psychological/Psychiatric

Other

Total

Types of employee disabilities

Male Female Total*

40

2

33

11

5

77

% of Agency**

2.4%

0.1%

2.0%

0.7%

0.3%

(this column will not sum to 100%)

Comment: Source SMC endorsed survey on 30 April 2008.    *Also represents people with more than one disability.  
**Represents % of employees at time of survey.
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Male

Number of employees with disabilities requiring workplace adaptation

Female Total

68

% of Agency

4.1%

Employees with ...

A review in the past 12 months

A review older than 12 months

No review

% of Total  Workforce

26%

41.6% 

32.4%

PEFORMANCE DEVELOPMENT
Documented review of individual performance management

Training and Development

Total training and development expenditure

Total leadership and management development expenditure

Total Cost

$3,279,909

$1,117,124

LEADERSHIP AND MANAGEMENT DEVELOPMENT
Leadership and management training expenditure 

% of Total Salary Expenditure

2.4%

34%

Classifi cation

ASO1

ASO2

ASO3

ASO4

ASO5

ASO6

ASO7

ASO8

Executive

MAS3

OPS3

PO1

PO2

PO3

PO4

Number of accredited training packages

1

17

18

24

20

23

3

1

3

3

1

4

5

1

3

ACCREDITED TRAINING PACKAGES
Accredited training packages by classifi cation
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EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY PROGRAMS

Youth Training Scheme
PIRSA has continued to support the State Government  Youth Traineeship Scheme.  The calibre of trainees in 2007-08 
was outstanding, which resulted in early placement into ongoing positions for several PIRSA trainees, including a 
promotional placement as Business Support Offi ce for a trainee placed in the Offi ce for the Hon. Jennifer Rankine, MP.

Aboriginal Recruitment and Development Strategy
PIRSA has successfully introduced several strategies, including;

• Forming a Chief Executive Aboriginal Reconciliation Reference Committee to explore ways of achieving effective
 economic development partnerships and provide advice about existing programs, policies and emerging issues that
 affect Aboriginal and Torres Strait lslander (ATSI) people,

• Implementing the inaugural Aboriginal Youth Traineeship program, supported by individual mentoring and case
 management,

• Holding an executive workshop on developing strategies for working with ATSI communities, and

• Reviewing the policy for all vacancies open for six months or longer to be submitted through the Aboriginal 
 Employment Register.

The implementation of these strategies has resulted in an increase in the number of ATSI people employed in PIRSA, 
and has more closely connected PIRSA business with ATSI communities.

Strategy for Employment of People with Disabilities
PIRSA is committed to achieving positive employment outcomes for people with disabilities through the requirements 
of Outcome Six of the SA Government Promoting Independence Strategy – exploring how the rate of employment of 
people with a disability can be increased.

PIRSA conducted an online survey of staff as the fi rst step in developing a plan to double the number of people with a 
disability employed by the agency by 2014 – target 6.22 of SA’s Strategic Plan.

The response refl ected positively on PIRSA‘s disability awareness and understanding, with people feeling more 
comfortable declaring their disability: 93% of respondents with a disability felt supported in the workplace.

PIRSA has reviewed and further developed recruitment strategies for employing people with disabilities. It has also de-
veloped programs to accommodate people with newly acquired disabilities, including through workplace modifi cations, 
working with rehabilitation providers, provision of modifi ed duties, and fl exible work practices. These initiatives were 
recently featured by Disability Works Australia in its Public Sector Employment News.

Cultural
PIRSA ran a series of practical cross cultural awareness training workshops for Corporate Division staff.  This workshop 
will be included in the Art of Managing program in 2008-09.

Staff working with or supporting the ATSI trainees attended an Aboriginal cultural awareness training workshop.

PIRSA has supported, acknowledged and participated in ATSI celebrations, such as National Aboriginal Islander Day 
Observance Committee (NAIDOC) week.
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Gender Reporting
PIRSA supports the development of women by:

• Forming a Women in Executive Sub-Group to assist in achieving SA’s Strategic Plan target 6.23, executive 
 commitment to women’s participation at executive levels. This will build on a commitment by PIRSA Executive
 made in October 1999, to achieve 25% of women at ASO6 level (equivalent) and above by December 2003. 
 The percentage is now 27%,

• Offering development opportunities through PIRSA’s Women in Leadership Program and The Leadership for 
 the Future Program, and

• Allowing access to fl exible working arrangements, including fl exitime, purchased leave, compressed weeks, 
 part-time job share and working from home.
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Other Matters

Account payment performance 
Treasurer’s Instruction 11 (Public Finance and Audit Act 1987) requires all undisputed accounts to be paid within 30 
days of the date of the invoice or claim or the date fi rst received by the agency, unless there is a discount or a written 
agreement between the agency and the creditor. As indicated in the table below, PIRSA paid 91% of all invoices in 2007-
08 on time, compared with 80% in 2006-07. 

Particulars

ACCOUNT PAYMENT PERFORMANCE 2007-08

Paid by the due date

Paid within 30 days or less from the due date

Paid more than 30 days from the due date

No of  Accounts paid Amount paid

55,548

4,011

1,351

%

91

7

2

$’000

348,590

14,873

3,362

%

95

4

1

Contractual  Arrangments 
PIRSA had one contractual arrangement during 2007-08 where the contract that was worth more than $4 million in 
total. The contract was put in place in 2003-04 with The Gribbles Group Ltd for veterinary diagnostic services to the 
livestock industry (including apiary and aquatic industries) and data on the incidence and control of diseases and resi-
dues in livestock or livestock products. The contract with The Gribbles Group Ltd is for fi ve years and has a total value 
of $4.3 million (or $860,000 per annum).  

Fraud
PIRSA Corporate Human Resources has developed an ethics module as part of the Art of Managing program. The 
module, which will commence in September 2008, will focus on employee behaviour, public sector conduct, fraud and 
corruption, and internal grievance processes. The module is underpinned by legislative imperatives, avenues of recourse 
and action, and application of policy and procedures.

Corporate Human Resources had no detected cases of fraud in the 2007-08 fi nancial year.  

Regional Impact Assessment Statements
No Regional Impact Assessment Statements were required in 2007-08.
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Asbestos Management
All PIRSA owned sites with asbestos-containing material have been inspected and a remediation/maintenance program 
developed. The condition of asbestos has been classifi ed based on advice from the Department of Transport, Energy and 
Infrastructure. 

Defi nitions:

Category:  The site performance score, determined by the lowest performance score at each site.

Number of sites in category:  A count of how many sites have the corresponding site performance score, with 
separate counts done at the start and the end of each year.

Category Description: Indicates the recommended action corresponding to the lowest item performance 

Category

1

2

3

4

5

6

Category Description No. of Sites at 
start of year

No. of Sites at 
end of year

Interpretation one or more 
items at these sites

Remove

Remove as soon as practicable

Use care during maintenance

Monitor condition

No asbestos identifi ed/identifi ed 
asbestos has been removed.

Further information required

Should be removed promptly.

Should be scheduled for removal at a 
practicable time.

May need removal during 
maintenance.

Has asbestos present. Inspect 
according to legislation and policy.

All asbestos identifi ed as per 
OHS&W 4.2.10(1) has been 
removed.

These sites not yet categorised.

0

9

8

9

21

1

0

6

12

7

22

0

Score (recorded in the asbestos register by a competent person, as per OHS&W Regulations (SA) 1995, 4.2.10).

Occupational Health and Safety, and Injury Management
PIRSA has demonstrated continuing improvement with signifi cant resources now dedicated to occupational health, 
safety and welfare (OHS&W) and injury management (IM).  

Key highlights and activities for 2007-08 include:

• Recruitment of additional OHS&W practitioners to develop, implement, review and improve systems. 
 PIRSA is working toward integrating OHS&W and IM into all aspects of the organisation, and

• Conducting a survey of our IM system, which showed that the overall level of claimant satisfaction is very high.

A WorkCover evaluation was held in January 2008, and highlighted the need for improvement in several areas, including:

• Internal audit,

• Hazardous substance management,

• Document and records management, and

• Contractor and visitor management.

These issues are already being addressed for example, an internal audit strategy is now being introduced across PIRSA.
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This year’s performance was very good despite a slight rise in total new claims (43 in 2006-07 increased to 46 in 
2007-08, against a SIPS target of 31). The lost-time injury frequency rate increased from 4.63 in 2006-07 to 6.9 in 
2007-08 against a SIPS target of three. Note that the benchmark year (2005-06) on which the SIPS targets are based 
was considered an extraordinarily good year for PIRSA with an extremely low number of claims.

Signifi cant work is occurring to review the OHS&W and IM policies, procedures and strategic plan. The review is 
designed to develop strategies to achieve the targets in the Safety in the Public Sector 2007-2010 Strategy (SIPS) and 
address issues arising from the WorkCover audit.

The PIRSA OHS&W performance score card has been refi ned to include lead and lag indicators, which has improved 
management reporting. 

PIRSA divisions did a lot of work in hazard management as a result of fi ndings in a previous WorkCover gap analysis. 
They are implementing control measures to reduce the risks associated with hazardous substances, plant and 
equipment.

PIRSA’s organisational safety management system (PIRSAFE) has focussed on implementing training programs to target 
major hazards, such as ergonomics awareness, manual handling, heart attack awareness, and training in dealing with 
aggressive behaviours for roadblock inspectors. Ergonomic and manual handling information is also available on the 
intranet.  Hazard training for managers and employees occurs every three years.

The Corporate Health and Wellbeing Committee has worked on several initiatives including Beyond Blue presentations 
to identify and support employees who may be suffering stress or mental illness. Other initiatives include fl u vaccination 
programs, Pilates, and lifestyle and nutritional presentations.

Divisions provide quarterly OHS&W and IM reports to Executive. Additional consultative mechanisms continue to 
work well and the three-tier committee structure is successful in ensuring extensive consultation at all levels. The 
Peak OHS&W Committee meets on a quarterly basis with the responsible offi cer and representatives from each 
Division attending to exchange ideas, report on divisional performance, identify trends, develop strategies, make 
recommendations and progress PIRSA wide issues.

Reporting against the Carers Recognition Act
PIRSA is committed to recognising and supporting the role carers play in society, in particular, to our employees who 
have carer responsibilities, by ensuring that their needs are met, wherever possible, in relation to balancing work and 
their carer responsibilities and promoting participation in our health and wellbeing programs.

The Carers Recognition Act, 2005 (the Act) defi nes a carer as a person who provides ongoing care or assistance to 
someone who has a disability. The disability may relate to a physical, intellectual or mental illness, a chronic disease, a 
terminal condition or may relate to a person who is frail and therefore needs assistance to carry out daily tasks.

PIRSA has developed strategies to ensure that the needs of our carers are recognised and supported, consistent with 
the Carers Recognition Act 2005, the South Australian Carers Policy and the Carers Charter.

PIRSA has held an online training program throughout the agency to raise awareness of people with disabilities and 
carers. Recruitment training programs and fl exible work practices have been amended to recognise and support the 
needs of our carers.
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Section B:  Reporting in relation to Carers who are Employees

Consultations with Carers – on program or policy development; 
on strategic or operational planning

1.  Have you consulted carers who are employees of your agency on workplace policies and 
 practices which affect them?

 Yes  X   No   Plan to

 If yes, provide detail

 Consultation has occurred through HR Managers, HR Practitioners, and informal processes directly with carers on  
 the development of recruitment policies, fl exible work practices and recruitment training.

 If yes, what areas have you identifi ed or undertaken for changes as a result of the consultation with employees?

 Flexible work practices have been strongly promoted throughout the agency for not only carers, but for people   
 with disabilities and balancing family and work commitments.

2.  Has there been allocation of staff and/or resources to undertake these processes?

 Yes    No       Included in mainstream             X

 If yes, please detail

 Integrated in both management and HR practices.

Information is available to specifi c carer groups and for transition points of caring role

6.  Do you have a corporate strategy in place to ensure information and communication is
 provided to carers who are employees which will assist them to make choices in relation to 
 employment arrangements?

 Yes                No              Preparing one       Within other polices  X

 If yes, please provide detail 

 An online Awareness Training module has been conducted throughout the agency which positively promotes the 
 recognition of carers and their needs. Carers are strongly encouraged to consult with their managers in relation to  
 their specifi c circumstances and discuss fl exible work arrangements.

7.  Has your agency consulted carers who are employees on their needs for information and preferred 
 means of distribution?

 Yes               No  X   In process

 If yes, please provide detail
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8.  Do you provide information which is specifi c to carers who are employees of your organisation?

 Yes    No  X  

 If yes, what information is provided, please specify

9.  Do you have information for employees eg young carers, Aboriginal carers, carers of culturally 
 and linguistically diverse backgrounds?

 Yes    No  X    In part 

 If yes, please provide detail

The health and wellbeing of the carer is improved

10.  Do you have strategies for carers who are your employees, which will support them to 
 maintain their health and wellbeing?

 Yes  X   No  

If yes, please provide detail 

All employees are encouraged to participate in the PIRSA’s Health and Wellbeing programs which includes psychological 
wellbeing.



P I R S A  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 0 7 - 0 8 62

DISABILITY ACTION PLANS

PIRSA is committed to supporting the rights of people with disabilities and will promote the recognition and acceptance 
within PIRSA of the principle that people with disabilities have the same fundamental rights as the rest of the commu-
nity.

Signifi cant progress has again been made on achieving the outcomes of PIRSA’s Disability Action Plan 2006-2009, which 
continues the process towards an inclusive and accessible work environment consistent with the whole-of-government 
Promoting Independence Strategy.

Summary of outcomes achieved: 
1. Portfolios and their agencies ensure accessibility to their services to people with disabilities.

 • PIRSA’s second Disability Action Plan 2006-2009 was developed in consultation with PIRSA’s Promoting 
  Independence working party and senior managers,

 • A dedicated exists to coordinate disability matters,

 • All occupied buildings have been reviewed by an accredited access consultant, and works prioritised,

 • Hearing facilities have been installed at two PIRSA reception counters in the CBD,

 • Hearing loops have been installed in key PIRSA meeting rooms,

 • Accessible toilet facilities in the CBD have been upgraded,

 • Workplace modifi cations have been, and will continue to be, made to accommodate employees with 
  disabilities,

 • Human resource policies continue to include disability awareness and promote positive practices, and

 • PIRSA has promoted and educated staff on creating accessible events.

2.  Portfolios and their agencies ensure information about their services and programs is inclusive of people with disabilities.

 • A communication policy that provides access and equity guidelines for printed and electronic communications, 
  has been endorsed,

 • A new content management system (CMS) across most PIRSA websites has ensured that we meet most of
   the W3C Priority One requirements, and

 • Websites running on the new CMS include an accessibility statement, that outlines who to contact for 
  alternate versions of documents, as well as a statement explaining the measures PIRSA is taking towards 
  website accessibility.

3. Portfolios and their agencies deliver advice or services to people with disabilities with awareness and understanding of issues  
 affecting people with disabilities.

 • PIRSA’s successful Disability Awareness Training Program continues, with more than 77% of staff having 
  participated,

 • Continuity is provided through PIRSA’s online induction program, PIRSA Introduction Days and online training
   modules,  

 • HR Practitioners have had further education about the benefi ts of employing people with disabilities, 

 • Accessibility is a major component of the training in the new Content Management System (CMS), and

 • Two e-learning modules are being developed for PIRSA to provide specialised communication and 
  manager/supervisor training consistent with the whole-of-government Promoting Independence Training   
  framework.
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4. Portfolios and their agencies provide opportunities for consultation with people with disabilities in decision-making processes   
 regarding service delivery and in the implementation of complaints and grievance mechanisms.

 • PIRSA’s awareness training program addresses the need for consultation with people with disabilities in 
  relevant decision-making processes,

 • PIRSA has various consultation processes with people with disabilities and organizations, including the 
  Commonwealth Rehabilitation Service, which assists with employment; Disability Works Australia for 
  recruitment; accredited access consultants for refurbishments and access reviews; DeafSA and Royal Society   
  for the Blind, and

 • PIRSA has endorsed a complaints and grievance policy.

5. Each portfolio chief executive will ensure that their portfolio has met the requirements of the Disability Discrimination Act
 1992 and the Equal Opportunity Act 1984.

 • Our Disability Action Plan and Implementation Strategy 2006-2009 was endorsed by Executive in October
  2006 and submitted to the Human Rights and Equal Opportunities Commission,

 • PIRSA’s Chief Executive and Executive Directors are responsible for achieving the key outcomes of the 
  strategy. The requirement to report on the progress of the plan is included in their individual performance
  agreements, and

 • All human resource policies and guidelines are inclusive of people with disabilities.

6. Each portfolio and its agencies will explore how it can meet South Australia’s Strategic Plan Target (T6.22) to double the   
 number of people with disabilities employed in the public sector by 2014.

 • PIRSA promotes and supports Disability Works Australia in recruitment strategies for people with disabilities,

 • PIRSA has continued to provide support for work hardening placements for people with disabilities through
  the Commonwealth Rehabilitation Service and Natalie Bottroff and Associates,

 • Our employment strategy refl ects active consideration of people with disabilities in every recruitment process
  and is considered very successful, with recognition in the Disability Works Australia – Public Sector 
  Employment News – 1st edition 2008. SARDI’S recruitment of people with disabilities featured on pages one
  and two, 

 • PIRSA continues to promote and develop rehabilitation programs to assist employees acquiring a 
  non-compensable disability to return to work, where appropriate, and

 • PIRSA conducted an online survey to establish a baseline for target 6.22 of South Australia’s Strategic Plan. 
  The survey showed that there was a high level of disability awareness and understanding, with people feeling
  more comfortable declaring their disability. In particular, 93% of respondents felt supported in the workplace.
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Financial Overview

The tables below summarise the income statement, balance sheet and statement of cash fl ows of the Department for 
the year ended 30 June 2008. The results are compared with the 2007–08 budget and the results for the previous year. 
The full detailed fi nancial statements and notes to the accounts of the Department are presented in Appendix 8.

Summary Income Statement

Expenses

Income

Net cost of 
providing services

Revenues from SA 
Government

Net result before 
restructure

Net revenue (expense)
from restructure 

Net result after 
restructure

2007–08 
Budget
$000’s 

317,327

161,229

156,098

152,137

(3,961)

-

(3,961)

2007–08 
Actual
$000’s 

301,000

145,859

155,141

152,137

(3,004)

-

(3,004)

2006–07 
Actual
$000’s 

232,716

99,790

132,926

140,930

8,004

285

8,289

The table above shows that during 2007-08, PIRSA’s net result after restructuring was an operating defi cit of 
$3.0 million, a $0.9 million favourable outcome relative to budget.

Total income in 2007–08 increased by $46.1 million from 2006–07 and this was principally due to an increase in grant 
revenue from the Commonwealth for the Exceptional Circumstances (EC) drought relief funding. In addition income 
from fees and charges was higher associated with mining and planning activities.

Total expenses were $68.3 million higher than in 2006–07 primarily as a result of increased grant and subsidy payments 
associated with the state and EC drought relief programs, together with higher employee benefi t costs, mainly from 
enterprise bargaining increases.

In comparison to budget, the 2007–08 total expenses were $16.3 million lower than budgeted and total income was 
$15.4 million lower than expected.

Both income and expenses were below budgeted levels primarily as a result of drought related issues and the timing of 
the anticipated uptake of the EC assistance program.
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Summary Balance Sheet

Current Assets

Non Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities

Non Current 
Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net Assets

2007–08 
Budget
$000’s 

98,665

140,895

239,560

33,786

26,407

60,193

179,367

2007–08 
Actual
$000’s 

108,876

149,832

258,708

37,136

26,775

63,911

194,797

2006–07 
Actual

$000’s (a) 

104,514

139,131

243,645

34,431

25,973

60,404

183,241

a)  The 2006–07 Actuals have been adjusted for comparative purposes.

Current assets were $10.2 million higher than budget primarily as a result of an increase in receivables of $8.0 million 
which includes $5.9 million in Commonwealth revenue receivable for the EC drought relief program, for payments made in 
June 2008. 

Total liabilities were $3.7 million higher than budget largely as a result of increased employee leave entitlements of $2.2 million, 
an increase in unearned revenue of $1.2 million and growth in the provision for Worker’s Compensation $0.4 million. 

Summary Statement of Cash Flows

Cash fl ows from 
operating activities
 Payments
 Receipts
Net cash fl ows from Government
Net cash provided by 
operating activities
Cash fl ows from investing 
and fi nancing activities 
 Payments
 Repayments of borrowings
 Receipts
Net cash used in investing 
and fi nancing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
Cash at 1 July
Cash at 30 June

2007–08 
Budget
$000’s 

(307,036)
161,141
152,137

6,242

(8,419)
(1,000)

1,092
(8,327)

(2,085)
84,982
82,987

2007–08 
Actual
$000’s 

(311,723)
160,964
152,137

1,378

(6,508)
(993)
1,437

(6,064)

(4,686)
84,970
80,284

2006–07 
Actual

$000’s (a) 

(239,082)
113,878
140,930
15,726

(6,625)
(1,747)

2,558
(5,814)

9,912
75,058
84,970

a)  The 2006–07 Actuals have been adjusted for comparative purposes.
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Cash payments from operating activities were $4.7 million over budget predominantly from inclusion in the actuals for 
2007/08 of $24.0 million of GST payments (these are not included in the budget), offset by lower activity levels arising 
from drought related issues and delays in the anticipated demand for the State and Commonwealth funded drought 
response programs. This includes the initial uptake of the Exceptional Circumstances assistance program being much 
lower than originally budgeted. 

Cash receipts from operating activities were $0.2 million under budget. This comprises $21.9 million lower receipts, 
mainly refl ecting signifi cantly lower grant revenue associated with the drought response programs, offset by $21.7 
million of GST revenue (not included in the budget).

Receipts from investing and fi nancing activities were $0.3 million greater than budget primarily as a result of higher 
repayments of loans from the rural sector.

Payments for investing activities were $1.9 million lower than budget largely due to variations in the timing of 
expenditure on major projects including the Photobioreactor and Integrated Marine Observation System under the 
National Collaborative Research Infrastructure Strategy (NCRIS).

Independent Auditor Report
Appendix 8 contains the unqualifi ed independent report of the Auditor-General.

Property, Plant and Equipment Assets
PIRSA owns and manages property, plant and equipment assets valued at $140.1 million, including a number of large 
research centres across the state. PIRSA has an ongoing need to reinvest in building, equipment and information 
technology to produce its agreed service delivery outcomes.

Land and building infrastructure assets represent 79.2% of the agency’s capital investments.

Property, Plant and Equipment as at 30 June 2008

In 2007–08 the total value of property, plant and equipment increased by 9.3% to $140.1 million from $128.2 million in 
2006–07. The increase was largely due to the revaluation of land, buildings and infrastructure assets during the year.
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Major Projects

Biosecurity

The Biosecurity Fund provides fi nancial support in the event of outbreaks of fruit fl y, plague locusts and other biological 
threats, which come within the responsibility of PIRSA.  As a result, PIRSA has a core role in responding to a wide-range 
of incidents resulting from pest and disease incursions, which threaten production systems and market access. The cost 
of implementing biosecurity incident response activities is minimal compared to the potential fi nancial losses that could 
be incurred by the state’s plant and animal industries in the event of unchecked biosecurity outbreaks.

A major issue in 2007-08 was an outbreak of Equine Infl uenza that initially occurred in New South Wales. To prevent 
Equine Infl uenza from entering South Australia, a control centre was established in August 2007 and through move-
ment controls and surveillance South Australia managed to remain free of the disease. The control centre was closed in 
March 2008 and the response deactivated in June 2008. During this time the control centre responded to 4000 hotline 
calls and issued over 2200 permits for horse movements and events. The control centre was manned by up to 40 staff 
at any one time and involved over 70 personnel.

Other biosecurity activities include South Australia’s continuing contribution to ongoing national commitments, 
preventative and response activities for fruit fl y, which needed to be higher in 2007-08 than in prior years, and 
monitoring associated with Caulerpa taxifolia.

The table below shows a comparison in biosecurity expenditures over the last fi ve fi nancial years.

Biosecurity Expenditure

Fruit Fly

Ovine Johnes Disease

Grasshopper/Locust

Caulerpa taxifolia

Citrus Canker

Marine Pest Incursions

Equine Infl uenza

Other

Total

2003–04 
$’000 

1129

657

18

185

0

0

0

509

2498

2004–05 
$’000 

1115

595

24

253

1326

0

0

660

3973

2005–06 
$’000 

1285

555

19

316

1147

326

0

368

4016

2006–07 
$’000 

1006

337

1214

322

195

452

0

476

4002

2007–08 
$’000 

2390

37

41

366

202

530

1290

331

5187
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Appendixes

Appendix 1: PIRSA Ministerial Responsibilities
The principal legislation, for which PIRSA has administrative responsibility through the Minister for Mineral Resources 
Development; Minister for Urban Development and Planning; Minister for the Southern Suburbs; Minister for 
Agriculture, Food and Fisheries; Minister for Forests; and Minister for State/Local Government Relations, is listed below. 
In some instances these  Acts are supported by regulations, notices and indentures or directions.

AGRICULTURE, FOOD AND FISHERIES 
Agricultural and Veterinary Chemicals (South Australia) Act 1994
Agricultural and Veterinary Products (Control of Use) Act 2002
Aquaculture Act 2001
Barley Exporting Act 2007
Biological Control Act 1986
Branding of Pigs Act 1964
Brands Act 1933
Chicken Meat Industry Act 2003
Citrus Industry Act 2005
Fisheries Act 1982
Fisheries (Gulf St Vincent Prawn Fishery Rationalisation) Act 1987
Fisheries Management Act 2007
Fruit and Plant Protection Act 1992
Genetically Modifi ed Crops Management Act 2004
Impounding Act 1920
Livestock Act 1997
Noxious Insects Act 1934
Phylloxera and Grape Industry Act 1995
Primary Industry Funding Schemes Act 1998
Primary Produce (Food Safety Schemes) Act 2004
Primary Producers Emergency Assistance Act 1967
Rural Industry Adjustment and Development Act 1985
South Australian Meat Corporation Act 1936
South Australian Meat Corporation (Sale of Assets) Act 1996
Veterinary Practice Act 2003
Wheat Marketing Act 1989
Wine Grapes Industry Act 1991

MINERAL RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
Broken Hill Proprietary Company’s Indenture Act 1937
Cooper Basin (Ratifi cation) Act 1975
Mines and Works Inspection Act 1920
Mining Act 1971
Offshore Minerals Act 2000
Opal Mining Act 1995
Petroleum Act 2000
Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 1982
Roxby Downs (Indenture Ratifi cation) Act 1982
Stony Point (Liquids Project) Ratifi cation Act 1981
Whyalla Steel Works Act 1958
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URBAN DEVELOPMENT AND PLANNING
Adelaide Cemeteries Authority Act 2001
Architects Act 1939
Development Act 1993
River Torrens Linear Park Act 2006
Swimming Pools (Safety) Act 1972
West Beach Recreation Reserve Act 1987

STATE/LOCAL GOVERNMENT RELATIONS
Adelaide Show Grounds (Regulations and By-Laws) Act 1929
City of Adelaide Act 1998
Local Government Act 1934
Local Government Act 1999
Local Government (Elections) Act 1999
Local Government (City of Enfi eld Loan) Act 1953
Local Government (City of Woodville West Lakes Loan) Act 1970
Local Government (Implementation) Act 1999
Local Government Finance Authority Act 1983
Metropolitan Area (Woodville, Henley and Grange) Drainage Act 1964
Outback Areas Community Development Trust Act 1978
Private Parking Areas Act 1986
South Australian Local Government Grants Commission Act 1992
South West Suburbs Drainage Act 1959

OTHER  ACTS
In addition, PIRSA has limited administrative functions under the following Acts that are committed to other Ministers.

Fisheries Act 1995 (Vic)
Fisheries Management Act 1994 (NSW)
Fisheries Management Act 1991 (Cwlth)
Fish Resources Management Act 1994 (WA)
Harbours and Navigation Act 1993
Historic Shipwrecks Act 1976 (Cwlth)
Historic Shipwrecks Act 1981
National Parks and Wildlife Act 1972
Petroleum Products Regulation Act 1995
Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 1967 (Cwlth)
Occupational Health and Welfare Act 1986
Explosives Act 1936
Environment Protection Act 1936
River Murrray Act 2003
Native Vegetation Act 2003
Development Act 1993
Radiation Protection and Control Act 1982

LEGISLATIVE CHANGES
Legislative changes are summarised below.

ACTS REPEALED
Santos Limited (Regulation of Shareholdings) Act 1989
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ACTS WHOSE REPEAL RECEIVED ASSENT FROM PARLIAMENT 
DURING 2006–07 BUT WERE NOT PROCLAIMED BY 30 JUNE 2007
None.

ACTS PASSED, PROCLAIMED OR AMENDED DURING 2007–08
Private Parking Areas (Penalties) Amendment Bill 2007
Penola Pulp Mill Authorisation Bill 2007
Santos Limited (Deed of Undertaking) Act 2007
Development (Development Plans) Amendment Act 2006
Development (Building Safety) Amendment Act 2006
Development (Assessment Procedures) Amendment Act 2007
West Beach Recreation Reserve (Boating Facilities) Amendment Act 2007

BILLS INTRODUCED INTO PARLIAMENT IN 2007–08 BUT NOT PASSED
Local Government (Superannuation Scheme) Amendment Bill 2008

Administered items
PIRSA administers but does not control the following funds on behalf of the Commonwealth Government; Minister for 
Mineral Resources Development; Minister for Urban Development and Planning; Minister for the Southern Suburbs; 
Minister for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries; Minister for Forests; Minister for State/Local Government Relations. These 
funds are not recorded in the agency’s operating statement or statement of fi nancial position as the agency does not 
have any discretion to deploy the resources for achievement of its own objectives.

Adelaide Hills Wine Industry Fund
Agricultural Research Services
Aquaculture Lease Rehabilitation Fund
Aquaculture Resource Management Fund
Cattle Industry Fund
Citrus Growers Fund
Development Application fees
Egg Industry Deregulation Fund
Extractive Areas Rehabilitation Fund
Fisheries Research & Development Fund
Grains Industry Levy
Gulf St. Vincent Prawn Fishery Levy
Langhorne Creek Wine Industry Fund
Local Government Taxation Equivalent Fund
Marine Scalefi sh Industry Fund
McLaren Vale Wine Industry Fund
Mining Royalties
Minister’s salary and allowances
Outback Areas Community Development Trust
Pig Industry Fund
Riverland Wine Industry Fund
Seed Levies Fund
Apiary Industry Fund
SA Local Government Grants Commission
SA Water Corporation
Samcor Fund 
Sheep Industry Fund
West Beach Trust (trading as Adelaide Shores) – Taxation Equivalent Regime
Rock Lobster Industry Fund
SA Grape Growers Industry Fund
Barossa Wine Industry Fund
Clare Valley Wine Industry Fund
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AUTHORITIES
STATUTORY
Statutory authorities associated with primary industries and resources, and regional development that are within the 
ministers’ areas of responsibility are listed below. PIRSA provides relevant advice and assistance to these. 

AGRICULTURE, FOOD AND FISHERIES
Advisory Board of Agriculture
Aquaculture Advisory Committee
Aquaculture Tenure Allocation Board
Dairy Authority of South Australia
Farmbis State Planning Group
Fisheries Council of South Australia
Flaxley Agricultural Centre Management Advisory Committee
Genetically Modifi ed Crop Advisory Committee
Industry Development Boards – Beef, Dairy, Horticulture, Pork, Sheep
Meat Food Safety Advisory Committee
Phylloxera and Grape Industry Board of SA Selection Committee
Phylloxera and Grape Industry Board of South Australia
Pig and Poultry Production Institute Advisory Board
PIRSA Risk and Audit Committee
Rural Assistance Appeals Committee
Rural Solutions SA
South Australian Alpaca Advisory Group
South Australian Apiary Industry Advisory Group
South Australian Cattle Advisory Group
South Australian Citrus Industry Development Board
South Australian Deer Advisory Group
South Australian Goat Advisory Group
South Australian Horse Industry Advisory Group
South Australian Meat Hygiene Advisory Council
South Australian Pig Industry Advisory Group
South Australian Sheep Advisory Group
South Australian Wine Industry Council
Struan Agricultural Centre Management Advisory Committee
Veterinary Surgeons Board of South Australia

MINERAL RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
None

URBAN DEVELOPMENT AND PLANNING
Adelaide Cemeteries Authority Board
Adelaide Cemeteries Authority Heritage and Monument Committee
Architects Board of South Australia
Building Advisory Committee
Building Rules Assessment Commission
City of Adelaide Development Plan Committee
Development Assessment Commission
Development Policy Advisory Committee
Extractive Industries Committee
Local Heritage Advisory Committee
Public Space Advisory Committee
Port Waterfront Redevelopment Committee
Public Space Advisory Committee
West Beach Trust
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STATE/LOCAL GOVERNMENT RELATIONS
Boundary Adjustment Facilitation Panel
Outback Areas Community Development Trust
South Australian Local Government Grants Commission

OTHER AUTHORITIES
PIRSA is represented on many non-statutory authorities. Signifi cant ones are discussed under ‘Performance review’ 
(e.g. Premier’s Food Council, South Australian Wine Industry Council, Industry Development Boards for Beef, Dairy, 
Horticulture, Pork and Sheep, and the Advisory Board of Agriculture).
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Appendix 2: Occupational Health, Safety and 
Injury Management Statistics

Number of notifi able occurrences pursuant to OHS&W Regulations Division 6.6

Number of notifi able injuries pursuant to OHS&W Regulations Division 6.6

Number of notices served pursuant to OHS&W Act s35, s39 and s40 (default, improvement and 
prohibition notices)

1

5

1

Table 1: OHS Notices and Corrective Action taken 

EXPENDITURE

Income Maintenance

Lump Sum Settlements
Redemptions - Sect.42

Lump Sum Settlements
Permanent Disability – Sect. 43

Medical/Hospital Costs combined

Other

Total Claims Expenditure

Table 2:  Agency gross1 workers compensation expenditure for 2007-08 compared with 2006-072

2007-08 ($m)

0.11

0.07

0.09

0.13

0.06

0.46

2006-07 ($m)

0.0.6

0.05

0.06

0.12

0.04

0.32

Variation ($m)   + (-)

+0.05

+0.02

0.03

+0.01

0.02

+0.13

% Change   + (-)

+84%

+40%

+51%

+12%

+50%

+41%

Comment: The above fi gures exclude Adelaide Cemeteries Authority (ACA) as no comparative data is available due to their new status within 
the PIRSA portfolio commencing April 2007.

1 before ecov
2 Information available from IDEAS RS/SIMS (for detailed advice on data extraction contact PSWD)
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1. Workplace Fatalities

2. New Workplace Injury Claims

3. New Workplace Injury Claims 
Frequency Rate

4. Lost Time Injury Frequency 
Rate ***

5. New Psychological Injury 
Claims

6. Rehabilitation and Return to 
Work:

6a. Early Assessment within 2 days

6b. Early Intervention within 5 
days

6c. Return to work within 5 
business days

7. Claim Determination:

7a. Claims determined in 10 
business days

7b. Claims still to be determined 
after 3 months

8. Income Maintenance Payments 
for Recent Injuries:

2006/07 Injuries (at 24 months 
development)

2007/08 Injuries (at 12 months 
development)

Table 3: Meeting Safety Performance Targets3

Final
Target

Numbers 
or %

0

25

10.7%

3.1%

0

80% or more

80% or more

75% or more

75% or more

3% or less

Below previous
2 years average

Below previous
2 years average

Variation

0

+18

+5.7%

+3.4%

+4

-10.4%

+20%

+3%

+8.3%

+1.8%

- $33,964

$67,095

Notional 
Quarterly 
Target**

0

28

12.0%

3.5%

0

80%

80%

75%

75%

3%

$68,210

$23,387

Actual

0

46

17.7%

6.9%

4

69.5%

100%

78%

83.3%

4.8%

$34,246

$90,482

Base:
2005-06

Numbers 
or %

0

31

13.4%

3.9%

0

89.6%

100%

78%

87.1%

3.2%

-

-

Performance: 12 months to end 
of June 2008*

* Except for Target 8, which is YTD. For Targets 5, 6c, 7a and 7b, performance is measured up to the previous quarter to allow 
reporting lag.
**  Based on cumulative reduction from base at a constant quarterly fi gure. 
*** Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate Injury frequency rate for new lost-time injury/disease for each one million hours worked. This 
frequency rate is calculated for benchmarking and is used by the WorkCover Corporation. 
Lost Time Injury frequency rate (new claims):   Number of new cases of lost-time injury/disease for year x  1 000 000 Number of 
hours worked in the year

3 Information available from IDEAS RS/SIMS (SIPS target report)

Comment: PIRSA continues to perform well in OHS&W and injury management, despite being an agency with high-risk work groups. It is to be 
noted that the benchmark year (2005/06) on which new SIPS target reductions are based was considered an extraordinarily good year for PIRSA 
with an extremely low number of claims. 

The above fi gures exclude Adelaide Cemeteries Authority (ACA) as no comparative data is available due to their 
new status within the PIRSA portfolio commencing April 2007.
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Appendix 3: Consultancies

During 2007–08, 61 consultancies were engaged for a total expenditure of $1,738,955. These are grouped as follows:

Consultancies below $10,000:
Thirty consultancies were engaged for a total expenditure of $104,909.

Consultancies between $10,000 and $50,000:
Twenty-three consultancies were engaged for a total expenditure of $595,765. They were:

Consultant    Summary of services

Colliers International   Review of industrial land values

Deloitte Growth Solutions Pty Ltd  Intellectual property audit

Deliotte     SARDI farm review

Earth Systems    Design, supervision and construction of waste rock piles at Brukunga, 
      allowing drainage to be collected for assessment of water quality

ESRI Australia    Consultancy services for software migration

Essential Economics   Activity centres review technical paper

JAC Comrie Pty Ltd   Roxby Downs Council review

Jensen Planning and Design   Brukunga stakeholder review

Kinesis     Climate change and sustainability technical report

Lisasoft Pty Ltd    SARIG system benchmarking report

McDonnell Warhurst   Creation of new Commercial Investment Division

McPhee Andrewartha   Employee counselling services provided with the intent of addressing
      personal problems that may affect PIRSA employees’ wellbeing and/or
      performance at work.

Metago Environmental Engineers  Review Terramin Angas project and Olympic Dam Tailings Management.

Monica Redden Consultancy  Business plan implementation for minerals regulation and rehabilitation

Morton Phillips    Recruitment services

Parsons Brinckerhoff   Transit corridors technical report

Peter King    Development of framework to estimate the number of jobs and the
      amount of additional employment lands required to accommodate 
      additional population and dwellings in proposed growth areas

RP Nominees t/as Ruan Consulting  Compilation of residential development criteria: Metropolitan Adelaide
      technical report

Rural Directions Pty Ltd   Review of operations, systems and performance of the Turretfi eld 
      Research Facility

SGS Economics and Planning  Greater Adelaide economy and employment technical report

Sinclair Knight Merz Pty Ltd  Brukunga water review

Sinclair Knight Merz Pty Ltd  First phase report for Radium Hill program

Skills DMC    Scoping study for development of Diploma in Geoscience – as a 
      training package qualifi cation
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Consultancies above $50,000:
Eight consultancies were engaged for a total expenditure of $1,038,281. They were:

Consultant    Summary of services

Australian Water Environments  Institutionalising water sensitive urban design in the 
      Greater Adelaide Region

ENSR Australia Pty Ltd   Risk assessment and control scoping services for Port Pirie and 
      Radium Hill remediation

KPMG     Review of the state planning and development system 

Margaret Wagstaff    Independent review of Local Government elections

Mills Wilson    Communications support for planning review implementation

Taylor Burrell Barnett   Engagement of a town planner to develop structure plans for nine 
      townships in the APY Lands and to complete a scoping exercise to 
      establish the planning needs of individual communities

The Nous Group    Organisational review of Planning SA

The Nous Group    Planning SA cultural survey
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Appendix 4: Overseas Travel
Overseas travel by PIRSA employees for the period 1 July 2007 to 30 June 2008 is summarised below. 
In 2007–08, PIRSA employees made 116 overseas visits, which cost a total of $652,867.

To raise the profi le of SA wine regions and wines, and host meetings with 
importers and contacts for fi nished food products. Three wine ‘masterclasses’ 
were held, with the aim to educate the invitees about SA wines and increase 
sales of premium SA wines. Feedback from attendees was very positive, and they 
were keen for more information about Australian wine, and to increase the sales 
of Australian wines in China.

Attended the 9th International Colloquium on Paratuberculosis. This event, 
which is biennial, is the pre-eminent world meeting to discuss Johne’s disease and 
latest research fi ndings. Knowledge from the conference will be used to improve 
the existing disease control programs as well as facilitate SA participation in 
encouraging new areas of R&D (including validation of a pooled faecal PCR test 
in sheep and a pooled faecal yard test for dairy herds, as well as safety testing of 
the new Silirum vaccine for Johne’s disease in cattle).

Olive Industry study tour –  investigated the commercial and technology aspects 
of two of the world’s major olive oil producing countries. Spain is the largest 
global producer and Morocco is a signifi cant and expanding producer. The tour 
included investigation of traditional and high-tech operations and provided a 
useful benchmark that Australian producers must be aware of when competing 
in the global marketplace. Information from the tour will be directly applicable in 
improving production effi ciency in Australia. It will also lead to a better under-
standing of where Australian producers need to position their products..

Visited the Food and Hotel Trade Show to gain market intelligence on interna-
tional food industry trends and to facilitate the development of useful business 
links between international buyers and SA companies.

Staff members evaluated potential opportunities for South Australian agri-busi-
ness and low-cost housing investments in Tanzania. An assessment was made of 
the agronomic and environmental potential of a number of selected sites owned 
by the Prisons Department and National Service in the southern and northern 
highlands of Tanzania. Evaluated the infrastructure facilities for storage, transport, 
handling and processing of grains.  The information was then provided to South 
Australian based potential broadacre investors and other agri-business as part 
of an overall feasibility study on the Tanzanian grains value chains. Meetings with 
the United Arab Emirates on a separate project.  The Abu Dhabi project involved 
establishing a concept farmers association based on similar models to SA Farm-
ers Federation.

For 3-4 years PIRSA has been collaborating with Coffey International, initially 
to undertake a project with the Abu Dhabi Food Control Authority.  This was a 
very ambitious project to establish a through chain food capability including an 
import/quarantine service, food safety service as provided by the Department 
of Health and PIRSA in SA and Australia and the production components of Abu 
Dhabi’s agricultural production. The consultancy requires the details of the farm-
ers association to be developed to the stage that the Abu Dhabi Government 
can award the long term consultancy.

The objectives of the project are to:
 • Reduce adverse environmental impact of agricultural practices,
 • Reduce the cost of agricultural subsidies on Government,
 • Ensure a ”decent” income to farmers and enable them to be 
  competitive in the market, and
 • Focus on products in which the Emirates have a competitive 
  advantage.

$25,432

$10,294

$15,607

$4,802

$22,524

Nil

China

Japan

Morocco; Spain

Singapore

Tanzania; United
Arab Emirates

United Arab 
Emirates

EMPLOYEES    DESTINATION          PURPOSE                                                                                                                 AGENCY COST4

AGRICULTURE, FOOD & WINE

4 PIRSA’s fi nancial support for overseas visits varied from full payment (salary plus on-costs, fares, necessary living expenses, registration fees etc) 
to nil. In the latter instance there are generally two categories. All costs, including salary, are either externally funded or the monies are recouped 
through charging consultancy fees. 

2

2

1

1

2

2
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Attended the Interstate Shellfi sh Sanitation Committee meeting and workshop 
in New Mexico. Group provided documentation to a national working group 
regarding any technical barriers to the export of live shellfi sh to the US.
 Subtotal

$3,240

$81,899

USA

EMPLOYEES    DESTINATION          PURPOSE                                                                                                                 AGENCY COST4

AGRICULTURE, FOOD & WINE

1

AQUACULTURE

Selected by the Fisheries Research and Development Corporation (FRDC) to 
be a bursary recipient, attended the annual European Seafood Exposition (ESE) 
workshop in Europe and  tours in Spain, France and the UK.  The ESE brings 
together seafood buyers and sellers from all over the world.  With over 1600 
exhibiting companies from 87 countries, it offers seafood business professionals 
access to a one-stop resource to reach global retail, food service and wholesale 
companies.

Provided input to a workshop on developing an aquatic biosecurity framework 
for Pacifi c Island nations under the auspices of the Secretariat of the South 
Pacifi c. Participation in the workshop presented the opportunity to build 
understanding of biosecurity strategies used in other jurisdictions, to encourage 
best practice biosecurity in the region, thereby minimising risks to Australian/SA 
aquaculture/fi sheries, establish contacts/networks in the fi eld of aquatic animal 
biosecurity, and maintain PIRSA staff professional credentials.
 Subtotal

$12,277

$1,485

$13,762

Belgium; France; 
Spain; UK

New Caledonia

1

1

CORPORATE
Attended a Regional Computable General Equilibrium (CGE) modelling course 
to learn more about economic impact modelling. As well as being able to 
network with CGE modellers from all over the world, the course provided the 
opportunity to increase understanding of both theoretical and applied CGE 
modelling. The learnings have since been applied in a regional CGE model to 
investigate the economic impacts of a mining expansion in SA, and f productivity 
growth in agricultural industries.
 Subtotal

$15,280

$15,280

Italy1

INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT & MINISTERIAL LIAISON
To promote trade in primary industries products and services and to discuss/ob-
serve development in the wine, aquaculture and forestry industries.
 Subtotal

$21,310

$21,310

South America1

MINERALS AND ENERGY

Minerals

To attract mineral investment and research from Canadian companies and 
institutions to South Australia, and to build collaborative links to enhance the 
potential for mineral discoveries in the state. To provide initial inter-governmen-
tal contacts for exchange of scientifi c information, concepts and data related to 
mineralisation similarities between South Australia and the provinces of 
Saskatchewan and Yukon.

To represent South Australia at the World’s Mines Ministry Forum and the 
Prospectors and Developers Association of Canada. This year over 20,000 
delegates from all over the world were represented. The key purpose was to 
promote mining and exploration in South Australia. The key promotional event 
was the South Australian Dinner. Key elements of the trip were the commitment 
to a Memorandum of Understanding with the Province of Saskatchewan on 
uranium mining and rehabilitation.

$21 301

$37,661

Canada

Canada

2

2
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SA representative on the Australian Governments’ Geoscience delegation pro-
moting exploration investment opportunities in Australia to the global 
minerals sector. Meetings and presentations provided to Japanese resource indus-
try bodies and to major resource companies in Tokyo.  Meetings and discussions 
with senior government representatives of British Columbia and Saskatchewan 
to establish a Memorandum of Understanding of geoscience partnerships. Meet-
ings and promotions of SA’s minerals investment opportunities and the Plan for 
Accelerating Exploration to major North American resource investment groups 
at the world’s largest minerals convention – the Prospectors and Developers 
Association International Convention and Exhibition in Toronto.

Attended the second international Mine Closure conference, a forum where 
professionals, scientists, researchers and consultants can analyse mine closure 
issues in order to fi nd solutions together.

Inspection of BHP Billiton mining operations to explore problems and issues 
associated with large-scale mining projects similar to that proposed for the 
Olympic Dam expansion.

To complete milestone four of a three-year Agreement with the Commonwealth 
(Australia-China Fund) to facilitate collaboration and exchange of information on 
new techniques in mineral exploration, in particular electro-geochemical meth-
ods developed in China, and geochemical and spectral methods from Australia. 
Lectures and workshops were presented at Guilin University. Field work was 
undertaken with Muli Antimony Co Ltd, Yunnan Province, on electro-geochemi-
cal techniques in exploration. Presentations were made on the SA Government’s 
role in promoting and regulating mineral exploration.

Attended the China Mining 2007 conference in Beijing and participated in the 
Australian Seminar hosted by Team Australia.

To promote investment in the mining and mineral exploration sectors of South 
Australia.  As a result of PIRSA and DTED’s involvement in the annual China 
Mining Conference held in Beijing, Invest Australia received investment inquiries 
from a number of Chinese companies. This mission was to follow up on those 
inquiries and to visit two Chinese companies which have existing investments 
in SA. The business delegation consisted of mining and mineral resources 
exploration consulting companies, SA companies that hold exploration permits 
and are interested in Chinese investment and export contracts, and PIRSA 
representatives.

Undertook Australia-China collaborative project and International Geological 
Correlation Programme (IGCP) International Workshop to advance collaborative 
links between Chinese research and commercial parties, particularly in mineral 
exploration. Also promoted the mineral potential of SA to a rapidly emerging 
source of investment in SA exploration and mining projects, and contributed a 
paper ‘Landscape evolution and signifi cance of the Eucla Basin and 
Palaeochannels, southern Australia’. 

$41,515

$10,216

$8,835

$6,767

$9,891

$23,143

$12,697

Canada; Japan

Chile

Chile

China

China

China

China; India

EMPLOYEES    DESTINATION          PURPOSE                                                                                                                 AGENCY COST4

Minerals

2

1

1

1

1

1

1
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Met with representatives from Royal Holloway University, a UK-based petroleum 
software company, then attended the American Association of Petroleum 
Geologists Annual Convention (AAPG) and visited Calgary, Canada.
Competitive work program bidding for parts of the onshore Cooper and Otway 
basins and the offshore Otway Basin will arise in 2008-09 – 2009-10.  This travel 
enabled:
• Strategically focused promotional initiatives to foster positive perceptions
 of SA as a preferred destination for petroleum and geothermal investment,
• Presentation of a poster and paper to promote strategic SA petroleum
 geoscience research results,
• Exchanges of ideas with research peers and exposure to latest theories,
• Marketing of the Australian School of Petroleum (as a research and 
 education centre), and 
• Amplifi cation of SA’s leadership in provided globally competitive, 
 best-practice investment frameworks.

To keep abreast of the latest technologies and to network effectively with the 
international geothermal community, met with Bureau de recherches geologiques 
et minieres (BRGM) in Orleans, France, to learn of latest R&D projects and 
present to the Geothermal Research Group before returning to Paris to attend 
and participate in research workshops, as required under the International 
Energy Agency (IEA) Geothermal Implementing Agreement as Australia’s 
alternative representative. Met with key representatives of the Iceland Energy 
Agency (Orkustofnun), Iceland Geological Survey (ISOR), Reykjavik Power 
(including fi eld visits to power stations and drilling projects) and University of 
the UN to discuss latest technologies and provide an update of the status of the 
geothermal industry and research priorities in Australia.

Marketing geothermal projects to investors addresses a key challenge for 
geothermal development in SA, e.g. equity fi nance.  Outreach in Europe and the 
USA in April 2008: (1) increased awareness among infl uential international 
investors and experts that SA’s geothermal projects have a very prospective 
future; and (2) delivered contact details for 40 relevant European funds managers 
to SA Geothermal Exploration Licence holders. Travel also enabled the 
presentation of Australia’s Annual Geothermal Energy Report to the 
International Energy Agency (IEA), and participation in research workshops, as 
required under the IEA’s Geothermal Implementing Agreement, to which PIRSA’s 
Director – Petroleum & Geothermal is Australia’s representative.

$15,449

$12,794

$18,763

Canada; UK; USA

France; Iceland

France; UK; USA

EMPLOYEES    DESTINATION          PURPOSE                                                                                                                 AGENCY COST4

Petroleum

1

1

1
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Represented SA and Australia in two International Energy Agency (IEA) 
geothermal research cluster meetings under the auspices of the Geothermal 
Implementing Agreement (GIA).  As Australia’s representatives to the Executive 
Committee for the GIA and to foster investment in SA:
• Presented Australia’s 2007 Review Report to the GIA Executive 
 Committee, ascertained the nature of international advances (through
 GIA Executive Meeting discussions and GIA Research Annex meetings) for
 the benefi t of the Australian geothermal sector, under the auspices of the
  Australian Geothermal Energy Group (Kandel, Germany);
• Chaired a technical session focused on geothermal engineering and 
 presented a paper at the 1st European Geothermal Review in Mainz, 
 Germany;
• Visited two leading-edge Enhanced Geothermal System installations (in
 Soultz, France, and Landau, Germany) to gain insights into the regulatory, 
 operational and investment requirements of hot rock power projects;
• To raise awareness and foster positive perceptions in the global investment
 community, made presentations to and discussed prospective investment
 opportunities in the advancement of the Australian geothermal sector (with
 emphasis on SA projects) with fi nanciers in New York.  Follow-up to 
 meetings in the USA were scheduled to be  part of Australia Week in the
 USA in January 2008;
• Had detailed discussions with experts over four days to ascertain lessons
 learnt from enhanced geothermal system trials to date, and to identify ways
 to progress the development of Australian hot rock geothermal energy
  projects. These discussions were undertaken with experts from the USA 
 Department of Energy and its National Labs (Washington DC), and the 
 Lawrence National Labs – Berkeley (California).

The Geological Society of London’s 2007 conference covering Emerging Plays in 
Australasia was a very high quality, topical and timely opportunity to promote 
upstream exploration investment in SA to European investors.
An abstract was submitted for this conference and a paper promoting SA 
upstream petroleum opportunities was presented. Copies of the Petroleum and 
Geothermal in SA DVD were distributed in all delegate satchels.

To market hot rock power projects to investors with the capacity to provide 
equity fi nance is addressing a key impediment to the development of hot rock 
power in SA. In alignment with this strategy the Director, Petroleum & Geother-
mal, as Chair of the AGEG and Australia’s representative to the IEA for geother-
mal, was invited by Citigroup to participate in, speak at its Energy 2020 Confer-
ence: Changing Energy for a Changing Environment.

Attended the Geothermal Resource Council Meeting and associated work-
shops in Reno, Nevada, and delivered a paper on the national and state outlook 
of geothermal exploration and development in Australia. Also participated in a 
meeting of international representatives held by the US Department of Energy to 
gauge interest in an international collaborative forum that would investigate the 
potential for multilateral R&D initiatives to speed commercialisation of Enhanced 
Geothermal Systems.

$41,395

$1,946

$6,540

$10,035

Germany; USA

UK

UK

USA
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Represented SA and Australia in the International Energy Agency (IEA) geother-
mal research cluster (under the auspices of the Geothermal Implementing Agree-
ment) and had stewardship of the Australian Geothermal Energy Group (AGEG). 
As the AGEG’s Chair, and to foster investment in geothermal energy projects in 
South Australia, from 17-31 January 2008:
a. Was a panellist in Australia Week’s Road to Renewable Symposium in Los
 Angeles,
b. Worked closely with the Dept of Trade & Economic Development and the
 Dept of Foreign Affairs & Trade in the planning and running of events to
 market geothermal and other investment opportunities in Australia (and
 SA in particular) during Australia Week in LA and NYC, in support of the
  Treasurer and the Australian Consul Generals in the USA,
c. Built awareness of the prospects for large scale, emissions-free and 
 renewable base load power from hot rock resources in Australia in general
 (and in SA in particular).  This was accomplished by (1) strategic 
 presentations to, and (2) moderated discussions with global leaders in
 energy sector investment in NY, LA and Palo Alto,
d. Met the US Department of Energy (US DoE) Deputy Assistant Secretary
 for Renewable Energy, and Geothermal Program Leader, with the 
 Managing Director of Greenrock to develop plans for a geothermal 
 research alliance between US and Australian experts.  This meeting was
 subsequently followed up with the Australian Federal Government, AGEA, 
 AGEG and the US DoE for Renewable Energy in Sydney in February 2008. 
 A proposal for a US-Australia-Iceland geothermal research alliance is now
 being developed by US DoE, and
e. Presented a paper ‘Hot Rocks in Australia – National Outlook’ and a poster
 at the Stanford University Geothermal Workshop.

Attended the business-focused North American Petroleum Expo (NAPE) in 
Houston. NAPE is one of the most effective events for marketing acreage op-
portunities to diverse international investors, with a focus on US and Canadian 
explorers. The following South Australian acreage releases, products and services 
were promoted at NAPE 2008:
• The next round of Cooper Basin licensing planned for 2009 – focus on
 building awareness and profi le to attract multiple bids for this signifi cant
 acreage release,
• A major consolidated onshore acreage Otway Basin release in 2008-09,
• SA frontier onshore and offshore potential,
• Company farm-in deals,
• SA and Australian petroleum conferences and facilitate training and 
 development opportunities,
• PIRSA data products, and
• The Adelaide-based Australian School of Petroleum as a research and 
 education centre.
 Subtotal

Inspection of BHP Billiton mining operations to explore problems and issues 
associated with large-scale mining projects similar to that proposed for the 
Olympic Dam expansion.

As recipient of Planning SA’s Stuart Hart Award for 2007, the overseas travel was 
to attend two conferences: ESRI’s International GIS Users Conference, San Diego, 
USA, and 32nd International Symposium on Remote Sensing of Environment, 
San Jose, Costa Rica, and also to conduct a study tour of ‘Smart Growth’ urban 
planning concepts and adoption in several District Councils in British Columbia, 
Canada.
 Subtotal

$19,010

$10,481

$308,439

$4,345

$17,419

$21,764

USA

USA

Argentina; Chile

Canada; Costa 
Rica; USA
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Attended the 2008 international conference on Boom-Bust economies hosted 
by the Canadian Rural Revitalisation Foundation. Relates directly to current work 
activities as Executive Manager, Desert Knowledge CRC Rebid Coordination.

Invited as a guest presenter (two papers) on behalf of the organisers (La 
Association ce Manzaneros De Cuauhtemoc AC) of the 13th International Apple 
Symposium held in Cuauhtemoc, Mexico.
Undertake a study tour of orchard production systems used in Chile for apple 
and cherry production and obtain an understanding of the Chilean fruit industry. 
Chile is a major Southern Hemisphere horticultural export competitor for 
Australia.

To develop project workshop arrangements for the introduction of no-till 
farming systems as a model of farmer participatory extension at the College. 
Meetings were conducted with key stakeholders, appropriate methodologies 
developed, fi eld trial sites identifi ed, and training programs for staff and students 
developed and undertaken as part of the visit.  Preliminary arrangements were 
undertaken to develop the project consultancy approach for the review of the 
capacity of the Eritrean fi sheries industry.

The visit to Hamelmalo Agricultural College was undertaken in order to 
deliver Stage II of the Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry (DAFF) 
commissioned project ‘Introduction of no-till farming systems to Eritrea’. Key 
elements of the visit included the adaptation and commissioning of no-till seeding 
equipment (sourced from India), initial pre-trialling of equipment and 
conducting training and education workshops for staff and students at the 
Hamelmalo Agricultural College, and a range of presentations relating to crop 
monitoring systems and Australian agricultural extension approaches.

As part of the project, ‘Enhancing profi tability of wheat-based farming in N-W 
India and the Upper North region of SA by improving grain quality’ (jointly 
undertaken with the University of Adelaide’s School of Agriculture, Food and 
Wine), visited India for the purpose of conducting a stakeholder project planning 
workshop, selection of fi eld trial sites and visits to farmers involved in the 
project, the provision of technical updates on wheat quality parameters, and 
preparation work for the appointment of two Indian-based project offi cers.

Rural Solutions SA (RSSA) has a partnership agreement in place with TQCS 
International Pty Ltd (TQCSI) to provide Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) 
auditing services on TQCSI’s behalf. This has involved travel to the United 
Kingdom (London), Japan (Tokyo and Hokkaido Island) and more recently India 
(Kochie),
Having been subcontracted by TQCSI to undertake the MSC Pre-Assessment 
of one of these fi sheries, and as part of the certifi cation process, a site visit was 
made to provide the client with an outline of their responsibilities in the MSC 
process and undertake 
a pre-assessment of their management system, stock assessment methodologies 
and management practice of the surrounding ecosystem.  

Performed project work as part of an Australian Centre for International 
Agricultural Research (ACIAR)  research project focusing on wheat quality 
improvement in northern India. Field trial sites were inspected, and presentations 
provided at a number of farmer fi eld days relating to wheat quality improvement 
through agronomic management.

Nil

$7,500

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Canada

Chile; Mexico

Eritrea

Eritrea

India

India

India
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Performed project work as part of an Australian ACIAR research project 
focussing on wheat quality improvement in northern India. A farmer workshop 
to Bakers Circle processing facilities was organised and conducted, wheat quality 
farmer and industry survey developed, market-based visits to grain purchasers 
conducted and a range of farmer fi eld days and visits performed.  Additional visits 
to Australian High Commission (Austrade and ACIAR Regional Project 
Managers) undertaken, in addition to industry and agri-business groups in Delhi.

Part of a consultancy organised by ACIAR, this project aimed to support the 
development of the commercial pig industry in NTT by building a market 
oriented supply chain that will have the capability to deliver consistent, quality 
product and build supply chain partnerships to improve effi ciency and raise the 
standard of living of smaller producers.

Delivered the fi rst activity in an ACIAR to improve grower returns through the 
adoption of improved production and post-handling techniques and by increasing 
the understanding of and cooperation among the different segments of the citrus 
supply chain.  

Sept 2007 - Rural Solutions SA’s (RSSA) partnership agreement with TQCS 
International Pty Ltd (TQCSI) includes the contracting of the Kyoto Snow crab 
and fl athead fl ounder fi shery in Japan for full Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) 
certifi cation to the sustainable managed fi sheries standard.  Because of this, the 
fi rst Japanese fi shery to participate in the MSC Certifi cation process, interest 
in MSC has spread throughout Japan and other fi sheries also want to pursue 
certifi cation.
As part of the certifi cation process a site visit is made to provide the client with 
an outline of its responsibilities in the MSC process and undertake a pre-assess-
ment of its management system, stock assessment methodologies and manage-
ment practice of the surrounding ecosystem. This gives the client an indication 
whether the fi shery has the potential to meet all the requirements of a full 
certifi cation to the MSC standard for sustainable fi shing.

Subcontracted by TQCSI to undertake the MSC pre-assessment of one of these 
fi sheries. As part of the certifi cation process  a site visit is made to provide the 
client with an outline of its responsibilities in the MSC process and undertake a 
pre-assessment of its management system, stock assessment methodologies and 
management practice of the surrounding ecosystem.  

Attended the International Agricultural Extension Conference AGREX08, hosted 
by the Universitie Putra, Malaysia, and presented a paper on the development of 
agricultural extension systems in Eritrea, India and Australia.  Also met with 
Malaysian Ministry of Agriculture staff about developing a tailored seed 
certifi cation and management program in conjunction with Rural Solutions SA’s 
Seed Services Australia.

To present at Social Sciences 2007 – 2nd International Conference on 
Interdisciplinary Social Science – on the work Rural Solutions SA has done in the 
fi eld of environmental sociology. Invited by Jaki Bayly, the Head of Innovation and 
Information, Commission for Rural Communities in the UK, to spend three days 
with the Commission.  Presented to the Commission on the natural resource 
management project in which Rural Solutions SA is involved took a workshop  
and met with communities in the UK to discuss capacity building.

Nil

$1,488

$1,381

$61

Nil

$1,669

$9,247
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Indonesia

Indonesia
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Japan
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Attended the US Rural Sociological Society Annual Conference, and presented 
two papers to conference delegates. The fi rst paper related to identifi cation of 
the barriers to the adoption of technology by Australian grain growers. The 
second paper related to the development of dryland farming systems in Eritrea.
 Subtotal

Attended the 8th International Conference and Workshop on Lobster Biology 
and Management held in Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island, Canada.  
Presented a paper ‘Changes in the spatial dynamics of the SA rock lobster fi shery 
under a quota-based system’. The conference was used as an opportunity to 
showcase the high quality research being undertaken on rock lobster by SARDI 
Aquatic Sciences in areas such as resource stock assessment and monitoring.

Participated in a highly specialised symposium, the 7th International Sea Lice 
Conference, which was attended by international experts on these marine 
parasites. These pests infest both aquacultured and wild fi shes; the topic is now 
recognised as directly relevant to SARDI, as ongoing research indicates that sea 
lice affect the production of Southern Bluefi n tuna farmed off Port Lincoln. 
Attendance also provided the opportunity to observe local salmon farms in 
Chile affected by epizootics of sea lice.

Visited China to meet obligations under SARDI- Dalian Fisheries University 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) (teaching seminars and renewal of 
agreement); to fi nalise a consultancy for SARDI Aquaculture SPA to research 
and provide a fl ow-through microalgal bag culture system as exists at SARDI; to 
develop potential new collaborations in aquaculture genetics and biotechnology 
with other Chinese research institutions; and to undertake aquaculture tech-
nology transfer associated with novel species (sea cucumber, sea urchins and 
macroalgae) and systems (polyculture) of interest in SA.

Requested by the University of Iceland to participate as an offi cial reviewer for a 
PhD thesis. The responsibility of the reviewer is to review the thesis, attend the 
thesis defence and to propose questions to the candidate during the defence 
process. The reviewers then assess whether the candidate has successfully 
fulfi lled the requirements for the PhD. The thesis that was reviewed was ‘Stock 
structure, spawning group origin and the contribution of the different spawning 
groups to the mixed stock fi shery of cod (Gadus morhua L.) in Icelandic waters’ 
by Ingibjorg Jonsdottir.

The Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR) has 
asked SARDI to develop a Small Research Activity project to identify problems 
and initiate solutions that will assist Gondol Research Institute for Mariculture 
(GRIM) to achieve consistent spawning from captive yellowfi n tuna (YFT) 
broodstock. This project will provide signifi cant opportunities to conduct 
collaborative research on yellowfi n tuna larval rearing that will be highly 
benefi cial to similar R&D that will be undertaken in SA by SARDI and Clean 
Seas Tuna Ltd on Southern Bluefi n tuna.

Attended the 17th Biennial Conference on the Biology of Marine Mammals, held 
in Cape Town, South Africa. Knowledge gained will result in improvements to the 
management and sustainability of the state’s fi nfi sh aquaculture and commercial 
fi shing industries, and improve conservation and management strategies for some 
of the state’s protected and threatened species, especially the Australian sea lion.

$4,785

$26,131

$9,076

Nil

$2,534

$2,051

$2,216

$6,131
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To attend the annual Ecological Society of America conference, held with the 
Society for Ecological Restoration – International. Presented a paper on seagrass 
restoration, and heard the latest thinking about ecological restoration; visited the 
University of California at Santa Barbara, to meet colleagues and learn about an 
approach they are using to analyse photographs of permanent quadrants of the 
seafl oor, which might be useful for reef health monitoring in Australia; and visited 
the National Oceanographic and Atmospheric Administration Laboratory in San 
Diego to exchange ideas about environmental issues related to tuna farming.

To participate (deliver and listen to papers, contribute to workshops) at 
two international conferences (Californian Cooperative Oceanic Fisheries 
Investigations Conference and Tri-national Sardine Symposium) on topics that 
are closely related to research undertaken at SARDI Aquatic Sciences.
To further develop the working relationships established with several members 
of the acclaimed group of marine scientists that resides in San Diego, and others 
that will visit San Diego (Scripps Institute of Oceanography, South West Fisheries 
Science Centre) during these two conferences (from Mexico, Canada and Peru).
To learn from the acknowledged experts (inventors) about how to optimise the 
use of the Continuous Underway Fish Egg Samples (CUFES) recently purchased 
by SARDI.
To refi ne a joint research proposal to Fisheries Research and Development 
Corporation (FRDC) that involves staff from the Scripps Institute of 
Oceanography. 

The Australian Academy of Science, on behalf of the Dept of Innovation, Industry, 
Science and Research (DIISR), organised an Australia-Brazil workshop on bio-
technology innovations for agriculture and invited a representative from SARDI 
to participate. The workshop, in Brasilia, and involved oral presentations by each 
of the participants and was a unique opportunity for SARDI to develop new 
externally funded collaborative science programs. The aim of the workshop was 
to identify strategic and collaborative opportunities, especially on gene discovery, 
genomic, proteomic and metabolomic analysis, bioinformatics, protein structure/
function and nanobiotechnology. From the Brazilian side, there was great interest 
in the molecular biology of apomixes, bioinformatics, germplasm exchange and 
biotechnologies on forage grasses, trees and animals, among others.

Attended the International Oat Conference, Minnesota, USA, the only one 
dedicated to all aspects of oat genetics, industry development, new products, 
and agronomic research. It brings together experts in all aspects of oat research 
worldwide. As Principal Plant Breeder for SARDI and the National Oat Breeding 
Program, attendance at this conference was essential to maintain a world-class 
oat breeding program relevant to current industry end uses and potential new 
end uses.  

Attended the International Congress of Genetics, which takes place every fi ve 
years. It is seen as the biggest and most infl uential forum in the fi eld of genetics 
worldwide, covering progresses in plant and animal genomics.  Conferences of 
this magnitude effi ciently summarise the latest research fi ndings, often pre-
publication and give an indication where research is heading in the mid-term of 
two to fi ve years. They provide invaluable guidance to our own research. Visited 
research institutes and one company that does research in areas closely overlap-
ping with SARDI’s molecular research foci in plant biotechnological aspects, 
genomics in cereals, and disease resistance in plants.  

$10,466

$5,300

$1,065

$6,900

$3,460
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Attended the progress meeting of the Australian Centre for International 
Agricultural Research/Grains Research and Development Corporation (ACIAR/
GRDC) project on Oilseed Brassica improvement in China, India and Australia. 
Chaired and coordinated discussions on the Agronomic Traits component of this 
project. Delivered a discussion paper on evaluation of Australian, Chinese and 
Indian canola and mustard lines in Australia. To see germplasm developed by the 
project in order to make use of this germplasm in South Australia.

To develop relationships and obtain market intelligence on potential new pulse 
varieties for SA and Australia from traders, marketers and processors at various 
marketplaces in India, United Arab Emirates, Syria and Turkey.
To develop and maintain collaborative linkages with international pulse breeders 
and researchers at the International Centre for Research in the Semi Arid 
Tropics (ICRISAT) and the International Centre for Agriculture Research in the 
Dry Areas (ICARDA), including inspecting and selecting lines from the i
nternational breeding program nurseries with benefi t to SA.
To attend and present research fi ndings at the 5th International Crop Science 
Congress conference in Jeju, Korea.

SARDI was invited to manage and participate in an Australian Centre for 
International Agricultural Research (ACIAR) program in Southeastern Indonesia. 
The program’s priority was to develop market-driven programs to address the 
supply chain constraints in citrus marketing.  Participation by SARDI is 
recognition of our expertise in this area, providing opportunities to form 
collaborations with overseas researchers, and develop mutually benefi cial 
research and development programs.

Requested by the Australian Seafood CRC to attend the Codex Working Group 
on the Code of Hygienic Practice for Vibrio spp. in Seafood to provide technical 
advice to the delegation leader on the potential impacts of this code on 
Australian seafood sectors.

Facilitated an Australian Academy of Technological Sciences and Engineering 
(ATSE) Crawford Fund master class on soil-borne diseases of wheat in Tunisia for 
20 trainees from North Africa and West Asia, along with a University of Sydney 
professor.
Visited a collaborator in Mednes, Morocco who is a wheat breeder and who ran 
trials on a drought-resistance mapping population for a project being led by the 
Molecular Plant Breeding CRC.
  
To contribute and present the research outcomes of the Pulse Germplasm 
Enhancement Research (PGER) at SARDI in the 6th European Conference on 
Grain Legumes combined with the Grain Legume Integrated Program’s (GLIP) 
fi nal dissemination event ‘Integrating legume biology for sustainable agriculture’. 
The European Conference on Grain Legumes is held every four years, and brings 
together experts from a variety of fi elds to promote knowledge and research 
in grain legumes. This conference provided an opportunity to develop research 
linkages with international research groups to share and exchange knowledge, 
experience, technology, and new developments in legume crop improvement.  

Met with Korean vetch breeders, agronomists and Rasina vetch seed importers 
to assess sites/provinces where they will plant Rasina vetch, as well as exchange 
breeding material and knowledge. This visit was to build a potential export 
market for Seedmark and was also part of the contract signed with Seedmark to 
better understand the environment and needs of this export market.

$2,884

$8,436

Nil

$3,393

$6,948

$3,273

Nil
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A proposal submitted by SARDI to deliver a project on improving the shelf life 
and reducing losses in the supply chain for table grapes grown in the Southern 
Central region of Vietnam through new packaging, storage and transportation 
technologies has been shortlisted by AusAID (Aust Govt).  This travel allowed 
the Australian team leader of the shortlisted project to do site visits and prepare 
the full proposal with members of the collaborating Vietnamese institutions 
(Southern Sub-Institute of Agricultural Engineering and Post-Harvest Technology, 
Ninh Thuan province’s Department of Science and Technology).

Met with scientists, senior administrators and directors/managers of Chinese 
Government organizations, including the Ministry of Science and Technology, 
National Natural Science Foundation of China, Shandong Academy of Science, 
Shandong Academy of Agriculture Science and Jin Tao Supply Chain Logistics, 
to further the development of important scientifi c and commercial linkages for 
SARDI. The opportunities evaluated and developed were ones considered to be 
well aligned with the strategic development direction and future focus for SARDI 
in delivering value to SA through innovation and mutually developed technolo-
gies. Linkages with Chinese organisations that are current and proposed partners 
in new R&D programs will be strengthened through this travel. 

Attended the XXI International Grassland Congress and pre-congress tour 
in Hohhot, China, at which a poster paper entitled ‘Tolerance of annual strand 
medic cv. Angel to ALS-inhibiting herbicides’ was presented.

Collected the Qilu Friendship Award from the Shandong Provincial Govern-
ment and presented the acceptance speech on behalf of the 18 award recipients 
from nine different countries. Also held meetings with the Shandong Academy of 
Sciences and the Shandong Academy of Agricultural Sciences to discuss bilateral 
research agreements with SARDI, the current training course for Shandong 
scientists and administrators in Adelaide and details of a future funding 
application to the International Science linkages fund.

Attended the VIII International Rangelands Congress, Hohhot, China, and 
developed opportunities for collaboration and germplasm exchange with the 
Forage Genetic Resource Centre in Hohhot and the Institute of Crop 
Germplasm Resources in Beijing.

To chair the session on Applied Biotechnology; evaluate IBS technological 
development on the subcontinent and commercialisation opportunities 
interacting with collaborators from Italy for the premier’s project; to follow-up 
an Australian-Indian joint project developed under new Horizons initiative; and 
seek additional opportunities for ongoing Vietnam scientifi c collaboration.

Implementation of the collaborative research project titled Development of clam 
culture for improvement and diversifi cation of livelihoods of the poor coastal 
communities in Central Vietnam.
To participate in the mid-term review of a World Bank project, Madhya Pradesh 
water sector restructuring as a Fisheries expert.

To develop research and development proposals for collaboration between 
Integrated Biosystem Science Area (SPA), SARDI and Lecce University, Italy.  
On 11 May 2007 the Premier of SA and the President of Puglia signed a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), which aimed to facilitate trade, 
investment,  collaborative scientifi c research and development, education, 
tourism, and cultural exchanges between SA and Puglia.

$2,275

$7,671

$4,284

$2,500

$4,972
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The smallholder village poultry sector in the South Pacifi c consists of about 
113,000 families each with an average of 10 birds producing both eggs and meat 
for household consumption and sale in local markets.  Improved use of local 
feedstuffs is seen as the best option to improve current low levels of production, 
which are unable to meet the rising demand for eggs and chicken meat. SARDI 
Pig and Poultry Productuion Institute (PPPI) is leading the project, building on 
the experiences of establishing a feed-testing facility for the smallholder broiler 
sector in PNG. Data generated from the PNG facility is being utilised to develop 
appropriate diets for village laying and meat chickens in the Solomon Islands. The 
travel to Honiara, Solomon Islands, was to attend the annual review meeting, 
evaluate local feed resources, assess results of feeding trials and conduct training 
sessions for colleagues in the Solomons on diet formulation, and plan future R&D 
activities in the project.

The Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR) provided 
funds for a project on Using local feeds to reduce the cost of pig and poultry 
production in Tonga. Travel to Tonga was to run a team meeting and set up pig 
and poultry feeding demonstration sites for government offi cials and the local 
industry. This was the fi rst step towards the establishment of a local feed industry 
in Tonga using SARDI’s expertise.

To deliver an invited review paper at the prestigious Paradigms in Pig Science 
conference at the University of Nottingham, UK. This conference offered a 
unique four-yearly opportunity to update on the current state of knowledge 
across all aspects of pig production from technology transfer, genetics, nutrition, 
reproduction and factors affecting meat quality and carcass composition. Of 
particular interest were the following papers: (1) Consequences of selection for 
litter size on piglet development, (2) AI, embryo transfer & biotechnology, (3) 
Neonatal mortality, (4) Reproductive biotechnology, (5) Infl uence of nutritional 
factors on placental growth and piglet survival, (6) Ad libitum feeding of pregnant 
sows, (7) Pig housing and environment.

Attended the Paradigms in Pig Science conference at the University of 
Nottingham, UK as invited speaker. Conference details above.

To attend the 13th Discover Conference on Food Animal Agriculture: Sow
Productive Lifetime meeting at Nashville, Indiana, USA.

Attended the International Embryo Transfer Society (IETS) 2008 Conference 
and pre and post IETS symposia. SARDI is involved in the ongoing research and 
commercialisation of several reproduction technologies, namely 1) the JIVET 
technology, 2) the development of an improved freezing technique for use in 
livestock species, 3) development of sheep and cattle cloning technology, and 4) 
a transgenic program.  SARDI has also been approached by the Royal Society 
for the Blind (RSB) to develop assisted reproductive technologies to benefi t 
guide dog training. The IETS conference provided the best opportunity to discuss 
future research possibilities with peer researchers from other countries.  SARDI 
needs to continually refi ne and progress its commercial technologies to maintain 
a competitive edge in the livestock industries.

Implementation of the collaborative research project titled, Development of clam 
culture for improvement and diversifi cation of livelihoods of the poor coastal 
communities in Central Vietnam.
Invited to develop full proposal titled, Development of polyculture for sustainable 
use of aquatic resources in Tam Giang Lagoon system to improve livelihoods of 
poor communities in Thua Thien-Hue province, Central Vietnam.

Nil

Nil
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Attended and presented research fi ndings ‘Feed associated changes in broiler 
gut microbiota are linked to energy metabolism’ at the Gut Microbiome: 
Functionality, Interaction with the Host and Impact on the environment 
conference held in Clermont-Ferrand, France. Also met with the Director of 
Poultry Research and colleagues from Provimi, Belgium, to discuss research in 
the fi eld of poultry gut health and nutrition. Provimi is an international company 
specialising in animal nutrition and related products.

Attended a grapevine diseases workshop sponsored by the International Finance 
Corporation to assess the prospects of contract opportunities for SARDI to 
develop disease (and pest) management technology for application in vineyards 
of the Yantai district, Shandong Province, China.

Provided expert assessment of cereal cyst nematode (CCN) populations in 
spring wheat areas of western and northern China (Qinghai and Gansu), to 
establish background data for a bid for an Australian Centre for International 
Agricultural Research (ACIAR) funded project.  Provided further training on 
CCN research methodology and mentoring to Crawford Fund trainees.  Visited 
the Shandong Academy of Science to continue to develop collaborative linkages 
with SARDI in root disease testing technologies.

To fulfi l an exchange program between the University of California Riverside 
(UCR) and SARDI’s Water Resources & Irrigated Crops Unit. Worked with the 
Hydrus team. Hydrus is a special suite of vadose zone modelling tools. Advanced 
knowledge of these visualisation tools are critical for the state’s water saving and 
salinity risk mitigation.  Visit also included setting up an experiment at J Lohr 
Vineyards and Winery in Paso Robles. Also worked with Chinese Institute of 
Water Resources, Beijing, on a wastewater reuse project.

Completed a study tour of Europe/UK on site specifi c weed management and 
attended the 2nd Conference on Precision Crop Protection (Bonn, Germany). 
Information gained has been combined with Australian knowledge to identify 
the technologies that are both suited to Australian farming systems and likely to 
be successfully adapted by research in the short to medium term. Delivered a 
paper to the conference ‘A spatial approach to managing soil-borne diseases in 
Australia’.

To display and promote the commercial fan sprayers and spray coverage drift 
and dose evaluation kits developed and commercialised by SARDI in 
partnership with private industry, and to present a scientifi c paper at the Spray 
Application Technology in Fruit Growing International Workshop at Alnarp in 
Sweden. Fact fi nding on European regulations for spray application, sprayer 
testing and spray drift was another purpose.  Equipment and facilities required 
for airfl ow measurement and automated canopy measurement and spraying were 
also evaluated to assist with development of new directions planned by SARDI 
in its spray application technology research and development program. We were 
also seeking business partners from the agricultural chemical industry to assist 
with the development of new technology for pesticide deposition analysis based 
on the SARDI fl uorescent pigment and a new miniature hand-held fl uorescence 
spectrophotometer for in-fi eld analysis.

Nil

$5,736

Nil

Nil

$10,433

$9,855

Belgium; France

China

China

China; USA

Denmark; France; 
Germany; UK

Denmark; Italy; 
Spain; Sweden
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1

2

1

1

1

1
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To meet the research exchange requirements of the collaborative Australian-
ICARDA (International Centre for Agricultural Research in Dry Areas) project, 
Plant Health Management for Faba Bean, Chickpea and Lentils, managed at 
ICARDA. The objectives of the project were to: screen diverse pulse germplasm 
to identify new sources of resistance to a range of diseases; characterise the 
variability of major pathogens of the pulse crops; expose Australian pulse 
breeding lines to exotic pathogen strains; investigate emerging pathogens, assess 
their potential importance and study their epidemiology; and develop integrated 
disease management packages and promote their use with farmers.

Visited key research facilities and researchers in the USA and Europe, to obtain 
the latest information on the diagnosis and control of black dot and other potato 
diseases.  This created and strengthened working relationships with overseas 
researchers and enabled easy and rapid exchange of information. Discussions 
concentrated on current molecular techniques to detect and quantify black dot 
in soil and on seed potatoes. Additional information was sought on the various 
control strategies recommended by these researchers to determine whether any 
can be adapted to Australian conditions.

The Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO) is 
revising the Yield Response to Water, Paper n.33. This paper is a milestone in the 
FAO literature and is used worldwide, including in irrigation areas of Australia. 
A member of the Expert Consultation Panel on Water Productivity with FAO 
since December 2005 and leading author of the chapter on irrigation of grapes, 
the purpose of this workshop was to update the FAO-33 model for irrigation of 
perennial crops.

Meet with the project team on Bridging the Gap Between Seasonal Climate 
Forecasts and Decision Makers in Agriculture, speak to local farmers about their 
knowledge and understanding of seasonal climate forecasts, visit corn and rice 
farms, discuss the Philippine and Australian case studies and further develop work 
plans.

Inspection, maintenance and repair of water monitoring sites and monitoring 
equipment at Laguna de Bay, Philippines, as part of the Australian Centre for 
International Agricultural Research (ACIAR) project Minimising Agricultural 
Pollution to Enhance Water Quality in Laguna de Bay (Philippines) and Mt Lofty 
Ranges (Australia). These sites were initiated during the last visit in January 2007. 
They have been maintained by Philippine collaborators from the University of 
Philippines Los Banos and Laguna Lake Development Authority, but required 
some resetting, relocation and development of fl ow rating curves for streams.  
Assistance was given to Philippine collaborators with collation and analysis of 
water fl ow and concentration data as well as management of datalogging and 
water sampling equipment.

Presented the plenary conference, ‘Phenotypic Plasticities of Yield, Phenology and 
Seed Traits’ at the 17th International Sunfl ower Conference in Cordoba, Spain.  
Established links with the Institute of Sustainable Agriculture of the Spanish 
National Research Council, where new methods for carbon and water budgets 
of perennial crops (olive, peach) are being developed.  Worked on collaborative 
projects at the University of Lleida (Nitrogen Use Effi ciency of Wheat in 
Mediterranean Environments) and participated in the evaluation of postdoctoral 
projects at the Ministry of Education and Science (Madrid).

$4,648

Nil

$2,100

$1,950

$1,128

Nil

Egypt; Syria

Holland; 
Switzerland; UK; 
USA

Italy

Philippines

Philippines

Spain

EMPLOYEES    DESTINATION          PURPOSE                                                                                                                 AGENCY COST4
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Egypt; Syria

1

1

2

1

1
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To assist in the running of a master class on soil-borne diseases of cereals 
organised by the Australian Academy of Technological Sciences and Engineering 
(ATSE) Crawford Fund and the International Centre for Research on Maize and 
Wheat (CIMMYT). The master class involved two weeks of lectures, discus-
sion groups, practicals and tutorials for up to 20 participants from developing 
countries in North Africa and West Asia. Provided training on nematode diseases 
with input from CIMMYT. SARDI and the University of Sydney provided training 
on the fungal diseases.

To develop research linkages and collaborative projects between the processing 
potato R&D program (of which SARDI is a part) and selected research groups in 
the UK. The British Potato Council (BPC) wants to develop R&D collaborations 
with international research institutions. The Processing Potato Industry Advisory 
Committee (PPIAC) directed the R&D providers in Australia to explore oppor-
tunities with the Scottish Crop Research Institute, Central Science Laboratory 
and Cambridge University Farms. A short list of potential collaborative projects 
has been developed, which will be prioritised by PPIAC and BPC.

Conducted research training in the laboratory of Prof  Wayne Wilcox at Cornell 
University in Geneva, New York, USA, as part of the Cooperative Research 
Centre for National Plant Biosecurity (CRCNPB). The main objective was to 
develop a diagnostic capability for black rot disease of grapevine and build 
expertise on the pathogen to conduct further research as part of a national 
biosecurity project.  Visited University of California Davis to meet Prof Doug 
Gubler and his team in the Dept of Plant Pathology, to get an update on the 
latest trunk disease research being conducted there.  Prof Gubler collaborates 
with PIRSA scientists on trunk disease research.

At the recommendation of the Australian Onion Industry, visited US experts 
on onion thrips research in three states and the US expert on Iris yellow sport 
virus (vectored by onion thrips) research as part of Horticulture Australia Ltd 
onion thrips project. Visited Californian Department of Food and Agriculture 
and USDA-APHIS offi cials to observe and discuss the US lightbrown apple moth 
(Australian pest that has recently been discovered in San Francisco) incursion 
response, containment and eradication program.

Awarded a Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry training 
scholarship to travel to the USA for the purpose of obtaining training in 
diagnosing citrus burrowing nematode. This nematode, found only in Florida, is a 
threat to citrus production in Australia, and can cause yield losses of up to 80%. 
It is listed by Plant Health Australia and in the National Citrus Biosecurity Plan as 
an emergency plant pest. Local knowledge on its morphology, symptoms, effects 
on tree health, and life cycle are lacking, and constitute a barrier to early detec-
tion should a pest incursion occur in Australia.

Invited as keynote speaker at the annual Winegrape Unifi ed Symposium to speak 
on issues facing the Australian winegrape industry in relation to drought and 
strategies the Californian winegrape industry may need to consider if irrigation 
water is limited. Spent time with the viticulture research group at E&J Gallo 
(the world’s largest winery operation). As a result, Gallo will sponsor one of its 
technical staff to undertake a PhD at the Waite Campus and work in the Wine 
Innovation Cluster (WIC).  
 Subtotal

 TOTAL

Nil

$2,000

$3,142

$4,415

$2,777

$2,310

$164,282

$652,867

Tunisia

UK

USA

USA

USA

USA
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1

1

1
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Appendix 5: Freedom of Information

The following information is published pursuant to section 9 of the Freedom of Information Act 1991 (“the Act”).
 
Freedom of information
The Act extends as far as possible the rights of the public to access documents held by the State Government, and to 
ensure that records held by government concerning the personal affairs of members of the public are not incomplete, 
incorrect, out of date or misleading.

The Act encourages disclosure of information to the public, subject to restrictions are necessary to protect legitimate 
agency, public and private interests.

PIRSA’s structure and functions
The divisions of PIRSA and their functions are:

• Agriculture, Food and Wine – Development and implementation of policies, legislation, regulatory frameworks  
 and programs to promote an optimal business, natural and social environment for the growth of primary 
 industries. Responsible for implementing the South Australian Food Centre to achieve the objectives of the State   
 Food Plan through Market Development, Capability Development and Regional Networks, Sector Development,   
 Innovation and Communications Hub, and Premier’s Food Council Secretariat.

• Aquaculture – Ensuring the sustainable development of the State’s aquaculture industries, with a statutory and 
 regulatory responsibility for the management of aquaculture. These responsibilities are met through the granting
 and renewal of licenses and leases under the Aquaculture Act 2001. 

• Commercial Investment - Primary case-management role for creating, leading and facilitating major investment 
 opportunities which result in signifi cant commercial outcomes for primary industries and resources consistent
 with SA’s Strategic Plan objectives.

• Corporate – Provision of a corporate support service to all PIRSA Divisions. 

• Fisheries –  The management and administration of the living marine and freshwater resources of South Australia, 
 as required under the Fisheries Act 1982. This includes the development and implementation of management plans
 for commercial, recreational and charter fi shing; development of government policy for sustainable resource access
 and allocation; and the administration of licensing and compliance services. 

• PIRSA Forestry - To increase the forest resource through research and development and by providing advice   
 and services to the private forestry sector. This involves the areas of industrial, investment and farm forestry.

• Minerals and Energy Resources – Management of the state’s mineral, petroleum, gas and geothermal 
 resources by regulating operations; implementing signifi cant exploration initiatives; providing comprehensive, high-  
 quality geoscientifi c data and advice; developing sustainable practices for exploration and mining; facilitating projects
 through approval processes; developing an effective and effi cient policy and legislative framework; and collecting
 royalties and fees.

• Offi ce for State/Local Government Relations (incorporating the Offi ce of the Southern Suburbs) -  
 Maintenance and development of the Local Government system and State/Local Government relations.  To 
 support the Government’s policy commitments to improve economic development, social and environmental   
 outcomes for the communities identifi ed as being of high need in the Southern Suburbs.

• Planning SA – Guiding and administering the South Australian Planning and Development system. As the State
 Government’s principal adviser on land-use planning, building, urban design and development of strategies and 
 policies, its main objective is to provide direction, advice, assistance and information on a range of development 
 proposals, opportunities and issues. 

• Rural Solutions SA – Provide a key service delivery role, integrating economic, environmental and social 
 dimensions into an integrated, ecologically sustainable development-based service package. A diverse range of 
 services is provided to government agencies; natural resources management bodies, agricultural industry 
 development organizations; food, wine, forestry and resources companies; regional bodies; primary producers; 
 and community groups. 
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• South Australian Research and Development Institute (SARDI) – South Australia’s principal research and 
 development organisation in the primary industries and environmental related biosciences, working in 
 collaboration with state, national and international collaborators and investors. 

Ways in which the functions of the agency affect the public
PIRSA has a key role in promoting sustainable development with particular emphasis on exports for the key industry 
sectors of minerals, food, wine, fi sheries, aquaculture, fi bre, livestock and grain. It contributes to the sustainable 
planning and development of our natural resources along their value chains. PIRSA focuses on reducing barriers to 
industry investment and exports, facilitating the application of new technologies, services, products and knowledge 
through its strong partnerships with industry sectors and regional communities. Consequently the agency has a major 
indirect effect on the public by creating jobs, wealth and prosperity through advice, encouragement and support of 
community development and of various primary industries and resources. 

Arrangements that enable the public to participate in the formulation of the agency’s policies
PIRSA has a diverse range of industry boards and committees that have external participation.

PIRSA’s policy documents
Policy documents are broadly grouped into fi ve areas:

• Data and information,
• Financial management,
• Governance,
• Human resource management, and
• Procurement and asset management.

Additional documents held by PIRSA 

• Correspondence, memoranda, minutes, etc; regarding all aspects of the agency’s operations,
• Procedures and guidelines prescribing the way various activities are to be performed,
• Personnel fi les,
• Accounting and fi nancial records relating to administration,
• Contracts, and
• Records relating to development applications, environmental impact statements, plan amendment reports.

Documents that are available for purchase from the agency
The following documents can be bought by contacting PIRSA Customer Services, Level 7, 101 Grenfell Street, Adelaide: 

• Publications,
• Scientifi c papers,
• Technical reports,
• Conference and seminar proceedings,
• Books and theses,
• Extension and technical publications,
• Popular articles, and
• Research reports.
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Documents that are available from the agency free of charge
PIRSA has a wide range of free publications available at Customer Services. They include:

• Brochures,
• Pamphlets,
• Posters,
• Information packs,
• Policy documents,
• Administrative instructions, and
• Internet: -
 • Downloadable education resources,
 • Community group presentations,
 • Media releases, and
 • Prime Time, PIRSA’s quarterly newsletter.

Accessing documents
As a general rule, your nearest PIRSA offi ce (as listed in the Adelaide and various country White Pages) can assist with 
applying for documents.

Making a freedom of information application
Application forms to request information under the Freedom of Information Act, or to request amendment of personal 
records, can be obtained by contacting the Freedom of Information Coordinator at the address listed below or by 
downloading an application form from the State Records website: http://www.archives.sa.gov.au/foi/forms.html 

An application lodged under the Act costs $26.75, payable to the agency, and additional processing charges may also be 
incurred. In certain cases, fees and charges may be reduced.

An application for amendment of personal records is free of charge.

Point of contact
All freedom of information enquiries and requests should be addressed to:

Freedom of Information Co-ordinator
Primary Industries and Resources SA
GPO Box 1671
ADELAIDE  SA  5001
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Appendix 6: Statement of  Aboriginal Reconciliation

PIRSA contributed to and participated in the Partnerships for Reconciliation State Forum in  Adelaide in November 
2007 to mark the 40th anniversary of the 1967 Referendum. This forum was preceded by a series of regional 
round-tables held across the state to engage Aboriginal communities, public sector employees, local councils and 
non-Aboriginal community representatives in discussing and advancing Reconciliation. The Eyre Region meeting was 
sponsored by the Chief Executive of PIRSA.

In addition to the outcomes of an Executive workshop on Reconciliation the forum has informed the development 
of PIRSA’s Reconciliation Action Plan, which will be open to Aboriginal community representatives and other relevant 
stakeholders for consultation in 2008.

The following information outlines PIRSA’s achievements against targets of South Australia’s Strategic Plan.

Objective 1: Growing Prosperity
The Planning SA division of PIRSA is managing the preparation of structure plans for the Anangu Pitjantjatjara 
Yankunytjatjara (APY) Lands which will provide a framework to assist Aboriginal communities with land use planning.

Plans for Pipalyatjara, Watarru, Amata, Pukatja, Nyapari, Kanpi, Mimili, Indulkana and Yunyarinyi have been signed by the 
respective communities and APY Executive.  Plans are proposed to be updated every three to fi ve years.

Structure plans for two more APY communities are proposed for 2008-09 while strategic plans have started with the 
ALY communities at Gerard and Raukkan.

PIRSA’s Minerals and Energy Resources division is involved in the negotiation and facilitation of Native Title land access 
through Indigenous Land Use Agreements (ILUAs) for minerals and petroleum exploration and production.

Negotiations for conjunctive ILUAs for the Cooper Basin started in 2006–07. The fi rst agreement was fi nalised in 
February 2007 with the Yandruwandha Yawarrawarrka claimant group. It is hoped to have the remaining Cooper Basin 
agreements in place before the next major bidding round for petroleum exploration licenses in the basin in 2008–09.

Negotiations are progressing for more conjunctive land access agreements for petroleum exploration and development 
on APY Lands.

The Minerals and Energy Resources Divisionhas continued its programs of community engagement, mineral education, 
geoscience investigation and facilitation of mineral exploration in the APY Lands. 

It has also undertaken petroleum exploration in the Maralinga Tjarutja Lands. Based on an exisiting land access 
agreement and subsequent Statement of Environmental Objectives for seismic exploration program, the Maralinga 
Tjarutja community was contracted to perform line preparation and rehabilitation. Maralinga Tjarutja people were also 
employed in heritage clearance work and had other indirect involvement in the seismic activity.

Objective 6:  Expanding Opportunity 
PIRSA has recruited six Aboriginal Trainees in three divisions, as part of its Aboriginal Employment Strategy 2007-08

The Trainee program was designed specifi cally with a Registered Training Provider to enable assessment through 
on-the-job training and completed work books.  PIRSA’s Recruitment and Selection Policy has been modifi ed to require 
that all vacancies greater than six months be referred to the Aboriginal Employment Program for fi lling before an open 
call is allowed. This has already resulted in the employment of three more Aboriginal people.

An Aboriginal coordinator has been employed to mentor the trainees and assist with strategies to employ more 
Aboriginal people in mainstream positions.

PIRSA Executive Directors all attended an Aboriginal Cultural Awareness day at Camp Coorong. In addition to raising 
awareness, the opportunity was taken to refi ne PIRSA’s Reconciliation Statement and Action Plan 2007-2010

The Aboriginal Cultural Awareness program is being rolled out to all staff.
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Appendix 7: Contacts

Primary Industries and Resources South Australia  
Level 17, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell St, Adelaide
GPO Box 1671, Adelaide SA 5001
Receptions:  phone (08) 8226 0900 L14, 25 Grenfell St, Adelaide
   phone (08) 8463 3000 L17, 101 Grenfell St, Adelaide
   fax (08) 8226 0027
 Website:  http://www.pir.sa.gov.au

PIRSA has about 50 offi ces across regional South Australia and the Adelaide metropolitan area. Contact details are on 
PIRSA’s website and in telephone directories.  At June 2008:

ENQUIRY

Minister for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries
Minister for Forests

Minister for Mineral Resources Development
Minister for Urban Development and Planning

Minister for the Southern Suburbs

Minister for State/Local Government Relations

Chief Executive

Corporate

Agriculture, Food and Wine

Aquaculture

Commercial Investment

Fisheries

Minerals and Energy Resources

Offi ce of State/Local Government Relations

Planning SA

PIRSA Forestry

Rural Solutions SA

South Australian Research and 
Development Institute (SARDI)

Offi ce for the Southern Suburbs

CONTACT

Rory McEwen MP

Paul Holloway MLC

John Hill MP

Jennifer Rankine MP

Geoff Knight
Chief Executive

Steve Archer
Executive Director

Don Plowman
Executive Director

Ian Nightingale
Executive Director

Roger Hartley
Executive Director

Will Zacharin
Executive Director

Paul Heithersay
Executive Director

John Hanlon
Executive Director

John Hanlon
A/Executive Director

Stuart West
Executive Director

Locky McLaren
Executive Director

Pauline Mooney
A/Executive Director

Penny Crocker
Director

PHONE, FAX AND LOCATIONS

Phone (08) 8226 0322  fax (08) 8226 0316
Level 17, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell St,  Adelaide

Phone (08) 8303 2500  fax (08) 8303 2597
Level 9, Terrace Towers, 178 North Tce,  Adelaide

Phone (08) 8463 6270  fax (08) 8463 6277
L9, City Centre Building, 11 Hindmarsh Square,  Adelaide

Phone (08) 8463 6611  fax (08) 8463 6642
Level 4, ING Centre, 45 Pirie St,  Adelaide

Phone (08) 8226 0162  fax (08) 8226 0320
Level 17, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell St,  Adelaide

Phone (08) 8226 0466  fax (08) 8226 0221
Level 17, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell St,  Adelaide

Phone (08) 8226 0204  fax (08) 8463 3363
Level 9, 101 Grenfell St,  Adelaide

Phone (08) 8226 0261  fax (08) 8226 0060
Level 14, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell St,  Adelaide

Phone (08) 8226 0025  fax (08) 8226 0316
Level 16, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell St,  Adelaide

Phone (08) 8226 2318  fax (08) 8226 0434
Level 14, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell St,  Adelaide

Phone (08) 8463 4153  fax (08) 8463 4155
Level 7, 101 Grenfell St,  Adelaide

Phone (08) 8204 8709  fax (08) 8204 8734
Level 7, Roma Mitchell House, 136 North Tce,  Adelaide

Phone (08) 8303 0774  fax (08) 8303 0991
Level 6, Roma Mitchell House, 136 North Tce,  Adelaide

Phone (08) 8735 1220  fax (08) 8124 4578
Jubilee Highway, Mount Gambier 5290

Phone (08) 8226 0285  fax (08) 8463 3336
Level 8, 101 Grenfell St,  Adelaide

Phone (08) 8303 9398  fax (08) 8303 9403
Plant Research Centre, Gate 2B, Hartley Grove, Urrbrae

Phone (08) 8204 8700  fax (08) 8204 8734
Suite 1, Ground Fl, Noarlunga House, Noarlunga Centre
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Appendix 8: Financial Statements

Primary Industries and Resources South Australia  






























































































































